Lake Washington Base Synthesis of Salmon Research and Monitoring

Investigations Conducted in the Western Lake Washington Basin



Seattle So Public Utilities

US Army Corps of Engineers Seattle Division

Acknowledgements

Contributors

The following persons contributed to the production of this report:

Mike Cooksey Paul DeVries Charles J. Ebel Frederick A. Goetz Julie Hall Peter N. Johnson Michele Koehler Lynne Melder Jim Muck Eva Weaver

Funding

Sources of Lake Washington General Investigation study funding and personnel:

- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Seattle District
- Seattle Public Utilities
- King Conservation District
- King County/Metro
- National Marine Fisheries Service
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife

Participants

The following persons and organizations participated substantively in the research projects that contributed to this report:

- <u>U.S. Army Corps of Engineers</u>: Linda Smith, Chuck Ebel, Fred Goetz, Lynne Melder, Rebecca Jahns, Marian Valentine, Amy Reese, Jeff Dillon, David VanRijn, Bill Nagy, Larry Lawrence, Jim Sadler, John Post, Bill Livermore, and most of the other Hiram M. Chittenden Locks staff
- <u>Seattle Public Utilities</u>: Melinda Jones, Jean White, Keith Kurko, Julie Hall, Gail Arnold, Bruce Bachen, Alan Chinn, Rand Little
- <u>U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service</u>: Roger Tabor, Mark Celedonia, Howard Gearns, Charles McCoy, Sergio Camacho, and other USFWS staff
- King County: Doug Houck, Hans Berge, Francis Sweeney, Gary Yoshida,
- <u>Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife</u>: Dave Seiler (retired), Lindsey Fleischer, Chris Waldbillig, Mark Carr, Mike Mizell, Hwa Kim, Clayton Kinsel, Pete Topping, Kelly Kiyohara, Issaquah Creek Hatchery Staff
- <u>National Marine Fisheries Service</u>: Steve Achord, Kurt Fresh, Thomas Sibley, Steve Smith, John Williams
- <u>Muckleshoot Indian Tribe</u>: Holly Coccoli, Eric Warner, Brian Footen
- <u>University of Washington</u>: Dave Beauchamp, Si Simenstad, Jason Toft, Mark Tetrick, Bill Couch
- <u>R2 Resource Consultants</u>: Paul DeVries, Karee Oliver, Adam Weybright, Noble Hendrix
- <u>Mevatec/BAE Systems</u>: Peter Johnson, Kyle Bouchard, Adrienne Fox, Linda O'Leary, Patricia Pearson, Michael Hanks, Jennie Husby, Mark Vanderven, Gina White
- Parametrix: Bob Pfeifer, Pete Lawson, Bill LaVoie
- Waterways Experiment Station: Gene Ploskey, John Nestler
- Pacific Northwest National Laboratory: Kenneth Ham
- Biomark: Dean Park, Scott McCutcheon, Brett Turley, Anthony Carson
- Precision Acoustic Systems: Ian Wirtz

Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	
1. INTRODUCTION	11
1.1 Organization of this Report	11
 1.2 Purpose of Lake Washington General Investigation Study 1.2.1 General Investigations with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 1.2.2 Status of the LWGI 	11 12 12
2. LAKE WASHINGTON WATERSHED AND FOCUS AREA	15
2.1 General Watershed Description	15
2.2 Historical Context	17
2.3 Lake Washington Modifications	18
2.4 The Ship Canal and Lake Union Modifications	19
 2.5 The Locks and Vicinity 2.5.1 Physical Features of the Locks 2.5.2 Passage Routes 2.5.3 Water Management 2.5.4 Water Quality Conditions around the Locks 2.5.5 Adaptive Management at the Locks 2.6 Lake Washington Basin Salmon 2.6.1 Stocks 2.6.2 Life-History Characteristics 	20 22 28 30 31 33 34 34 35
3. SUMMARY OF RESEARCH FINDINGS	37
 3.1 Juveniles 3.1.1 Lake Washington Residency 3.1.2 Lake Washington Outmigration 3.1.3 Ship Canal and Lake Union Outmigration 3.1.4 Passage at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks (Locks) 3.1.5 Estuarine Transition in Salmon and Shilshole Bays 3.1.6 Puget Sound Residency 3.2 Adults 3.2.1 Puget Sound Residency 3.2.2 Estuarine Transition 3.2.3 Passage at the Locks 3.2.4 Ship Canal and Lake Union Migration 	37 37 44 45 54 67 70 70 70 71 71 85

3.2.5	Lake Washington	90
4. SA	LMON USE OF THE LAKE WASHINGTON WATERSHED	93
4.1 C	onceptual Models for Lake Washington Salmon	93
4.1.1	Chinook Salmon	93
4.1.2	Coho Salmon	96
4.1.3	Sockeye Salmon	100
4.1.4	Steelhead/Rainbow Trout	102
4.2 C	limate Change: Adapting Conceptual Models	104
4.2.1	Climate Change and Salmon in the Lake Washington Basin	104
4.2.2	Juvenile Salmon and Regional Climate Change	109
4.2.3	Adult Salmon and Regional Climate Change	109
5. MA	NAGEMENT ACTIONS AND FURTHER STUDY	111
5.1 C	bjectives and Actions for Juvenile Salmon	111
5.1.1	Objective: Improve Habitat for Juvenile Salmon in Lake Washington	111
5.1.2	Objective: Improve Habitat for Juvenile Salmon in the Ship Canal and Lake Union	112
5.1.3	Objective: Improve Passage through the Locks for Juvenile Salmon	113
5.1.4	Objective: Decrease Water Temperature and Salinity Gradients between Salmon B	lay
	and the Ship Canal	, 115
5.2 C	bjectives and Actions for Adult Salmon	116
5.2.1	Objective: Increase Volitional Pathways between Shilshole Bay and the Ship Canal	116
5.2.2	Objective: Decrease Water Temperature and Salinity Gradients between Shilshole	Bay
	and the Ship Canal	117
5.2.3	Objective: Increase Area of Estuarine Conditions around Locks to Improve Adult F	ish
	Habitat	117
5.2.4	Conflicting Actions	118

6. **REFERENCES**

119

List of Figures

Figure 1 Lake Washington Basin Ecosystem Restoration General Investigation (LWGI) study area
Figure 2 The western portion of the Lake Washington watershed and focus area of this report. The Ship Canal system is outlined
Figure 3 The Ship Canal system, as defined for this report. Ship Canal refers collectively to the Montlake Cut, Portage Bay, Lake Union, the Fremont Cut, and Salmon Bay
Figure 4 Lake Union and Salmon Bay circa 1890. A ridge separated Lake Union and Union Bay and a small stream drained Lake Union into tidally-influenced Salmon Bay
Figure 5 Lake Washington and Duwamish drainage basins before 1900 and after 191618
Figure 6 Major physical features of the Locks
Figure 7 Major physical features of the Locks. Large lock chamber upper and lower gates are open and middle gate is closed. Small lock chamber is closed. Smolt flumes are operating
Figure 8 Large lock chamber looking downstream toward the middle miter gate during annual dewatering. The filling culvert entrance is shown in the middle with strobe light. The saltwater barrier is shown far right in down position 24
Figure 9 Saltwater drain, showing outlet to Puget Sound and pipe to fish ladder 26
Figure 10 Fixed weirs (steps) within the fish ladder at the Locks
Figure 11 Migration routes of juvenile salmon through the Locks to the Puget Sound. Solid lines represent passage routes most likely used. Dashed lines represent routes of lesser importance
Figure 12 Migration routes of adult salmon through the Locks to Puget Sound. Solid lines are the most likely routes. Dashed lines are less important
Figure 13 Cool water refuge area formed near intake to the saltwater drain at the Locks
Figure 14 Average travel speed of juvenile PIT-tagged Chinook salmon between Bear Creek and the Locks. Data are plotted by release date
Figure 15 Nearsurface water temperatures (Celsius) in the Lake Washington Ship Canal during smolt outmigration (2001-2005) at Ballard Bridge and Gasworks sites48
Figure 16 Surface, mid-depth and bottom water temperature (°C) in Ship Canal (spring and summer 2004)
Figure 17 Smolt flume detection rates for naturally-produced, juvenile Chinook salmon by date. Top shows fish released in Bear Creek. Bottom shows fish released in the Cedar River. Numbers were adjusted for detection efficiencies
Figure 18 Smolt flume detection rates for naturally-produced, juvenile coho salmon by date. Top shows fish released in Bear Creek. Bottom shows fish released in Cedar River
Figure 19 Optional passages for juvenile salmon through the Locks. Fish can only access each pathway at certain depths. Depths are relative to full pool. For the large lock, the saltwater barrier depth is indicated with a lighter blue bar
Figure 20 Chinook salmon positions at the Locks. Blue indicates no usage and red indicates highest usage. Colors between show a gradient
Figure 21 Coho salmon positions at the Locks. Blue indicates no usage and red indicates the highest usage. Colors between show a gradient

Figure	22	Diel depth distribution of tagged Chinook salmon smolts at the entrance to the large lock, June-July, 2007. Median proportion of time spent at depth is shown and 10th and 90th percentiles are indicated with error bars
Figure	23	Average catch size (blue line is catch per unit effort or CPUE) of natural origin Chinook and coho salmon smolts below the Locks and PIT-tag detection rates in smolt flumes (symbols) in 2001. Estimated release date for each group plus median travel time for each species: ~27/21 days for Bear Creek/Cedar River Chinook and ~25/27 days for Bear Creek/Cedar River coho
Figure	24	Daily PIT-tag detections at the Locks by average daily nearsurface water temperatures in the Ship Canal during smolt outmigration, 2001-2005 61
Figure	25	Hourly estimates of the average number of fish entrained in the large lock chamber filling culverts during full chamber (left) and upper chamber (right) fill events in 2000-2004
Figure	26	Depth ranges of fish entrained in the large lock filling culverts day and night in 2000-2004
Figure	27	Estimated proportion of fish passing through Locks for 1 flume at 80 cfs or 3 flumes at 350 cfs*
Figure	28	Percent smolts in large lock with heavy (> 10%) descaling before (1998) and after (2000) barnacle removal by three fill types
Figure	29	Average density of fish by depth under strobe on (white bars) and strobe off (gray bars) scenarios during daytime fill events at Locks (0800 to 1700 hours) from 9 to 20 May, 1998. Bracketed range strata indicate elevation of culvert entrances in range from transducers. Error bars indicate 95% confidence limits
Figure	30	Migration timing (cumulative percent) of Chinook, coho, and sockeye salmon through the Locks 1995–2007. Based on daily passage counts at fish ladder and large lock chamber
Figure	31	Average Chinook salmon counted in the fish ladder by tidal elevation for August 11 - 31, 1999. Error bars show the standard deviation from the mean75
Figure	32	Depth of adult Chinook in the large lock chamber over time in 2005. Each point represents the depth of one fish by time of day over a selected 2-week period
Figure	33	Residence time (°C) for adult Chinook salmon at Locks in days compared to degree days above 66.2°F (19°C) per day
Figure	34	Average, daily nearsurface water temperature (°C) in the Ship Canal during the adult salmon migration 1995-2007. Red line shows estimated temperature tolerance for adults, 70°F (21°C)
Figure	35	Locks exit times for percent migrating at temperature for acoustic tagged fish in 1998 (top) and 2000 (bottom) relative to Ship Canal nearsurface temperatures (°C) at Ballard Bridge
Figure	36	Temperatures (°C) experienced by two adult Chinook salmon tagged in 2005 at the Locks. Solid blue line is a fish that returned to lower Cedar River; dashed red line is a fish that returned to the Landsburg area of the Cedar River 88
Figure	37	Temperatures (°C) experienced by an adult sockeye salmon in Lake Washington basin
Figure	38	Dissolved oxygen (DO) concentrations at 3 feet (1 m) and 33 feet (10 m) at the Fremont Cut, northwest Lake Union, from 2000 to 2007
Figure	39	Estimated first date in spring nearsurface water temperatures in Lake Washington 15°, 18°, 19°, and 20°C near Madison Park (1960-2000)107

igure 40 Estimated last date in summer/early fall spring nearsurface water tempe	ratures
in Lake Washington equaled or exceeded 15°, 18°, 19°, and 20°C near	
Madison Park (1960-2008)	108

List of Tables

Table 1	Daily water use at the Locks May through September in cubic feet per second (cfs)
Table 2	Salmon stocks in the Lake Washington basin identified in the Salmonid Stock Inventory (SaSI)
Table 3	Life-History characteristics of anadromous salmon in the Lake Washington basin
Table 4	Mean travel time in hours for Chinook and coho salmon between areas of the Ship Canal
Table 5	Large lock fill type, speed, time, and rate
Table 6	Mean residence and migration times from acoustic telemetry studies at the Locks*
Table 7	Average time (number of days) by tag date for Chinook salmon migrating from the Locks to tributary spawning grounds

Executive Summary

This report summarizes recent research studies and findings on natural and hatchery-origin Chinook, sockeye, and coho salmon and steelhead trout in the western Lake Washington watershed. It includes studies conducted by the Lake Washington Basin Ecosystem Restoration General Investigation Study (LWGI) and identifies management strategies and recommended actions to increase understanding and improve conditions for salmon in the watershed.

The information presented in this report is intended to inform planning for ecosystem improvements and serve as a resource for agencies and jurisdictions involved in salmon management and recovery.

Purpose of the Lake Washington General Investigation Study

The LWGI was undertaken in 1997 by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps), at the request of King County and the City of Seattle as local sponsors. The purpose of the study was to identify and implement environmental restoration projects aimed at 1) improving conditions for salmon populations and other wildlife in the basin and 2) using water efficiently at the Locks to ensure adequate fish passage.

The LWGI focuses on protection and restoration of four species of anadromous salmonids in the Lake Washington basin:

- 1. Chinook salmon, Oncorhynchus tshawytscha
- 2. coho salmon, O. kisutch
- 3. sockeye salmon, O. nerka
- 4. steelhead trout, O. mykiss

Lake Washington Watershed and Focus Area

The 692-square-mile Lake Washington watershed is located in western Washington. It includes two major river systems, the Cedar and Sammamish rivers, and three major lakes, Lake Washington, Lake Sammamish, and Lake Union. The watershed drains to central Puget Sound through the city of Seattle. The Lake Washington watershed is home to Chinook, coho, and sockeye salmon, and steelhead, rainbow, cutthroat, and bull trout.

Historically, the Lake Washington watershed drained south into the Black and Duwamish rivers. In 1916 the Corps constructed the Locks and excavated the Ship Canal, connecting the Union Bay area in Lake Washington with Salmon Bay in Puget Sound. These hydrologic changes lowered the lake level 9 feet, dried up lake shoreline wetlands, and disconnected Lake Washington from its historical outlet, the Black River. Salmon populations were forced to find a new route back to their natal streams. Since 1916, shoreline and watershed development has further altered habitat conditions in the Lake Washington system.

Because of the complexity of determining habitat needs within this highly altered system, studies were divided into two phases: the east and west geographic regions. King County served as the local sponsor for the east geographic region (Phase 1) activities, while the City of Seattle sponsored activities for the west geographic region (Phase 2).

The western Lake Washington watershed is the focus area of this report, specifically Lake Washington, the Ship Canal, Lake Union, the Locks, and Shilshole Bay. The Locks represent the most complex passageway for migrating salmon and steelhead. The structure itself contains roughly six different routes fish can move through: the large lock chamber and associated filling

culverts, small lock chamber and associated filling culverts, the saltwater drain, the fish ladder, the spillway, and the smolt flumes. The structure also creates physical, biological, and chemical conditions that can affect salmon, such as water temperature and salinity gradients. The Locks are also a key societal component in regulating water levels and providing navigation.

More information about the Lake Washington system, alterations, and the salmon using the basin can be found in Chapter 2 of the report.



Western portion of the Lake Washington watershed, the focus area of this report. The Ship Canal system is outlined

Summary of Research Findings

From freshwater streams to the ocean, salmon occupy many habitats throughout their lives. Salmon respond in several ways to the dynamic structure of the Pacific Northwest ecosystem and the natural and human-induced stresses that influence their survival at all life stages. Management of salmon in the Lake Washington basin is difficult because many factors impact salmon within the area.

Studies completed under Phase 2 of the LWGI include investigation of smolt flume water use efficiency, juvenile Chinook salmon habitat use in Lake Washington, smolt outmigration timing and behavior, and tracking of juvenile Chinook smolts through the Ship Canal, Lake Union, and the Locks. The research gathered in the LWGI and through other studies presents information for improved management of salmon in the Lake Washington basin. Chapter 3 of the report

summarizes research findings from the late 1990s to today. Chapter 4 provides conceptual models that illustrate how the research findings relate to what is understood about each species' life history in the Lake Washington system.

The following table summarizes the major research findings presented in this report. The information is grouped into two categories: research findings for juvenile salmon and research findings for adult salmon. For juvenile salmon, the research is grouped by location: Lake Washington Residency, Lake Washington Outmigration, Ship Canal and Lake Union Outmigration, Passage at the Locks, Estuarine transition in Salmon and Shilshole Bays, and Puget Sound Residency. Studies on the return migration of adult Chinook, coho, sockeye salmon, and steelhead are organized according to passage through the study area: Puget Sound Residency, Estuarine Transition, Passage at the Locks, Ship Canal and Lake Union Migration, and Lake Washington.

Management Actions and Further Studies

Studies in the LWGI and by other local groups have identified much about salmon as they move through the Lake Washington basin. Although management actions can be taken with current knowledge, in some cases further research is necessary.

Increasing the survival of juvenile salmon can be achieved through the following actions:

- Improving habitat in Lake Washington and the Ship Canal
- Improving passage through the Locks
- Decreasing water temperature and salinity gradients between Salmon Bay and Shilshole Bay

Increasing the survival of adult salmon may be achieved through the following:

- Increasing pathways for adult salmon between Shilshole Bay and the Ship Canal
- Decreasing water temperatures and salinity gradients between Shilshole Bay and the Ship Canal
- Increasing the area of estuarine conditions around the Locks

More specific recommendations are provided in Chapter 5 of the report.

There are still uncertainties about salmon habitat preferences, behavior, and needs within the Lake Washington basin. Habitat for juvenile salmon in the Ship Canal should be improved and then monitored for effectiveness of various improvement actions. A number of actions at the Locks have improved downstream passage through the Locks. However, further clarity would be helpful on the proportion of outmigrants passing through the various routes available and the survival of fish in each passage route. For adults, little is understood about their behavior downstream of the Locks and how altering Lock passageways to allow for more gradual movement between freshwater and marine systems may benefit conditions for returning salmon.

Location	Findings for Juvenile Salmon	Source
Lake Washington Residency	Juvenile Chinook, coho, and sockeye occur in Lake Washington. Conditions for juvenile salmon are declining in the lake. More than 70% of the shoreline is developed.	
Habitat Use & Behavior	 Chinook salmon fry tend to use shallow shoreline area with finer gravel and sand substrates. They use woody debris for cover during the day and tend to avoid armored shorelines. Juveniles avoid overwater structures and are attracted to non-natal tributaries Chinook fingerlings move into deeper water and avoid overwater structures Sockeye fry initially inhabit sandy, littoral (shoreline) habitats but move into deep, limnetic (open) waters within a few weeks Juvenile steelhead and coho may be found in both littoral and limnetic areas. Steelhead in limnetic areas consume zooplankton 	Beauchamp 1995 Celedonia et al. 2008a,b Paron and Nelson 2001 Piaskowski and Tabor 2001 Tabor and Piaskowski 2002 Tabor et al. 2004a, 2006
Survival Risks	 More than 70% of the shoreline is developed. This impacts the heavily-used littoral zone and may threaten all salmon species using this area Juvenile Chinook are opportunistic feeders, with chironomids and zooplankton as top prey items. It does not appear that food availability limits the growth or survival of Chinook or sockeye in Lake Washington Cutthroat trout are the major predators of juvenile salmon in the lake. Prickly sculpin are important predators from February through June Population level predation rate estimates vary because predator populations are not known Predation risks are influenced by spatial overlap between juvenile salmon and potential predators. These overlaps are further influenced by movement patterns (e.g. sockeye diel vertical migration), habitat preferences, water temperatures, and fish size 	Beauchamp et al. 2004 Beauchamp et al. 2007 Fayram and Sibley 2000 Koehler 2002 et al. 2006 Nowak et al 2004 Tabor and Piaskowski 2002 Tabor et al 1998, 2004a,b, 2006
Lake Washington Outmigration	Juvenile salmon migrate through Lake Washington at differing different ages and under different circumstances. Typically juvenile salmon outmigrate from April through early July.	
Habitat Use & Behavior	 Smolts in the lake tend to follow the lake shoreline while migrating When they are larger (mid-May) juvenile Chinook move into deeper water. Chinook feed in 6.5 to 13-feet deep water and migrate along the shoreline in similar depths (6.8 to 14.7 ft) Outmigrating Chinook avoid overwater structures, likely as a result of perceived predation threats Little is known about the outmigration of coho, sockeye, or steelhead 	Fresh 2000 Tabor et al. 2004a, 2006
Survival Risks	 Predators during smolt outmigration are cutthroat trout, rainbow trout, northern pike minnow, and bass Shoreline development, armoring, and overwater structures may impact outmigrant juvenile salmon 	Tabor et al. 2004b Tabor and Piasowski 2002

Major Research Findings for Juvenile and Adult Salmon in the Western Lake Washington Basin (1998-2008)

Location	Findings for Juvenile Salmon	Source
Ship Canal and Lake Union Outmigration	The Ship Canal was built to connect Lake Washington with Portage Bay, Lake Union, the Locks, and Puget Sound. It resulted in hydrologic changes to the basin and a new migration corridor for salmon. The hydrologic changes have been accompanied by shoreline development. Today, the banks along the Ship Canal are about 96% armored with numerous overwater structures such as docks and piers. Bank armoring, and bulkheads and docks along most of this shoreline severely limit habitat and cover for migrating juvenile salmon. Water temperatures during the summer become particularly high, also influencing migration behavior.	
Habitat & Behavior	 Sockeye and coho smolts spend the least time in the Ship Canal (less than 1 week), Chinook smolts the most (~1 to 4 weeks) Average juvenile Chinook smolt migration rates tend to increase as the outmigration season progresses; coho rates are steadier In PIT-tagging studies, Chinook smolts appear to move along lake shorelines while outmigrating and mix cross-channel in the Ship Canal near the Montlake Cut, Fremont Cut, and Locks forebay Fine-scale acoustic tracking of individual juvenile Chinook shows various movement patterns, including quickly traveling through the Ship Canal and lingering mid-channel and in littoral areas Juvenile Chinook use relatively shallow (6 ft) waters in Portage Bay but may inhabit waters as deep as 30 ft in Lake Union Juvenile Chinook salmon use all of Lake Union, with up to 50% of fish found in the south end of the lake Juvenile Chinook salmon appear to avoid overwater structures while migrating by moving into deeper water to swim around the piers. Chinook and coho salmon smolts have also been found to residualize (return to the lake for the winter) in the system. Smolts may have a higher probability of residualizing in Lake Washington as the outmigration season progresses and surface water temperatures warm 	DeVries et al. 2005 DeVries and Hendrix 2005a Jeanes and Hilget 2002 Johnson et al. 2004c Tabor et al. 2004a
Survival Risks	 Juvenile Chinook often hesitate before entering the Ship Canal at the Montlake Cut. This may be due to lack of shallow water habitat Elevated water temperatures may also influence juvenile salmon outmigration, especially the later outmigrating Chinook The large number of overwater structures may substantially influence juvenile Chinook behavior in the Ship Canal and Lake Union Dominant predators are northern pike minnow, largemouth bass, cutthroat trout, and piscivorous birds. The impact of predation has not been studied 	DeVries et al. 2001, 2002, 2003, 2005 DeVries and Hendrix 2005a Tabor et al 2004a,b Celedonia et al. 2008b M. Celedonia unpub data

Location	Findings for Juvenile Salmon	Source
Passage at the Locks	The Locks present challenges for juvenile salmon passage. Juvenile salmon passage at the Locks has been relatively well-studied.	
Habitat Use & Behavior	 Chinook smolts upstream of the locks are mostly located near the entrances to the smolt flumes, the large locks, or saltwater drain Tagged juvenile Coho upstream of the Locks occurred most frequently at the mouth of the spillway flumes and just above the entrance to the large locks For juvenile salmon, the primary routes through the Locks are the spillway/smolt flumes and large and small locks Passage at the Locks by young-of-year Chinook and sockeye smolts may be initiated in response to the lunar apogee or quarter moon Most smolts pass the Locks through the smolt flumes during the day. However, later in the season, most juvenile fish pass through the large lock The large lock and associated filling culverts are thought to be the second most frequent route for smolts through the Locks. Fish may become entrapped in the filling culverts, which exposes them to descaling and other harm Water temperature may influence fish location in the water column. This could impact route through the Locks Fish distribution and route choice do not appear to correlate with flow fields near the Locks Some Chinook and coho smolts recycle upstream through the large or small lock. No sockeye smolts have been observed to recycle 	Biosonics 1997, 2001 DeVries et al. 2004, 2005, 2006 DeVries et al. 2002, 2005 DeVries et al. 2006 Johnson et al. 2001, 2003a, 2004a,b,c WDFW 1996 WDFW unpub data
Survival Risks	 Survival through the Locks is not well understood Entrainment in the large lock filling culverts is considered the most potentially harmful route through the Locks for juvenile fish. During lockages, the filling culverts have high velocities that can inhibit colitional movement of smolts. The rough, barnacle-encrusted culverts may descale smolts that come into contact with them. Removal of barnacles from the walls of the large lock filling conduit system appears to have significantly reduced heavy descaling of entrained fish Strobe lights deterred fish from entering the large lock filling culvert 	Corps 1999, 2000 Goetz et al. 2001 Johnson et al. 2000, 2001a,b; 2003b; 2004a,b; 2005 Ploskey and Johnson 2001 Ploskey et al. 1998, 2001 Seiler unpub data 1998 Simenstad et al. 2003

Location	Findings for Juvenile Salmon	Source
Estuarine Transition in Salmon and Shilshole Bays	The artificial estuary below the Locks lacks most of the functions of a natural estuary. Most shoreline in the estuarine transition of Salmon and Shilshole bays is bulkheads, riprap, or naturally steep bluffs. Up to 87% of the eastern shore of nearshore Puget Sound from Shilshole Bay to the King County border is either bulkheaded or rip-rapped.	
Habitat Use & Behavior	 Smolts may spend little time (less than 1 hour) in the freshwater lens immediately below the Locks Sockeye smolts spend the least time in the inner bay. Chinook spend the most; coho are intermediate Acoustically-tagged Chinook smolts on average hold in Shilshole Bay three times as long as coho smolts Juvenile salmon are a prominent part of the fish population below the Locks from April through October. The diet of juvenile salmon below the Locks is dominated by freshwater zooplankton from above the Locks 	Collins et al. 2001 DeVries et al. 2003, 2005 Footen 2000 Johnson et al. 2001, 2004c D. Houck unpub data Seals Price and Schreck 2003 Simenstad et al. 2003 Simenstad and Couch 1999
Survivar Kisks	 Piscivorous predators of juvenile salmon below the Locks are cutthroat trout, char, and stagnorn sculpin Smolts passing through the Locks are suddenly subject to high salinity, cool waters. This impact on smolts is unknown 	DeVries et al. 2003 DeVries and Hendrix 2005a Footen 2001 Johnson 2004b NOAA 2002 Simenstad et al. 2003
Puget Sound Residency	Studies conducted as part of the LWGI have not examined juvenile residency or migration in Puget Sound. The pollutants in the Puget Sound resident fish	here are concerns about
Habitat Use & Behavior	 Juvenile Chinook and coho may spend up to 2 months rearing in shallow waters of pelagic regions of Puget Sound These fish consume crab larvae and drift insects 	Duffy and Beauchamp 2008
Survival Risks	Survival risks to juvenile Salmon in Puget Sound are not known	
Location	Findings for Adult Salmon	Source
Estuarine Transition	The area below the Locks lacks most of the functions of a natural estuary.	
Habitat Use & Behavior	Largely unknown	
Survival Risks	Pinniped predation on adult salmon and steelhead just downstream of the Locks has been documented in the past. Recent anecdotal information implies this may be occurring in large numbers, despite use of sound in the area to ward off seals and sea lions	NOAA 2002 F. Goetz pers comm

Location	Findings for Adult Salmon	Source
Passage at the Locks	Adult salmon migrate through the Locks at different times of the year under differing circumstances. Water quality upstream of the Locks presents some survival risks for the fish.	
Habitat Use & Behavior	 Most adult salmon return through the fish ladder or the large lock chambers. Fewer use the saltwater drain. Not many use the small lock. None use the flumes Most adult Chinook, coho, and sockeye pass through the fish ladder during the day. Few pass at night Adult Chinook may hold up to 19 days in the cool water refuge above the Locks. Sockeye and coho do not hold in that area as long. Adults holding at the Locks appear to be choosing their location based on temperatures, DO levels, and water velocity Adult Chinook arriving at the Locks earlier in the summer tend to hold for longer periods at the Locks than fish that arrive later Up to 30% of adults appear to recycle at least once through the Locks 	DeVries et al. 2003, 2004 DeVries and Hendrix 2005b Goetz et al. 2006 Fresh et al. 1999 Timko et al. 2002 Van Rijn 2001
Survival Risks	 Adult fish may become trapped in the diffuser well that drains saltwater from the forebay through the fish ladder. A screen installed in 2008 upstream of the saltwater drain should prevent this High water temperatures in the fish ladder may alter route choice for adult Chinook salmon and may be associated with lower returns to Lake Washington High temperatures and low DO upstream of the Locks may inhibit adult salmon movement away from the cool water refuge 	Biosonics 2001 Johnson et al. 2005 Fresh, unpub data Timko et al. 2002
Ship Canal and Lake Union Migration	Most adult salmon quickly migrate through the Ship Canal and Lake Union. Summer water temperatures in the Ship Canal are high, which may influence migration behavior.	
Habitat Use & Behavior	 Adult Chinook average 1 day in the Ship Canal, with total time ranging from 4 hours to 7.7 days Adult sockeye average 4 days in the Ship Canal Habitat use of adult salmon in this area has not been published 	Fresh et al. 1999 Fresh et al. 2000 Fresh unpub data Goetz unpub data Newell and Quinn 2005
Survival Risks	 Enroute mortality has been observed in the Ship Canal in years of high summer temperatures, particularly for adult sockeye. The cause is largely unknown 	
Lake Washington		
Habitat Use & Behavior	 Adult Chinook spend 2 to 5 days in Lake Washington before staging near the Cedar or Sammamish rivers. Chinook experience a variety of temperatures while in the lake Adult sockeye spend an average of 85 days in cool water below the thermocline in Lake Washington 	Fresh unpub data Goetz unpub data Newell and Quinn 2005
Survival Risks	 Adult Chinook salmon spend 2 to 5 days in Lake Washington before staging near the Cedar or Sammamish rivers. Chinook experience a variety of temperatures while in the lake 	Fresh unpub data Goetz unpub data Newell and Quinn 2005

Location	Findings for Adult Salmon	Source
	 Adult Chinook may experience high temperatures in Lake Washington. Depending on the length of time they spend in high temperatures, it could negatively impact spawning success and gamete health. This has not been studied 	

1. Introduction

The Synthesis of Salmon Research and Monitoring summarizes recent research findings for the western Lake Washington watershed, focusing on natural and hatchery-origin Chinook, sockeye, and coho salmon and steelhead trout. These findings are taken from many studies, including those conducted under the Lake Washington Basin Ecosystem Restoration General Investigation study (LWGI). This report also recommends actions to improve conditions for salmon and identifies future studies needed to increase the understanding of salmon in the Lake Washington basin.

The intent of the report is to summarize LWGI research and guide planning activities for ecosystem improvements. Other agencies, jurisdictions, and organizations involved in salmon recovery within the Lake Washington basin may also find this study useful for their own management decisions

1.1 Organization of this Report

This report is organized into the following chapters:

- **Executive Summary:** This is a summary of the major findings and recommendations in this report.
- Introduction: This chapter introduces the report and the LWGI study.
- Watershed and Focus Area Overview: This chapter describes the watershed, features of Lake Washington, the Ship Canal, and Locks, and introduces salmon and trout species using the watershed. This section provides context for understanding later sections of the report such as historical watershed changes and fish passageways at the Locks.
- **Summary of Research Findings:** This chapter summarizes salmon research findings from the late 1990s to the present.
- Salmon Use of the Watershed: This chapter presents conceptual models of salmon in the western Lake Washington basin. It identifies important survival factors and synthesizes what has been learned from past salmon studies.
- Focus Area Goals, Objectives and Actions: Here we recommend high-priority research topics and actions based on the state of science to benefit salmon in the watershed.

1.2 Purpose of Lake Washington General Investigation Study

The LWGI was authorized by Congress under Section 216 (Reauthorization of Existing Project) of the Rivers and Harbors Act of 1970, in connection with the Hiram Chittenden Locks and Lake Washington Ship Canal projects. The purpose of the LWGI is to identify and implement environmental restoration projects for the Lake Washington system aimed at 1) improving conditions for salmon populations, and other wildlife, in the basin and 2) using water efficiently at the Locks.

The following are the primary goals for the LWGI:

• Restoring spawning, rearing, and migration habitat for salmon

- Restoring natural habitat complexity
- Eliminating barriers to fish access and passage
- Restoring stream channel floodplain habitats
- Reducing sedimentation.

The study covers lakes Union, Washington, and Sammamish and their associated rivers, tributaries, and surrounding landscape.

1.2.1 General Investigations with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

The LWGI falls within the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) General Investigation (GI) study program. That program is a significant avenue through which the Seattle District of the Corps works with local communities, counties, tribes, and other non-federal governments to solve water resource and endangered species problems. Through the GI program, the Corps shares costs with local sponsors to develop workable solutions to water resource problems. General Investigations contain four phases: 1) reconnaissance, 2) feasibility, 3) planning, engineering and design (PED), and 4) construction and monitoring.

Reconnaissance efforts are structured to determine whether interest exists in pursuing a federal water resource project and concludes with a reconnaissance report (905(b) report), a Project Management Plan, and a Feasibility Cost Sharing Agreement. The reconnaissance report identifies water resource problems, opportunities, and potential solutions, and the federal interest in these issues. The Project Management Plan and Feasibility Cost Sharing Agreement define the scope, cost, sponsor funding requirements, and resources needed to complete the feasibility study phase. Upon approval by the Corps Division Office and signing of the cost sharing agreement, feasibility begins with study costs paid 50% by both parties.

The purpose of feasibility is to establish baseline conditions in the project area, identify and evaluate measures and alternative plans, develop a recommendation plan, identify any needed mitigation, develop cost estimates, and prepare a feasibility report. At this stage, the general investigation has identified construction projects, at a 35% design level. The feasibility report, with supporting public review and National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) documentation, is submitted through Corps Headquarters and the Assistant Secretary of the Army to the federal Office of Management and Budget, and finally to Congress for authorization. With federal authorization and funding allocations, the Corps and local sponsor can proceed into the PED and construction and monitoring phases.

1.2.2 Status of the LWGI

The Corps started the LWGI in 1997, at the request of King County and the City of Seattle as local sponsors. The reconnaissance study examined long-term water efficiency improvements to fish passage at the Locks, fish passage enhancement, and watershed restoration. In July 1998, the Corps produced a reconnaissance report recommending a feasibility study of 1) modifications to the Locks and Ship Canal for salmon, and 2) Lake Washington basin habitat restoration projects. After approval of the reconnaissance report, the Corps signed a cost-sharing agreement with the City of Seattle and King County and began the feasibility phase. Puget Sound Chinook salmon were listed as a threatened species under the Endangered Species Act (ESA) in 1999.

Due to the complexity of determining habitat needs within a highly altered system, the study was divided into two phases: the east and west geographic regions within the Lake Washington basin. Phasing the study facilitated progress on Phase 1 (east) while allowing for further study of Phase 2 (west). King County served as the local sponsor for Phase 1 activities, while Seattle sponsored

Phase 2 activities. The Lake Washington/Cedar /Sammamish watershed (WRIA 8) also helped provide local match dollars through King County Conservation District grants.

Phase 1 of the LWGI emphasizes the *eastern* portion of the Lake Washington basin including portions of Lake Washington, the Cedar and Sammamish rivers, Lake Sammamish, Issaquah Creek and tributaries to each (Figure 1). Although they are not located in the eastern portion of



the watershed, improvements to the Salmon Bay estuary were also included in Phase 1. In 2006, King County, in coordination with WRIA 8, chose to discontinue the Phase 1 study and instead pursue funding for Phase 1 projects through other avenues.

Figure 1

Lake Washington Basin Ecosystem Restoration General Investigation (LWGI) study area

Phase 2 comprises the western portion of the study area, including portions of lakes Washington and Union, the Ship Canal, the Locks and Salmon Bay estuary. Studies completed under Phase 2 of the LWGI include investigation of smolt flume water use efficiency, juvenile Chinook salmon habitat use in Lake Washington, smolt outmigration timing and behavior, and tracking of juvenile Chinook smolts through the Ship Canal, Lake Union, and the Locks. This report is a milestone in the Phase 2 study, which was discontinued in January 2009.

2. Lake Washington Watershed and Focus Area

The western Lake Washington watershed is the focus area of this report. Background on the watershed is important to understanding the conclusions and recommendations provided later in the report. The structure and operation of the Hiram M. Chittenden (or Ballard) Locks, in



particular, is a prominent feature in the watershed and has the greatest impact on salmon migration (Figure 2).

Figure 2

The western portion of the Lake Washington watershed and focus area of this report. The Ship Canal system is outlined

2.1 General Watershed Description

The Lake Washington watershed is located in western Washington and drains to central Puget Sound through the City of Seattle. The 692-square-mile watershed includes two major river systems, the Cedar and Sammamish, and three major lakes, Lake Washington, Lake Sammamish, and Lake Union. The western portion of the watershed includes Lake Washington, the Ship Canal, Lake Union, the Locks, and Shilshole Bay (Figure 3). With a surface area of 34.6 square miles, Lake Washington is the largest lake in Washington State west of the Cascades. The lake is 18.6 miles long and 1.5 miles wide with an average depth of 108 feet and a maximum depth of 220 feet. The Cedar and Sammamish rivers, and numerous smaller creeks, drain to the lake.



Figure 3

The Ship Canal system, as defined for this report. Ship Canal refers collectively to the Montlake Cut, Portage Bay, Lake Union, the Fremont Cut, and Salmon Bay

Lake Washington undergoes complete mixing from December through March. From June through October the lake is stratified. Monthly water temperature data for Lake Washington west of Mercer Island show maximum water temperatures from 2000 to 2007 peak between 70.7 to 75.2°F (21.5-24°C). Minimum water temperatures range from 42.8 to 46.4°F (6 - 8°C) for the same period (King County 2008).

The Cedar River provides about 50% (663 cubic feet/second [cfs]) of the mean annual flow into Lake Washington. Cedar River flows are affected by the City of Seattle's water storage and diversion activities, which supply water to Seattle and surrounding areas. The City's water operations also provide some flood control during fall and winter peak flows. The Sammamish River contributes about 25% (307 cfs) of the annual mean flow into Lake Washington (Corps 1999).

Lake Washington drains through the Ship Canal to Puget Sound. For this report, *Ship Canal* refers collectively to the Montlake Cut, Portage Bay, Lake Union, the Fremont Cut, and Salmon Bay. The Ship Canal is 8.6 miles long and averages 30 feet deep in the navigational channel. The canal is a narrow, armored channel in the cuts (about 100 ft wide) but widens through Portage

Bay, Lake Union, and Salmon Bay. Lake Union covers just less than 1 square mile and has an average depth of 33 feet.

The Locks regulate water levels in Lake Washington and the Ship Canal between 20 and 22 feet above mean lower low water (MLLW). The Locks can store up to 46,424 acre-feet of water in Lake Washington and the Ship Canal.

2.2 Historical Context

Historically, a ridge separated Union Bay from Lake Union and a small stream drained Lake Union into a tidally-influenced Salmon Bay (Figure 4). The Lake Washington watershed drained south into the Duwamish River.



Figure 4

Lake Union and Salmon Bay circa 1890. A ridge separated Lake Union and Union Bay and a small stream drained Lake Union into tidally-influenced Salmon Bay

However, in 1916, the Ship Canal and Locks became the outlet for Lake Washington when the Corps excavated a navigation channel and constructed the Locks (Figure 5). The hydrologic changes lowered the lake level 9 feet and disconnected Lake Washington from its historical outlet, the Black River. The connection between the Lake Washington system and its historical Duwamish estuary was eliminated. The outlet at Salmon Bay, downstream of the Locks, became the new estuary for the Lake Washington system.



Figure 5

Lake Washington and Duwamish drainage basins before 1900 and after 1916 Source: City of Seattle 2003

2.3 Lake Washington Modifications

The modifications in the Lake Washington drainage system resulted in significant changes to salmon populations. Anadromous (migrating from saltwater to spawn in freshwater) salmon that historically migrated up the Duwamish River then into the Black and Cedar rivers must now spawn in the Green /Duwamish or find the new entrance to the Lake Washington system.

The riparian (bank) and littoral (shallow-water) zones of Lake Washington have changed considerably since pre-settlement times. Lowering Lake Washington exposed 1,334 acres of shallow water habitat, reducing the lake surface area by 7%, and decreasing the shoreline by 10.5 miles (Chrzastowski 1981). The area of freshwater marshes in the lake decreased from an

estimated 1,136 acres to 74 acres. The mouths of tributaries entering the lake moved as deltas reformed around the new shoreline and eliminated shallow-sloped alluvial deltas (Warner and Fresh 1998). In contrast, new wetlands and riparian zones have developed along the shore in Union Bay, Portage Bay, Juanita Bay, and Mercer Slough since the Ship Canal was completed (Dillon et al. 2000). Hydrologic changes lowered water levels in Lake Sammamish, and the complex wetland system along the Sammamish River was also lost.

Shoreline vegetation in Lake Washington also changed dramatically. Vegetation was reported as a dense undergrowth of small trees, brush, and Tule grass, but is now primarily landscaped residential properties with bulkheads. Shallow-water habitats are dominated by Eurasian water-milfoil (*Myriophyllum spicatum*), a non-native invasive aquatic plant introduced into the lake in the 1970s. Milfoil replaces native aquatic vegetation and alters substrate in the shallow-water zone (Patmont et al. 1981).

Changes to the Lake Washington basin substantially altered lake water levels. Historically, lake elevations peaked in winter and declined in summer. In 1903, the average lake elevation was about 32 feet. Today, lake elevation peaks at 22 feet in May and reaches its lowest level, 20 feet, in December. Water is regulated at the Locks to keep seasonal fluctuations to within 2 feet annually (Corps 2001). The Corps regulates the lake level based on lake level forecasts and measurement and projected demand for smolt passage flumes, saltwater drain, and lock operations.

Since 1916, Lake Washington has lost much of its natural shoreline habitat. This alteration resulted both from hydrologic modifications within the Lake Washington system and loss of riparian vegetation to installation of bank armoring, and construction of overwater structures associated with the urbanized watershed today. In fact, about 62% of the lake shoreline in Seattle is armored with more than 750 overwater structures (Toft 2001). Less than 25% of the shoreline contains natural vegetation.

2.4 The Ship Canal and Lake Union Modifications

Because it was created as a navigation project to connect Lake Washington with Puget Sound, the Ship Canal is an engineered system. The Montlake and Fremont cuts and the Locks established a slow-moving, freshwater system in an area that was formerly a shallow lake and small stream draining to Puget Sound. The area became a shipping, navigation, and industrial center, with accompanying shoreline development. Today, the banks along the Ship Canal are about 96% armored with numerous overwater structures such as docks and piers (Weitkamp et al. 2000). Invasive species affect the area as well. For example, the Eurasian water-milfoil in Lake Union contributes a large amount of organic material to the lake, which can decrease dissolved oxygen (DO) levels.

The section of the canal closest to the Locks is Salmon Bay. Historically, Salmon Bay was tidally influenced, with water levels varying nearly 20 feet during extreme high and low tides (Corps 2001). At low tides, it was practically dry. The Locks raised and stabilized the water level and converted this section of the canal from an estuary into a freshwater environment.

Within the Ship Canal, there are limited segments of open shoreline east of the Fremont Cut. Undeveloped shorelines include Gas Works Park, a protected cove west of the U.S. Navy pier at the south end of Lake Union, the area south of SR-520 in Union Bay and Portage Bay, and the north side of Union Bay. Vegetation within these areas is limited, with the area south of SR-520 having the highest abundance of natural vegetation, primarily small trees and cattails (*Typha* spp).





Photo: Natural marsh area south of SR-520 in the Ship Canal. Courtesy: SPU

Photo: Aerial view of Ship Canal near Ballard, showing extensive overwater structures and bulkheads. Courtesy: SPU

2.5 The Locks and Vicinity

The Locks are located at the west end of the Ship Canal and provide passage for vessels between Lake Washington and Puget Sound. A navigation channel continues downstream of the Locks into inner Shilshole Bay. The Locks physically separate the saltwater of Puget Sound and the freshwater of the Ship Canal. Tide levels measured downstream of the Locks in Shilshole Bay fluctuate about 12 feet over each tidal cycle.

The waterway between the Locks and Shilshole Bay is an estuarine area with an abrupt transition between fresh and marine waters for migrating salmon. Historically, this area had shallow water and wetland habitat. Tidal influence extended to the Fremont Cut. The lack of riverine and tidal influences leaves the Ship Canal void of the diversity of habitats and brackish water refugia of unaltered estuaries.

Today, numerous bulkheads and ship-holding areas line this section of the canal and the intertidal habitat has been substantially reduced and degraded. Similar to upstream areas, shorelines are developed for residential and commercial uses and minimal natural vegetation remains.

Estuarine habitats are important during migration of juvenile and adult fish. Estuarine turbidity, which is associated with the mixing process and depositional environment, can provide cover from predators while smolts make the physiological transition to saltwater (Quinn 2005). Characteristics such as vegetated, shallow water areas, woody debris, and deeper aquatic vegetation can also be important to smolts in an estuary. Adult salmon use estuaries to physiologically adjust to fresh water or as holding areas. Adults may hold in estuaries until river flows are appropriate for upstream migration and/or until the fish reach proper maturation for spawning. Fresh- and saltwater gradients with appropriate temperatures and DO levels are important aspects of estuaries for returning adult salmon. The location of the gradients typically

varies in response to tides and changes in freshwater input rates. In natural systems, each species and population of salmon uses estuaries in a different manner.



Photo: Aerial view of the Locks

The saltwater area below the Locks lacks most functions of a natural estuary, with a limited freshwater lens occurring during the late spring. In the historic Duwamish Estuary, rerouting the Lake Washington outlet removed over 5,000 acres of intertidal wetlands from the migration route of salmon populations, including Cedar River Chinook. Limited intertidal and shallow, nearshore



 $\ensuremath{\textbf{Photo:}}$ Typical section of shoreline in Shilshole Bay. Courtesy: Jason Toft UW

habitat remains in Salmon and Shilshole bays. Most of the shoreline has been modified by construction of bulkheads and riprap or is bordered by the natural steep bluffs of Magnolia Hill. Up to 87% of the eastern shore of nearshore Puget Sound from Shilshole Bay to the King County boundary is bulkhead

or riprap. Below the Locks, smolts pass quickly into the marine waters of Puget Sound, allowing little time for an adaptation to saltwater.

The Locks significantly impact the estuarine transition between fresh and saltwater by truncating the brackish mixing zone, which is much larger in typical estuaries. The Locks structure and surrounding development have also reduced estuary habitat for salmon exiting to Puget Sound or returning to Lake Washington.

The estuarine habitat below the Locks is defined primarily by the spatial extent of the freshwater lens and mixing area. Water quality data collected by the Corps and King County indicate the freshwater lens and mixing area with salinities below 20 parts per thousand (ppt) generally extends into the upper 3.3 to 9.8 feet of the water column, downstream to the vicinity of the railroad bridge and beyond depending on tides and outflow.

The estuarine zone extends upstream through the large lock into Salmon Bay. As cool, saline water mixes with freshwater in the Ship Canal a salinity gradient forms. That gradient creates a saltwater wedge upstream of the Locks. Cooler water in the area of saltwater immediately upstream of the Locks may provide more favorable habitat for adult and smolt salt- and freshwater transitions when nearsurface water temperatures increase in spring and summer. As the wedge moves upstream, salinity concentrations decrease and are controlled to 1 ppt at the University Bridge, as required by the Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). The extent of this wedge varies spatially and temporally, depending on the tide and amount and timing of flow through the Locks.

2.5.1 Physical Features of the Locks

The Locks consist of the following major physical features (Figures 6 and 7):

- Large lock
- Small lock
- Saltwater drain
- Spillway and smolt flumes
- Fish ladder



Figure 6

Major physical features of the Locks



Figure 7

Major physical features of the Locks. Large lock chamber upper and lower gates are open and middle gate is closed. Small lock chamber is closed. Smolt flumes are operating

2.5.1.1 Large Lock

The large lock measures 80 feet wide, 825 feet long, and about 50 feet deep. It accommodates large vessels with drafts as deep as 30 feet. A miter gate in the middle of the large lock divides



Photo: Large lock chamber looking downstream toward the middle miter gate during annual dewatering. Filling ports line the base of the walls

the lock into an upper and lower chamber. This allows lock operators to use only half of the lock at a time if the entire large lock space is not needed. Miter gates are also located at the upstream and downstream ends of the large lock.

The large lock chamber is filled through two filling culverts that are contained in the walls of the lock chamber (Figure 8). The filling culverts are 14 feet tall and vary between 9 and 16 feet wide. The filling culverts are located underwater and begin just upstream of the upper miter gate. The culverts connect to the chamber through 22 filling ports that are about 4 feet wide by 2 feet tall.

Boats navigate the Ship Canal through *lockages*. When boats pass downstream from the Ship Canal into inner Shilshole Bay, the passage is called a *down lockage*. When boats pass upstream



down lockage. When boats pass upstream from inner Shilshole Bay to the Ship Canal, it's called an *up lockage*. During a down lockage, boats enter the large lock with the water surface higher than that downstream.

Figure 8

Large lock chamber looking downstream toward the middle miter gate during annual dewatering. The filling culvert entrance is shown in the middle with strobe light. The saltwater barrier is shown far right in down position The filling culverts are used to drain the water in the large lock until the water surface elevations are equal in the lock and downstream. The lower Stoney gate valves are opened to allow water to discharge downstream. During an up lockage, boats enter the large lock with the water surface lower than that upstream. Water must be added into the lock chamber to elevate the boats. The Stoney gate valves are opened to draw freshwater into the filling culverts. Water is discharged into the lock chamber through the filling ports.

2.5.1.2 Small Lock

The small lock is identical to the large lock, except in size. The lock chamber is 30 feet wide and 150 feet long. It can accommodate vessels with 16-foot-deep drafts. The small lock is not divided into two chambers. It is filled and drained through filling culverts smaller than those for the large lock.



Photo: The small lock chamber at the Locks

2.5.1.3 Saltwater Drain

Saltwater intrudes upstream from Puget Sound into the Ship Canal when the Locks are opened during up lockages. To manage saltwater intrusion in the Ship Canal, the Locks were built with a saltwater drain system to convey the saltwater back downstream below the Locks (Figure 9). The intake for the saltwater drain is a 48-by-4-foot opening at the bottom of the Ship Canal. It is located at the east end of the large lock south wall at a depth between 47 and 51 feet. From the intake, the water flows through a 5-by-6-foot concrete pipe to either of two routes to convey the saltwater back to the Sound. The first route carries saltwater into the fish ladder. This distance is

about 900 feet. This water is pumped from a diffuser well through the fish ladder to attract fish to the ladder. The second route through the saltwater drain is a direct outlet to Puget Sound, a distance of about 700 feet.



Figure 9

Saltwater drain, showing outlet to Puget Sound and pipe to fish ladder

When water is conveyed to the fish ladder and the outlet to Puget Sound, flow in the saltwater drain can average 300 cfs depending on lake and tidal elevations. Operation of the saltwater drain outlet varies to control saltwater intrusion. Flow to the fish ladder is continuous, with a daily average discharge of about 160 cfs.

In the past, the saltwater drain intake was screened to limit fish movement through this route. The saltwater drain gate was automated so that when it was necessary to control salinity, it would open only at tides less than +6.5 feet. This is intended to prevent fish from jumping upstream through the outlet and getting trapped in the diffuser well. The intake screens were removed after it was discovered they trapped debris and impinged fish on the screen face. Years later, adult fish were discovered trapped and dead in the fish ladder diffuser well. To prevent this, a newly-designed, large screen was placed in front of the intake to prevent adult fish from entering the intake and potentially ending up trapped in the diffuser well in the center of the fish ladder.¹

2.5.1.4 Spillway and Smolt Flumes

The Locks contain a dam across the southern half of the waterway (see Figure 6). This dam creates a 235-long spillway with six 32-foot-wide bays. Each bay contains a gate that can be opened to spill water. Each bay is capable of passing about 3,000 cfs at maximum discharge.

¹This screen, installed in 2008, is intended to be a temporary solution. The Corps is developing a more permanent and comprehensive solution to the diffuser well entrapment problem.
Two spillway bays contain smolt passage flumes. These flumes are specially designed slides that increase the safety of juvenile fish passage through the Locks. The flumes are also outfitted with Passive Integrated Transponder (PIT) readers that count tagged fish passing the flumes. Two smolt flumes are located in each bay. The flumes vary in entrance width size from 2 to 6 feet, with smaller flumes spilling less water than larger flumes. When fully opened, all four flumes can



Photo: Smolt flumes operating below the spillway at the Locks. Inset lower left: White cylinders at ends of flumes are PIT tag readers

discharge about 400 cfs of water.

The flumes allow water to be used more efficiently at the Locks by regulating spillway discharge at much lower flows than can be attained with the spillway gates alone. The smolt flumes have operated at the Locks since 2000. Before the current flumes were installed, an experimental flume was tested between 1995 and 1998.

2.5.1.5 Fish Ladder

The present fish ladder, located on the south side of the spillway, was completed in 1976 to help returning adult salmon pass upstream. The current ladder is 8 feet wide, with three adjustable



Photo: Fish ladder at the Locks

weirs at the upstream end, 18 fixed weirs, and two slots at the downstream entrance (Figure 10). Each weir can be thought of as a step in the ladder. To facilitate fish passage, the adjustable weirs are set based on the water depth in the Ship Canal. The slots at the downstream end can also be adjusted to facilitate fish passage at different tidal heights. Six bottom diffusers move water from the saltwater drain into the steps of fish ladder.

The ladder is designed to operate with about 23 cfs freshwater flow from the Locks forebay and a maximum of 160 cfs flow from the saltwater drain (183 cfs total flow). During low-flow conditions from July through September, the fish ladder uses 50 to 60% (330-350 cfs) of the total water amount passing through the Locks.



Fixed weirs (steps) within the fish ladder at the Locks

2.5.2 Passage Routes

The Locks contain five major structures that provide passage routes for migrating salmon. These are the large lock, small lock, spillway and smolt flumes, saltwater drain, and fish ladder.

2.5.2.1 Juvenile Passage Routes

Juvenile salmon pass through all five features of the Locks (Figure 11). However, the smolt flumes and Locks are the most used (Johnson et al. 2003b, Johnson et al. 2004a, DeVries and Hendrix 2005a). Juvenile fish may pass through the Locks one or more times. Juveniles may move upstream again after passing through the Locks and may leave the system through a different feature.

For example, a fish initially leaving through the smolt flumes may move back upstream through the small lock and then return downstream through the large lock. Juvenile fish may also be swept into the Locks filling culverts when they are in use. Fish may be damaged or killed while passing through the filling culverts, so the Corps has installed strobe lights to scare fish away from the culvert entrances before fill events start. The Corps also uses slower fill rates to reduce harm to fish swept into the culverts.



Migration routes of juvenile salmon through the Locks to the Puget Sound. Solid lines represent passage routes most likely used. Dashed lines represent routes of lesser importance

2.5.2.2 Adult Passage Routes

Adult salmon pass through four features of the Locks (Figure 12). However, the large lock and fish ladder are the most used. Adult fish may pass the Locks once, or may recycle through the Locks. Fish that recycle may use multiple pathways.

For example, an adult fish initially entering through the fish ladder may exit through the large lock and move back upstream through the fish ladder again. Alternatively, adult salmon may exit the Locks only once. In the past, adult fish could travel downstream in the saltwater drain and become entrapped in the diffuser well underneath the fish ladder. Today, a large grate keeps adult salmon out of the saltwater drain to prevent this from happening.



Migration routes of adult salmon through the Locks to Puget Sound. Solid lines are the most likely routes. Dashed lines are less important

2.5.3 Water Management

Water use at the Locks affects water levels in Lake Washington and the Ship Canal. Maintaining water elevations is important because when elevations fall below a set minimum target elevation, there is high potential for damage to the I-90 and SR-520 floating bridges and other facilities, such as supply and waste lines to overwater structures. Maintaining Lake Washington's elevation depends on three factors:

- 1. The inflow from the Cedar and Sammamish rivers and numerous tributaries to lakes Washington and Sammamish
- 2. Precipitation and evaporation in Lake Washington and the Ship Canal
- 3. Water use at the Locks

The Locks are managed to limit saltwater intrusion into the Ship Canal and provide flow for migrating salmon. Navigational responsibilities are also a concern for water management at the Locks.

The low-flow season—July through September—is a critical time for balancing competing water needs. This time period overlaps with juvenile and adult salmon passage at the Locks and the primary recreational boating season. Competing interests at the Locks and the water supply concerns upstream make water conservation at the Locks one of two primary project purposes of the LWGI.

The Corps balances use of water between different parts of the Locks facilities during the lowflow season (Table 1). The Locks, the fish ladder, and the smolt flumes use the most water during low-flow season. Both locks together pass a daily average of 80 to 100 cfs during the summer boating season. This is approximately 25% of the total water passed at the Locks during that time. The discharge of water to the fish ladder and diffuser well through the saltwater drain is 160 cfs per day, or 35 to 50% of the total water passed. The smolt flumes can use up to 25% of the water passed at the Locks during low-flow season. However, smolt passage has diminished by mid-July, so the smolt flumes are generally turned off by that time and no longer pass water. Spill through spillways is not predicted and can vary greatly. The spillways are operated more in years when there is more water within the Lake Washington system and less in drier years. It is a method for maintaining water levels in the system, especially during wet years. Leakage is a minor proportion of the total water passed at the Locks.

Table 1

Daily water use at the Locks May through September in cubic feet per second (cfs)

Facility	Water Use (in cfs / % water budget)	
	May to June	July to Sept
Large and Small Locks	100 / 13%-19%	80-100 / 18%-30%
Saltwater Drain discharge to Puget Sound	140 / 18%-27%	70 / 16%-21%
Saltwater Drain discharge to fish ladder diffuser well	160 / 21%-31%	160 / 21%-31%
Spillway	0 / 0%	0 / 0%
Smolt Flumes	100-350 / 13%-67%	0-100 / 0%-30%
Freshwater Flow to the Fish Ladder	23 / 3%-4%	23 / 5%-7%
Total water flow	520 to 770 cfs	330 to 450 cfs

2.5.4 Water Quality Conditions around the Locks

The Locks affect salinity, DO, and temperature levels in the waters upstream and downstream of the facility. Although water is exchanged above and below the Locks, they physically separate Lake Washington and Puget Sound and limit mixing that would occur in a natural estuary. At the Locks, freshwater and saltwater are predominantly exchanged in pulses from lockages. This results in unusual circulation patterns and a very small estuarine zone.

On the upstream side of the Locks, each up lockage in the large and small lock introduces cool, saline, dense water into the freshwater canal. The large lock allows about 25 times more saltwater to enter the Ship Canal during each lockage than does the small lock. Because saltwater is denser than freshwater, saltwater intrusion above the Locks creates brackish water conditions at depth. On the surface, freshwater from the Ship Canal is commonly characterized by high water temperatures and low DO levels in summer. The interface of cool, dense saltwater and warm, less dense freshwater creates a saltwater wedge that extends upstream of the Locks.

In mid-summer, the saltwater wedge just upstream from the Locks is the only stratified, or layered, part of the Ship Canal. Here, at depths of about 23 feet or deeper are the lowest temperatures and highest DO concentrations within the Ship Canal (VanRijn 2001). This area has been termed a *cool water refuge* because it provides better conditions for salmon than anywhere else in the Ship Canal (Figure 13). The cool water refuge is increasingly considered a critical habitat feature for returning adult salmon, which need cooler temperatures and higher DO levels than typical in the Ship Canal in summer. Salmon migrating between salt to freshwater also need areas of varying salinity to adapt to the freshwater environment. During summer, frequent lockages are needed to maintain the cool water refuge.



Figure 13 Cool water refuge area formed near intake to the saltwater drain at the Locks

Maintenance of the cool water refuge must be balanced with Ecology water quality standards for salinity in the Ship Canal. To protect the freshwater environment, the Corps must ensure that salinity in the Ship Canal does not exceed 1 ppt at the University Bridge (see Figure 3). Saltwater is considered to be at full salinity at 30 to 40 ppt, reduced salinity at 18 to 30 ppt, and low salinity at less than 18 ppt. Freshwater is < 0.5 ppt. Water is considered brackish between 0.5 to 30 ppt.

Saltwater intrusion into the Ship Canal is primarily an issue during the low-flow season. Given the heavy boat traffic at the Locks in the summer, decrease in river flows to the Lake Washington basin, and decrease in flume flows, saltwater can intrude into Lake Union and up to the Montlake Cut (Corps 1999). The saltwater barrier, saltwater drain, and smolt flume flows are the major methods of limiting saltwater intrusion during the summer. The saltwater barrier can be raised to limit saltwater from migrating up through the large lock chamber. The saltwater drain can drain saltwater from the bottom of the Ship Canal when it is open (see Figure 9). When open, the smolt flumes increase flow in the Ship Canal. This pushes saltwater downstream towards the Locks, where it can be removed via the saltwater drain. In the winter, freshwater flows are generally higher, and, with the saltwater drain open, salinity in the Ship Canal is kept to a minimum.

Flow through the Locks also increases the size of the freshwater lens downstream of the Locks. Freshwater is passed to Shilshole Bay via the spillways, smolt flumes, fish ladder, or in pulses during lockages. This freshwater—which is less dense than saltwater—floats on top of the water column forming a *freshwater lens*. The lens typically extends to a 7-foot depth. The freshwater lens is limited to areas immediately west of the Locks and does not often extend beyond the railroad bridge located in the inner bay (Simenstad et al. 1999). The size and depth of the freshwater flow is influenced by freshwater flowing over the Locks, location of freshwater flow

(e.g. locks, spillways), season, and tidal elevation. Salinity immediately below the Locks ranges between 10 and 29 ppt. During summer, lake water levels and available inflow limit both the amount of freshwater flowing over the spillway and the size and depth of the freshwater lens.

2.5.5 Adaptive Management at the Locks

Since the mid-1990s, the Corps has been using fish passage and water-use studies to adaptively manage Locks operations. The intent of adaptive management in this case has been 1) to increase successful passage of salmon smolts and 2) to conserve water use at the Locks. A number of these studies and resulting Lock operational changes are discussed in Chapter 3, Summary of Research Findings.

The Corps has used adaptive management to make the following changes at the Locks:

- Installing smolt flumes in the spillway to improve smolt passage conditions and survival
- Installing strobe lights at the entrance to the large lock filling culverts to reduce entrainment of smolts and subsequent injury and death
- Filling the lock chambers more slowly to reduce smolt entrainment in the filling culverts
- Conducting yearly scraping of the lock filling culverts to remove barnacles that can cause smolt injury and descaling of entrained smolts
- Increasing lockages in warmer months to replenish oxygen levels in the cool water refuge upstream of the Locks for adult salmon
- Increased Lake Washington and Ship Canal fill rate to provide as much water as possible to run up to all smolt flumes and meet water elevation goals by May 31
- Operating the smolt flumes in lieu of the old saltwater drain as long as this flow controls saltwater intrusion into the Ship Canal
- Installation of a large screen over the saltwater drain inlet to prevent adult fish from entering the saltwater drain system
- Operating the saltwater drain outlet to Puget Sound only when tides are less than +6.5 feet to prevent adult fish from jumping up into the saltwater drain system

For juveniles, these changes have improved fish passage. For example, most smolts pass the spillway flumes when at least two flumes are operating (Johnson et al. 2003b, Johnson et al. 2004b, DeVries and Hendrix 2005a)². Based on tests in 2002, strobe lights were shown to reduce the number of juvenile fish trapped in the large lock filling culvert by 75% (Johnson et al. 2005). Slower lock fill rates are decreasing entrainment rates. Barnacle removal is reducing smolt injury by an estimated 75% (WDFW unpub data).

For adults, evaluation of management changes is either preliminary or not directly measurable. The installation of the temporary saltwater drain intake screen in 2008 and ongoing operation of the drain outlet only at high tides have reduced and may have eliminated entrapment of adults in the fish ladder diffuser well. However, the changes are too recent to provide a measure of effectiveness. Other changes have resulted in improved water quality conditions, but the response of adult salmon has not been measured or is uncertain. The increased use of the large lock chamber improves water quality in the cool water refuge where adult Chinook hold for extended periods. Passing water through smolt flumes in July and August creates a larger freshwater lens near the fish ladder.

² This varies depending on month and water temperature.

2.6 Lake Washington Basin Salmon

The Lake Washington watershed is home to Chinook, coho, and sockeye salmon, and steelhead, rainbow, cutthroat, and bull trout. Salmon and some trout and char are anadromous fish, which migrate to saltwater to mature and complete their lifecycle by returning to their natal freshwater stream to spawn. After spawning, salmon die. Anadromous trout may pass between the freshwater and marine environments and spawn more than once.

While Lake Washington contains the largest sockeye run in the lower 48 states, the number of Chinook salmon and steelhead trout in the lake has generally declined in the past 20 years (Burgner 1991, Weitkamp et al. 1995, Myers et al. 1998). Sockeye salmon in the lake have been depressed over the last few years, while Chinook numbers have indicated stronger returns. The National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) listed Puget Sound Chinook salmon as *Threatened* in March 1999 under the ESA (64 FR-14308). In November of 1999, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) listed Puget Sound bull trout as *Threatened* (64 FR 58910). Puget Sound coho salmon are considered a species of concern, with a potential for future listing, and Puget Sound steelhead were listed *Threatened* ESA in May of 2007 (50 CFR Part 223). The LWGI focuses on protection and restoration of four species of salmonids in the Lake Washington basin:

- 1. Chinook salmon, Oncorhynchus tshawytscha
- 2. coho salmon, O. kisutch
- 3. sockeye salmon, O. nerka
- 4. steelhead trout, O. mykiss

2.6.1 Stocks

Lake Washington contains several stocks of salmon and trout (Table 2). *Stocks* are groups of same species fish that differ from other groups in how and when they use habitat. Chinook salmon are broken into two stocks: 1) Cedar River, 2) Sammamish River (Warheit and Bettles 2005). There are two identified coho stocks in the watershed: 1) Cedar River and 2) the Lake Washington and Sammamish tributaries (WDFW 2002). Sockeye in the basin are separated into three stocks: 1) Cedar River, 2) the Lake Washington and Sammamish tributaries, and 3) Lake Washington beach spawning. There is one Lake Washington steelhead stock.

Table 2

Salmon stocks in the Lake Washington basin identified in the Salmonid Stock Inventory (SaSI)

Species	SaSi	Hatchery Influence
Chinook	Cedar River	About 1/3 of returning adults to Cedar River are hatchery fish
	Sammamish River	Composite stock of hatchery and naturally produced fish
Coho	Cedar River	Appears to be minimal hatchery influence from observations at the Landsburg fish ladder. Hatchery releases into the river ended 1970. Some small, educational plantings still occur
Sockeye	Cedar River	Composite stock of hatchery and naturally produced fish. Stock may have originated partially from Baker Lake plantings
	Lake Washington and Sammamish tributaries	Mostly naturally produced fish. Stock may have originated partially from Baker Lake plantings
	Lake Washington Beach Spawning	Natural production originated from Baker Lake plantings
Steelhead		Natural production with past hatchery influence. Records show hatchery plants into Lake Washington basin from 1933 through 2001. Hatchery plants in Cedar ceased after 1993

Source: WDFW 2002

Wild salmon and trout populations in the Lake Washington watershed have long been influenced by hatchery fish stocked in the system. Chinook salmon were introduced from the Green River system (located one watershed to the south and historically connected). The Issaquah Hatchery, located on Issaquah Creek (Lake Sammamish tributary), produces large numbers of Chinook salmon (HSRG 2002). Some of these return to spawn in Lake Washington tributaries, including the Cedar River and Bear Creek. Coho salmon are also produced at the Issaquah Hatchery.

The University of Washington (UW) also operates a hatchery for Chinook and coho salmon in Portage Bay. There is also a sockeye salmon hatchery on the Cedar River (HSRG 2002). Sockeye were not present in Lake Washington in significant numbers before the opening of the Ship Canal and Locks. Their numbers increased substantially following a series of introductions that occurred between the 1930s and 1960s (Shaklee et al. 1996). Kokanee, the freshwater form of sockeye, were likely present in the lake Washington system before the opening of the Ship Canal and Locks. Research suggests kokanee still occur in small numbers in Lake Sammamish.

2.6.2 Life-History Characteristics

Anadromous salmon and trout follow a basic lifecycle that varies with species, environment, and fish size. Adults migrate into a river or creek to spawn. Females deposit eggs in an egg nest called a *redd* and male fish fertilize the eggs. After spawning, the adult salmon die, although some trout



Basic lifecycle of anadromous fish

may migrate back out to sea and return to spawn again in later years. Eggs incubate in the river or stream for about 4 months before emerging as small fish, called *fry*. Fry may rear in the stream for months or years or head downstream soon after emergence to rear in nonriver habitats (Quinn 2005, Volkardt 2006).

Fry grow into fingerlings in the freshwater environment. When they reach a certain size they undergo physiological changes, become smolts, and migrate to saltwater. Once in the ocean, the fish are considered sub-adults and continue to grow before maturing into adults and returning to the stream where they were born to spawn (Bjornn and Reiser 1991, Quinn 2005).

Lake Washington basin salmon species differ in the timing and areas that they use for spawning, rearing, and migration

(Hendry and Quinn 1997, Fresh and Lucchetti 2000). Each species faces various challenges. For Lake Washington salmonids, Chinook salmon have been studied the most extensively.

Table 3 summarizes life-history characteristics of all salmon in the Lake Washington basin. Known life-history traits and concerns for each species are reflected as conceptual models presented in Chapter 4.

Table 3

Life-History characteristics of anadromous salmon in the Lake Washington basin

Characteristic	Species			
	Chinook	Sockeye	Coho ³	Steelhead ³
Escapement				
Mean (years)	819 (1994-2007)	133,234 (1994- 2007)	871 (1998-2006)	199 (1980-2007)
Lowest	294 in 1997	25,950 in 1999 ³	246 in 2006	8 in 2006-2007 season
Escapement goal	1,500	350,000	15,000	1,600
Spawning				
Duration	Aug-Nov	Oct-Dec	Oct-Feb	Mar-Sept
Peak	Oct	Oct-Nov	Nov-Dec	May
Primary habitat	Mainstem	Mainstem	Tributaries Mainstem	Mainstem, Tributaries
Emergence				
Duration	Jan-June	Jan-Apr	Mar-April	Late May-early Aug
Peak	Feb-Mar	Mar-Apr	Mar	Jul
Freshwater Residence				
Habitat	Lake, littoral; lake limnetic	Lake, limnetic	Tributaries; rivers	Tributaries; rivers; lake, limnetic
Duration (yrs)	<1	0.5-2.3	1.5	2
Dominant type (yrs)	<1	1.3	1.5	2
Outmigration Timing				
Duration	May-Sep	April-June	April-July	Apr-June
Peak	June	May	May	May
Marine Residence (yrs)				
Range	2-5	1-3	0.5-1.5	2-3
Most common	4	2	1.5	2-3

Source: WDFW

³ Coho and steelhead returns to the system have been lower in recent years than previous years

3. Summary of Research Findings

Many studies have focused on salmon within Lake Washington and along their migration from Lake Washington to Puget Sound. In this section, we summarize the results of recent (primarily late 1990s to the present) research findings for juvenile and adult salmon. A number of these studies were conducted as part of the LWGI. The main sources of data for this report include LWGI-sponsored research conducted by the Corps and SPU, agency reports, and published literature. Available reports and data have been used to the fullest extent possible, and biases and/or drawbacks of research are discussed when necessary. There are several ongoing studies in the area or studies that have not yet been formally published. As more studies are completed on the system, the results will undoubtedly alter some statements in this report.

Most of the following information is grouped by general location primarily for the convenience of summarizing the research. These spatial distinctions are artificial because the fish experience the system as a whole.

3.1 Juveniles

The juvenile research findings are grouped by location:

- 1. Lake Washington Residency
- 2. Lake Washington Outmigration
- 3. Ship Canal and Lake Union Outmigration
- 4. Passage at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks (Locks)
- 5. Estuarine Transition in Salmon and Shilshole Bays
- 6. Puget Sound Residency

Information is further divided into three categories: timing, habitat and behavior, and survival risks. Then, individual study topics are presented as they have occurred in the literature. The studies are organized by species when appropriate, but for juveniles, multiple species are often included in the same study. In general, there is more information on Chinook and sockeye than on coho or steelhead.

3.1.1 Lake Washington Residency

Chinook, coho, sockeye, and steelhead occur within the Lake Washington basin. With extensive urbanization of the Lake Washington basin, habitat conditions have declined for juvenile salmon and steelhead (see Chapter 2). Cumulatively, these alterations influence juvenile salmon migration movements, rearing behavior, prey availability, and predator behavior and distribution (Warner and Fresh 1998, Kahler et al. 2000, Fresh et al. 2001, Tabor et al. 2004a,b, Koehler et al. 2006, Beauchamp et al. 2004, Mazur and Beauchamp 2006, Overman et al. 2006, Tabor et al. 2007a).

3.1.1.1 Residency Timing

Juvenile salmon species vary in the length of time they reside in Lake Washington and the locations they occupy. Chinook salmon fry enter Lake Washington between January and March,

while fingerlings enter from mid-May to early June (Seiler et al. 2004, Volkhardt et al. 2006, Koehler et al. 2006). Juvenile Chinook fry migrants that enter the lake in January appear to be pushed downstream by high winter and early spring flows (Volkhardt et al. 2006). Upon reaching Lake Washington, fry use the lake for 1 to 4 months as rearing habitat before migrating to Puget Sound (DeVries et al. 2005, Seiler et al. 2005). In contrast, fingerling migrants rear in rivers and creeks for 2 to 6 months before moving into the lake (Paron and Nelson 2001, Seiler et al. 2005, Sergeant and Beauchamp 2006, Volkardt et al. 2006). Lake-rearing Chinook fry grow rapidly and attain larger sizes than juvenile Chinook in nearby freshwater systems of Puget Sound (Koehler et al. 2006). While most juvenile Chinook leave the lake for Puget Sound by summer, a very small percentage of the Chinook population appears to stay in Lake Washington for 1 to 2 years (DeVries et al. 2005, D. Beauchamp unpub data).

Sockeye salmon fry enter Lake Washington from the Cedar River between about mid-January and mid-May (Seiler et al. 2005). They enter at a very small size (about 1.2 inches) and spend over 1 year rearing in the lake. In contrast, coho smolts rear in natal streams for over a year before entering the lake between April and June. Juvenile coho are thought to spend little time in the lake and only pass through on their way to Puget Sound. Steelhead smolts enter the lake in May and are thought to outmigrate quickly. However, they have been caught in limnetic areas in May (Beauchamp 1995, unpub data).

3.1.1.2 Habitat Use and Behavior

The habitat use of juvenile salmon in Lake Washington varies based on time of day and their size (i.e. fry versus fingerling) and season. In January and February, Chinook fry tend to congregate close to shore in the southern end of Lake Washington near the mouth of the Cedar River (Tabor et al. 2004a). There is a substantial increase in the number of juvenile Chinook using nearshore areas of south Lake Washington in early March. As the season progresses, Chinook fry disperse further along the lake shoreline and can be found roughly between Seward Park on the western shoreline and May Creek on the eastern shoreline, including the southern end of Mercer Island (Tabor et al. 2006). Larger juvenile Chinook—both those that entered as fry and have grown in the lake and those that enter the lake as fingerlings—tend to move into deeper waters by late spring/early summer.

Chinook use of the lake varies from other salmon and steelhead. Juvenile sockeye spend over 1 year in the lake, and inhabit deep water (or limnetic) areas. Coho salmon are mainly found in littoral zones. Lake Washington habitat use by juvenile steelhead is poorly understood.

Chinook Fry

Chinook salmon behavior in the lake varies by cohort and time of year. One cohort enters the lake from mid-January through March, with a peak in late February. A second group rear in tributary streams for several weeks and migrate to Lake Washington as fingerlings from April through late June, with a peak in mid-May (Seiler et al. 2005). Juvenile Chinook in the lake are consistently larger than those measured in tributaries (Koehler et al. 2006). Chinook generally inhabit the littoral zone as fry or fingerlings when they first enter the lake, but spend some time in deeper, limnetic waters before migrating into the Ship Canal. When the fish use deeper waters, they are larger in size, deep water prey resources are available, and littoral zone temperatures are higher.

Field observations have found that Chinook salmon fry prefer depths generally less than 1.6 feet deep, gentle slopes, and sand-silt substrates (Piaskowski and Tabor 2001, Tabor and Piaskowski 2002, Sergeant and Beauchamp 2006, Tabor et al. 2006). During the day, Chinook fry are commonly observed in aggregations (sometimes with sockeye), actively feeding on chironomid pupae at the water surface and in water depths up to 13 feet deep. At night, Chinook fry are no

longer grouped, are inactive, and usually on the bottom in shallow water close to shore (Tabor and Piaskowski 2002, Tabor et al. 2004a).

A variety of surveys from lakes Washington, Sammamish, and Quinault indicate that overhead cover is an important habitat feature for small Chinook salmon in lakes (Paron and Nelson 2001, Tabor et al. 2006). During the day, field studies in Lake Washington have found greater densities of Chinook fry in areas with woody debris and overhead cover (Tabor et al. 2006). However, at night Chinook fry appear to move away from woody debris and into open water areas.

For example, in an area of Gene Coulon Park with woody debris and overhead cover, only 2% of Chinook salmon fry observed were in open shoreline sections during the day, but 46% were in these sections at night. Of the Chinook seen within survey sections with structure, 65% were located in open areas, away from the structure (Tabor et al. 2006). These field results have not been corroborated by Sergeant and Beauchamp (2006), where Chinook showed a weak response to substrate type, overhanging vegetation, and woody debris during laboratory trials. It is hypothesized that Chinook fry use woody debris and overhead vegetation during the day as refuge from predators. When there is less predation risk, the fish then move into openwater areas, away from cover.

Bank armoring (e.g. bulkheads), docks, and piers influence Chinook salmon fry habitat use. Juvenile Chinook are found in much higher numbers along unarmored shorelines than along armored shorelines (Paron and Nelson 2001, Tabor and Piaskowski 2002, Tabor et al. 2006). Natural shorelines tend to offer a wider range of water depths, while armored shorelines truncate the shallow water zone, especially as Lake Washington's water elevations increase in the spring. Armored shorelines often also have limited or no overhanging vegetation and woody debris, which can offer cover for Chinook fry. Shallow water can serve as refuge from predatory fishes because predators cannot forage effectively in very shallow water. Bank armoring eliminates most of this shallow water refuge. Vertical bulkheads can also have localized effects on bottom slope and substrate type by altering wave energy and silt deposition (Sergeant and Beauchamp 2006). Riprap shorelines are also ideal habitat for large prickly sculpin, predators of Chinook. So, riprap may increase predation risk to Chinook (R. Tabor pers comm). While armored shorelines appear to limit habitat for Chinook fry, docks and piers are sometimes used as a substitute for natural overhead cover during the day in February and March (Tabor and Piaskowski 2002).

A number of studies indicate that Chinook salmon fry are attracted to non-natal tributaries in Lake Washington, and use creek mouths or the low reaches of tributaries for rearing (Tabor et al. 2004a). Potentially large numbers of Chinook use these creeks. For example, as many as 632 Chinook fry were observed in the lower 853 feet of Johns Creek. The use of non-natal tributaries is based on distance from the natal river and size of the tributary. Juveniles may avoid larger creeks because of large predatory fish in the area. Creek deltas offer preferred habitat, specifically shallow water, gradual slopes, and sand substrates. Juvenile Chinook use of creek deltas may also provide better foraging opportunities than adjacent lake shorelines. For example, the abundance of Chinook increased during a high flow event at May Creek, a tributary to Lake Washington (Tabor et al. 2006). An increase in prey availability and flow may attract Chinook to lake tributaries during storms.

In cases where Chinook salmon are using habitat in the tributary, use appears related to their ability to access the creek and find refuge and foraging opportunities (Tabor et al. 2004a). Habitat use studies within Johns Creek, a tributary to Lake Washington close to the mouth of the Cedar River, found that Chinook mostly used glides and scour pools (Tabor et al. 2006). Fry density

⁴ From data at Johns Creek (R. Tabor pers comm).

was greatest in glides during February and early March, but as the fish grew, their density in the glides dramatically declined. When fish were found in glides during late March and early April, they were almost always under overhanging vegetation. Scour pools were used from February to May, with fish using shallow edges and tailouts in February and progressively moving into deeper areas of the pools by the end of March. Scour pool densities were greatest in April and May.

Larger Juvenile Chinook

As juvenile Chinook salmon grow, their habitat needs change in response to their prey resources, predation risks, and migration needs. During May and June, fry in the lake have reached a larger size and are joined by fingerlings that have been rearing in the Sammamish and Cedar River systems. These larger fish are found in slightly deeper waters along the lake shoreline (Martz et al. 1996, Warner and Fresh 1998). Fine-scale acoustic tracking of juvenile Chinook in May and June have found the fish in waters between 3 to 18 feet deep during the day, primarily over sand and gravel substrates. Very few fish are found in areas with cobble and larger substrates (Tabor et al. 2004a, 2006). At night, fine-scale acoustic tracking studies show that fish move into offshore limnetic areas (Celedonia et al. 2008a,b). These tracking data are corroborated by daytime observations that show that Chinook salmon often feed in water 6.6 to 13.2 feet deep and migrate parallel to the shoreline in similar water depths of 6.8 to 14.8 feet (Tabor et al. 2006).

Juvenile Chinook salmon also tend to avoid overhead cover as they grow. Tabor et al. (2004a) found that juvenile Chinook did not extensively use cover as they increase in size. During May few Chinook used overhead and small woody debris during either daytime or nighttime (Tabor et al. 2006, Celedonia et al. 2008a,b). However, juvenile Chinook may occasionally use small woody debris and overhead vegetation for cover when predators are present (Tabor et al. 2006). Similarly, larger juvenile Chinook also avoid docks and piers and will move into deeper water as they approach overwater structures (Tabor et al. 2004a, 2006, Gayaldo and Nelson 2006). It is likely that larger Chinook are using deeper water and avoiding overhead cover to balance their predation risks from other fish and birds. This hypothesis, while not tested in Lake Washington, is supported by research by Power (1984).

Sockeye Salmon

Sockeye salmon use of Lake Washington varies. When sockeye fry first enter the lake environment, they may inhabit shallow water areas such as river deltas at night (R. Tabor pers comm). Sockeye fry are also commonly found in other parts of the littoral zone (Martz et al. 1996) but the actual amount of time fry are present in this area is not known. Most of the time, sockeye fry travel in schools in limnetic areas. They are generally located below 66 feet (Woodey 1972). Juvenile sockeye in the lake show consistent movement patterns. They ascend to feed at dusk, staying in shallower waters until daybreak and descend to daytime depths after dusk (Eggers 1978). The difference between the deep and shallow waters inhabited by juvenile sockeye can be up to 43 feet. During summer stratification, sockeye are confined to the deeper, cool waters because of high temperatures on Lake Washington's surface (D. Beauchamp pers comm). During this period, sockeye are unable to access the high densities of zooplankton in the warm waters.

Kokanee are present in the Lake Washington system. While kokanee fry have never been distinguished from sockeye fry in Lake Washington, larger kokanee have been identified in limnetic waters. Kokanee with fork lengths 5.9 to 11.8 inches have been captured in modest but consistent numbers with gill nets, purse seines, and a large midwater trawl during spring and fall hydroacoustic-midwater trawl surveys during 2001 to 2006 (D. Beauchamp unpub data).

Coho Salmon and Steelhead

Not much information is known about the habitat use of coho salmon and steelhead in Lake Washington. Both are thought to enter Lake Washington at a larger size, which would influence their preferred habitats. In Lake Sammamish, however, coho salmon fry (likely hatchery fry released from Issaquah Hatchery) exhibited habitat use patterns similar to those of Chinook fry. Coho were more strongly affiliated with woody debris (Tabor and Piaskowski 2002, R. Tabor pers comm).

3.1.1.3 Survival Risks

Juvenile salmon survival within Lake Washington depends on the ability to find enough food and to avoid predators. There are other aspects of their lake residency that also impact survival, but these two factors have been the best studied.

Food

For Chinook salmon, diet studies illustrate that juveniles are opportunistic feeders. Juvenile Chinook consume a wide variety of prey items and appear to quickly switch to a locally abundant prey source (Tabor et al. 2006). Two major prey resources within Lake Washington are chironomids and the zooplankton *Daphnia*. While *Daphnia* typically do not become abundant in the lake until June, chironomids are abundant in the nearshore areas of Lake Washington most of the year (Koehler 2002). Where juvenile Chinook are close to lake tributary mouths, benthic and terrestrial insects can be more prevalent in their diets. However, the urbanized shoreline of Lake Washington reduces the availability of these prey items (Koehler et al. 2006).

Juvenile sockeye salmon primarily eat zooplankton, with an emphasis on copepods earlier in the spring and a switch to *Daphnia* spp. when that food source becomes more abundant in June (Chigbu and Sibley 1994, Martz et al. 1996, Beauchamp et al. 2004). Earlier in the spring juvenile sockeye also consume chironomids (Beauchamp et al. 2004). These feeding habits correspond with their residence in limnetic areas of the lake. Bioenergetic modeling for sockeye and Chinook salmon indicates that food availability does not limit the growth and survival of either salmon species while inhabiting Lake Washington (Beauchamp et al. 2004, Koehler et al. 2006).

The size of Chinook and sockeye salmon smolts upon outmigration corroborates the modeling results because they are among the largest found within their species range on the West Coast of the United States. (Duffy et al. 2005). Key prey items for Chinook and sockeye during lake residency include copepods, chironomids, and *Daphnia* (Chigbu and Sibley 1994, Martz et al. 1996, Koehler et al. 2006, Beauchamp et al. 2004). Chinook appear to feed to a large extent at the water surface. Visual observations of Tabor et al. (2007) show this. Chinook also consume chironomid pupae, adult chironomids, and terrestrial insects that are associated with the water's surface (Koehler et al. 2006).

In the lake, steelhead and coho salmon at smaller sizes are likely to eat similar prey items to those consumed by Chinook and sockeye. However, as these fish grow larger, they may switch to eating other fish. Coho and steelhead 11.8 inches FL are highly piscivorous on smelt, juvenile perch, and salmon in Lake Washington (McIntyre et al. 2006, Overman et al. in review, D. Beauchamp unpub data).

Predation

A number of salmon predators occur in Lake Washington. These include native cutthroat trout, rainbow trout, prickly sculpin (*Cottus asper*), juvenile coho and northern pike minnow and non-native yellow perch, smallmouth bass (*Micropterus dolomieui*), and largemouth bass (*M*.

salmoides). Piscivorous (fish-eating) birds—western grebes, mergansers, cormorants, and great blue herons—are also a potential predator on juvenile salmon in the Lake Washington basin. Predation rates in Lake Washington reflect the extent to which juvenile salmon and their predators use the same habitat. If predators overlap with juvenile salmon, consumption rates depend on habitat structure, water temperature, and the body size of both predator and prey (Martz et al. 1996, Nowak et al. 2004, Tabor et al. 2004b).

Sampling of 1,875 predatory fish nearshore in southern Lake Washington from February to June 1995 and 1997 showed only 15 juvenile Chinook salmon in the stomachs of cutthroat trout, prickly sculpin, smallmouth bass, and largemouth bass. Most of the predation loss was attributed to prickly sculpin, which had a substantially larger population size than the other predators. Predatory fish were thought to have consumed less than 10% of the juvenile Chinook that entered the lake from the Cedar River (Tabor et al. 2004b). Based on sockeye salmon fry estimates from Bear Creek and the Cedar River and pre-smolt surveys in recent years, sockeye survival in Lake Washington varies between 2% and 7% (Overman et al. 2006). Therefore, lake predation can substantially impact survival rates of Chinook and sockeye in the Lake Washington watershed. However, it should be noted that it is difficult to conduct predation studies on naturally-produced Chinook due to low numbers of these fish.

During diving surveys in 2000 and 2001, smallmouth bass were observed to use shallow depths in May and June (possibly for spawning) and then shift to deeper water in July and August. Smallmouth bass tend to use shoreline areas devoid of vegetation with gravel and cobble and a gradual slope with a drop-off (Pflug and Pauley 1984, K. Fresh unpub data). Acoustic tracking of mallmouth bass indicates they are usually closely associated with one of three habitat types: 1) overwater structures, 2) steep sloping riprap or bulkheads or 3) the offshore edge of aquatic plants (Celedonia et al. 2008b). Smaller-sized smallmouth bass were observed during diving surveys to occur mostly in shallow areas around 3.3 to 13 feet deep and were most closely associated with structure. On the other hand, larger bass were found at greater depths not often associated with structure. Three-quarters (74.4%) of the bass population was observed within a 6.6 feet distance from structural features such as constructed cover, overwater structure, natural structure (boulders, ledges, walls), and structurally complex large woody debris. Most bass used docks and other artificial structures (Celedonia et al. 2008a,b). Distribution shifts to deeper littoral zones in later summer were theorized to reflect milfoil growth (K. Fresh unpub data). Smallmouth bass also seem to be more active at dawn and dusk than during other periods (Celedonia et al. 2008b).

Smallmouth bass overlap with juvenile Chinook salmon in Lake Washington in May and June, when both are in shoreline areas. In an experimental study of predation on juvenile Chinook, Sergeant and Beauchamp (2006) found that the Chinook did not change habitat use in the presence of predators, which could increase predation risks. Predation rates reflect physical conditions. In low water temperatures, where most Chinook are, smallmouth bass do not feed as actively as they do above 68°F (20°C) (Wydoski and Whitney 2003). Chinook also avoid overhead cover, docks and piers, and coarser substrates used by bass, reducing spatial overlap (Tabor et. al 2004a; Gayaldo and Nelson 2006, Tabor et al. 2006, Celedonia et al. 2008a,b). Low predation on Chinook by smallmouth bass may also be due to an abundance of alternative prey such as sculpin (R. Tabor pers comm). Additionally, juvenile Chinook move in deeper waters by late May and early June, and low predation may be due to reduced availability of Chinook.

One study assessed the impact of predation by smallmouth bass on sockeye salmon in Lake Washington Fayram and Sibley (2000). Based on ultrasonic tracking, limited spatial and temporal overlap occurred between smallmouth bass and juvenile sockeye. Some overlap occurred in the littoral zone during migration of sockeye fry from the Cedar River into the lake and during smolt outmigration from the lake through the Ship Canal and into Puget Sound. Salmon occurred in smallmouth bass stomachs only during the outmigration period. For smallmouth bass longer than

6 inches, juvenile salmon constituted 28% of their diet in the lake. The salmon in the diet samples for this study were not identified to species, so the impact on individual species such as sockeye or Chinook was not determined.

Largemouth bass are also predators of juvenile salmon. Their predation on Chinook salmon has not been well studied. They are suspected to consume young of the year, outmigrating sockeye salmon in June and July (E. Warner pers comm).

Cutthroat trout have been observed to prey upon juvenile Chinook and sockeye salmon (Nowak et al. 2004, Beauchamp et al. 2007). There are higher predation rates on sockeye by cutthroat trout than by juvenile coho salmon, rainbow trout, prickly sculpin, smallmouth bass, and yellow perch in the littoral zone of southern Lake Washington (Tabor and Chan 1996, 1997, Nowak et al. 2004). Nowak et al. (2004) observed that cutthroat trout ate sockeye juveniles most heavily in winter and spring. Smaller cutthroat in the littoral zone appear to feed on sockeye when the two occur in the same geographical area. Larger cutthroat trout appear to feed on larger sockeye juveniles in the limetic zone. Cutthroat trout consume Chinook in littoral and limetic zones, although Chinook appear in cutthroat diets infrequently (Beauchamp et al. 2007). Reduced cutthroat trout predation rates in May and June are observed and may reflect the increased size and improved swimming ability of juvenile Chinook salmon (Tabor et al. 2004b). Estimates vary for the cutthroat population in Lake Washington. Acoustic surveys, models, and catch-per-unit-effort estimates range from 30,000 to 64,000 (Beauchamp et al. 2007). Depending on the actual number of cutthroat in Lake Washington, cutthroat trout may impact the survival of juvenile Chinook and sockeye in the lake.

Both cutthroat trout and pikeminnow also exerted similar to somewhat higher predation mortality rates on smelt and sticklebacks in 2005 and 2006. No predation was detected on the larger coho and steelhead smolts.

The northern pikeminnow has also been suspected of consuming enough juvenile salmon in Lake Washington to impact survival. Pikeminnow are thought to use littoral areas during the winter where they may overlap with juvenile Chinook salmon and limnetic areas during the summer where they overlap with juvenile sockeye salmon (Olney 1975, Brocksmith 1999). However, most tagged pikeminnow in a recent study were tracked in the littoral zone. Hydroacoustic tracking shows that pikeminnow are strongly associated with overwater structures, are most active at night, and are often present where moderate levels of macrophytes exist (Celedonia et al. 2008a). In a recent study, three-spine stickleback were found to be the primary fish prey of northern pikeminnow (Beauchamp et al. 2007). However, annual estimates of northern pikeminnow-caused mortality were 0.2 to 1.4% for sockeye and 0 to 0.1% for Chinook.

Prickly sculpin may be an important predator on salmon because there is a large population in Lake Washington. Sculpin overlap with Chinook salmon in the littoral zone, where higher sculpin densities were noted in cobble areas than in sandy areas (Tabor et al. 1998). However, once Chinook are over 2.9 inches FL they are less vulnerable to prickly sculpin predation (Tabor et al. 2004b). Most Chinook predation loss during surveys from February to June 1995 and 1997 were attributed to prickly sculpin. So far, predation estimates have only included very small sample sizes of prickly sculpin (R. Tabor pers comm). Since juvenile Chinook avoid cobble and larger substrates, their behavior may reduce predation risks from prickly sculpin. Prickly sculpin consume sockeye salmon in littoral and deep, benthic areas of Lake Washington (Tabor et al. 2007b).

There is concern over the role of bird predation during juvenile salmon lake residency. Great blue herons, mergansers, cormorants, and western grebes are common in the south end of the lake during late winter, spring, and early summer. While bird predation occurs, it has not been examined. For wading birds such as herons, the lack of extensive shallow wading areas may limit

the impacts of their predation. Diving birds such as grebes and mergansers do not face such limitations. There is little research on the impact of fish-eating birds on salmon in Lake Washington.

Predation in Lake Washington has been affected by increased lighting at night from surrounding urban areas. Artificial light can reflect off of clouds or directly shine into the water. Increased light at night has increased cutthroat trout predation (Mazur and Beauchamp 2006). Additionally, herons and grebes have been observed foraging at night near artificial lighting and may prey on juvenile Chinook salmon, which appear to be attracted to lights (R. Tabor pers comm).

3.1.2 Lake Washington Outmigration

Juvenile salmon migrate through Lake Washington at different ages and under different circumstances. This section summarizes information about their timing, habitat use and behavior, and survival risks during outmigration. Lake conditions influence all of these life-history characteristics.

3.1.2.1 Outmigration Timing and Age

Juvenile salmon migration out of Lake Washington starts in April and continues until June or early July. Juvenile sockeye salmon generally outmigrate at 1 year in age after spending the previous summer and winter rearing in the lake. However, some sockeye outmigrate in their first year of life, without extensive rearing in freshwater. In some years, the young-of-year sockeye outmigrants can be up to 15% of the population (E. Warner pers comm). Coho salmon are also about 1 year of age, having spent their first year primarily rearing in natal streams and rivers. Outmigrating Chinook salmon are the youngest to leave the lake—they outmigrate within the first year of their life. However, young-of-year sockeye and 1-year-old Chinook have also been noted to outmigrate.

3.1.2.2 Habitat Use and Behavior

Chinook salmon outmigrant behavior has been examined in Lake Washington through observation-based studies and limited fine-scale acoustic tracking. Observations of migrating Chinook indicate that these fish aggregate and move along the shoreline during the day, generally in water depths of 6.8 to 14.8 feet (Tabor et al. 2004a, 2006). Groups of Chinook often encounter docks and piers in their migration. Surveys in 2004 and 2005 found that migrating Chinook would move into deeper water upon encountering a dock or pier and would either pass along the end of the pier (if the pier was shorter) or pass underneath longer piers when they had moved into deeper waters. Chinook behavior near piers and their offshore migration at night may both be responses to predation risk, water characteristics such as clarity, temperature, and migration stage (Celedonia et al. 2008a).

Chinook salmon entrance into the Ship Canal is sometimes stalled, especially later in the season. In fact, some fish may not enter the Ship Canal at all. PIT-tagged fish released on the west side of Union Bay showed a declining trend in detections at the Ballard Locks between mid-May and late-June (DeVries et al. 2005). Likewise, observations of acoustic tagged fish tracked from Lake Washington⁵ into the Ship Canal decrease in late June (Celedonia et al. 2008a).

Surface observations along the western shore of Lake Washington show both northerly and southerly movements of Chinook salmon schools (Tabor et al. 2006, R. Tabor unpub data). Some cycling behavior occurs, as well, where Chinook move south from the Ship Canal during the night and migrate back towards the Ship Canal during the day (Celedonia et al. 2008b). Southerly

⁵ State Route 520 Bridge.

travel represents upstream movement away from the estuary and can be interpreted as an inhibition to enter the Ship Canal at the Montlake Cut. This inhibition may be explained by the lack of habitat provided in the Montlake Cut. Northward migrating smolts are consistently observed in water 19.7 feet deep (Tabor et al. 2006, Celedonia 2008a,b). The Montlake Cut is about 32.8 feet deep, much deeper than what the fish use in the lake. This may prevent fish initially from moving into the Ship Canal.

Outmigration behaviors of sockeye, coho, and steelhead have not been studied in Lake Washington.

3.1.2.3 Survival Risks

Prey and predation of salmon and steelhead leaving Lake Washington have not been specifically studied.

3.1.3 Ship Canal and Lake Union Outmigration

The Ship Canal connects Lake Washington with Portage Bay, Lake Union, the Locks and Puget Sound, serving as the migration corridor for outmigrating juvenile salmon (see Figure 3). This section describes migration timing, habitat use and behavior, and survival risks of outmigrating salmon and steelhead. Ship Canal and Lake Union water temperatures are a prominent feature and concern for salmon migrating through the area.

3.1.3.1 Migration Timing and Rates

From mid-May to late June, coho and sockeye salmon pass from Lake Washington through the Ship Canal and Lake Union. These fish have typically spent a year rearing in the basin. However, a small number of sockeye may leave as young-of-year fish. Some coho may spend multiple years rearing in freshwater (DeVries et. al. 2005). Sockeye and coho pass through the Ship Canal in a matter of days and do not spend much time milling about in the Ship Canal before transitioning to saltwater. Microacoustic-tagged coho were found to spend 1 to 2 days in the Ship Canal (Johnson et al 2004c)

Chinook salmon smolts typically pass through the Ship Canal in May and June as age-0 fish. However, some Chinook leave the basin as 2-year olds. The outmigration timing of juvenile Chinook through the Ship Canal and Locks appears to be later than that in any other stock in the Puget Sound basin.

PIT-tagging studies of juvenile Chinook salmon have found that juveniles may spend 2 to 4 weeks moving through the area (DeVries et al. 2005). Microacoustic tagging studies of juvenile Chinook have found that these fish can exhibit highly variable migration behaviors. Some fish migrate rapidly and others mill along the migration corridor. Studies in 2004 and 2005 found juvenile Chinook averaging about 40 hours to pass from Portage Bay to the Locks (Johnson et al 2004b) (Table 4). More detailed tracking information found that some Chinook smolts spend several days in Portage Bay before moving on to Lake Union (Celedonia et al. 2008b, unpub data). Tagged Chinook smolts spend 4 to 7 days in parts of Lake Union, including the south end. Tagged fish spent 1 to 4 days in north Lake Union near Gasworks Park (R. Tabor and M. Celedonia unpub data). The fish spend more time in Lake Union than in other areas of the Ship Canal. Recent microacoustic tagging research by USFWS will provide more information on juvenile Chinook movement through Lake Union and the Ship Canal.

Table 4

Mean travel time in hours for Chinook and coho salmon between areas of the Ship Canal

Salmon Species	Portage Bay to Fremont Cut	Fremont Cut to Locks	Locks to Shilshole Bay
Chinook	19	21	13
Coho	21	5	11

Source: Johnson et al. 2004b

PIT tagging studies have found that migration rates increase slightly as the season progresses, although fish are also more variable in their travel times as well (Figure 14) (DeVries et al. 2005). Later outmigrants are larger in size, and it has been hypothesized that these larger fish can travel at greater speeds. However, correlations between size and travel speed has not been verified and the effect of fish size on migration rate cannot be isolated from timing influences.

There is limited information about steelhead in the Ship Canal. Fresh and Luchetti (2000) indicate that most steelhead pass through the Ship Canal in May, although the PIT-tagging data indicate some also pass in early June (DeVries et. al. 2005).



Figure 14

Average travel speed of juvenile PIT-tagged Chinook salmon between Bear Creek and the Locks. Data are plotted by release date

Source: DeVries et al. 2005

3.1.3.2 Habitat Use and Behavior

Habitat use and behavior in the Ship Canal and Lake Union have been studied mainly through PIT tagging and fine-scale acoustic tracking of juvenile Chinook salmon. Less information is known about sockeye and coho salmon. No information is available about steelhead. These studies have provided information on seasonal and diurnal migration timing patterns, shoreline affinity, residualism (fish stay in lake until maturation), and the effects of selected environmental factors such as water temperature in the Ship Canal and lunar phase. Most of the data collected are on coho and Chinook salmon, with fewer data on sockeye.

The USFWS conducted fine-scale acoustic tracking studies at various locations within the Ship Canal, Lake Union, and at the Locks from 2004 to 2008. In 2007 and 2008, tracking was also conducted in Union Bay and Lake Washington. The final results from those studies have not been

fully incorporated into this report. Those studies will greatly inform understanding of juvenile Chinook movements within the Ship Canal and Lake Union.

Distribution

Earlier PIT-tagging studies of Chinook salmon smolts indicated that these fish are shoreline oriented as they move through Portage Bay, Lake Union, and Salmon Bay, and mix in the narrower sections including the cuts (DeVries et al. 2005). However, fine-scale acoustic tracking studies conducted more recently have provided more detailed information about fish movements within discrete areas along the migration corridor between Lake Washington and the Locks (Tabor et al. 2006, Celedonia et al. 2008a,b).

Fine-scale acoustic tracking between 2005 and 2007 in the Ship Canal at Portage Bay and north Lake Union showed little evidence of shoreline affinity. Instead, juvenile Chinook salmon smolts were observed fanning out and mixing within Portage Bay and north Lake Union (Celedonia et al. 2008b, unpub data). At Portage Bay, most fish were located at depths greater than 6.6 feet, whereas in north Lake Union most activity occurred at depths greater than 33 feet. Coho and Chinook tracked in the Fremont Cut in 2004 were found most frequently along the middle of the channel, with a slight skew towards the south shore (Johnson et al. 2004b). No day-to-night shifts in depth or location were consistently observed in the Ship Canal (Celedonia et al. 2008b, unpub data).

Chinook salmon smolts appear to briefly reside in Lake Union during their outmigration (1-4 days). Smolts use the entire lake, with 25 to 50% of tagged smolts using the southern part of Lake Union (M. Celedonia unpub data). During this residence, Chinook move around the northern and southern parts of the lake. They have shown up in tracking areas periodically, but not continuously. In Lake Union, Chinook smolts are active during the day, but exhibit variable behavior at night. They appear to avoid overwater structures. The prevalence of overwater structures and lack of shallow water habitat may substantially influence Chinook behavior.

Water Temperature

Water temperatures significantly influence salmon. Smolts may respond to water temperatures through avoidance (around 59°F or 15°C), changes in growth (around 66-68°F or 19-20°C), and smoltification ability (59-61°F or 15-16°C). Temperatures above 66°F (19°C) can also led to mortality. These temperatures are reached in the Ship Canal and Lake Union during late spring and early summer (Figure 15). While absolute peak temperature has not significantly increased in this area, the onset and duration of warm water conditions is increasing. A review of Corps temperature data from 1974 to 1998 near Gas Works Park indicates a linear increase of about 2 days per year when water temperature exceeds 68°F (20°C). The primary factor influencing water temperature in the Pacific Northwest appears to be air temperature (Wetherbee and Houck 2000).

Water temperatures increase over the outmigration season. Overall water temperatures warm in the Ship Canal in spring and summer reaching 66°F (19°C) around mid-June. Most salmon have passed through the Ship Canal and Locks by this time. However, later Chinook salmon migrants may still be using the area when water temperatures become stressful.

Fish can compensate for warmer temperatures by moving into cool water refugia when it is available. Minor thermal stratification occurs in the Ship Canal until fall, with cooler water near the bottom (Figure 16). For example, smolts appear to be more surface-oriented while water temperatures are below 59°F (15°C) and migrate into deeper, cooler waters when temperatures exceed 66°F (19°C) (DeVries et al. 2005). Overall, water temperatures and stratification appear to influence smolt distribution (i.e. water depth) and behavior. Fine-scale acoustic tracking stations at the I-5 bridge and at the Locks in 2007 and 2008 should provide more information about the

effects of water temperatures on smolt use of differing water depths. The specific effects of climate change on water temperatures and salmon outmigration in the future is unclear. Salmon survival is dependent on the cool water temperatures and the historical climate regime of the Pacific Northwest.



Figure 15

Nearsurface water temperatures (Celsius) in the Lake Washington Ship Canal during smolt outmigration (2001-2005) at Ballard Bridge and Gasworks sites Source: Corps



Figure 16

Surface, mid-depth and bottom water temperature (°C) in Ship Canal (spring and summer 2004) Source: Corps

Residualism

Based on PIT-tagging data, a small number of Chinook, coho, and sockeye salmon migrate out of the Lake Washington system 1 or 2 years later than the bulk of the population (DeVries et al. 2005). Other observations reveal that hatchery steelhead may also residualize (E. Warner pers comm). A few ($\leq 0.26\%$) Chinook, coho, and sockeye smolts were detected passing through the Locks 1 to 2 years after PIT tagging. These fish must have remained in the Lake Washington basin to rear through the winter (DeVries et al. 2005). Some fish may never migrate out to Puget Sound. Because variation in salmon life-history behavior occurs, this delayed outmigration is not surprising. However, there is concern that elevated water temperatures along the migration corridor could be a contributing factor. In addition, anecdotal information suggests residualism of juvenile Chinook may be higher in the Lake Washington basin than commonly found in other river basins (E. Warner pers comm).

One hypothesis for this residualism is that elevated water temperatures in the Ship Canal cause it (DeVries et al. 2005). Elevated water temperatures can also contribute to desmolting (M. Celedonia pers comm). It is thought that this may particularly impact later outmigrants, which face higher water temperatures along their migration route. However, a fish may also overwinter in freshwater water due to lack or a reversal of migration cues related to changes in day length, fish size, or growth rates. Another reason for residualism may be the abundant prey resources available in the lake during the smolt outmigration (R. Tabor pers comm). The lake possibly provides more prey resources for juvenile salmon than a riverine system would. Overall, the benefits or drawbacks of residualism and the link to water temperatures in the Ship Canal remain uncertain.

3.1.3.3 Survival Risks

PIT-tag studies conducted under the LWGI offer information on smolt survival in the system (DeVries et al. 2003, 2005). In these studies, smolts are implanted with PIT tags, usually as they leave their natal rivers. They are detected as they leave the Lake Washington system through the smolt flumes at the Locks. Detection rates at the Locks are roughly associated with survival rates. However, they are not synonymous with survival rates because fish may pass through a route other than the smolt flumes at the Locks. Additionally, the PIT tag readers are not 100% effective at detecting all tags, and a very small percentage is not detected at the Locks.

PIT-tagging results collectively show that detection rates of Chinook smolts from Bear Creek and the Cedar River to the Locks are relatively high (50 to 100%) until about mid-June (Figure 17) (D. Beauchamp pers comm). Detection rates decline to between 0% and 50% in late June or early July (DeVries et al. 2005, DeVries and Hendrix 2005a, D. Beauchamp pers comm). A similar decline in detection rates is also seen for coho smolts (Figure 18). Collectively, these results may indicate decreasing smolt survival during late June and early July.



Smolt flume detection rates for naturally-produced, juvenile Chinook salmon by date. Top shows fish released in Bear Creek. Bottom shows fish released in the Cedar River. Numbers were adjusted for detection efficiencies

Source: Corps unpub data





Smolt flume detection rates for naturally-produced, juvenile coho salmon by date. Top shows fish released in Bear Creek. Bottom shows fish released in Cedar River

Source: Corps unpub data

Low detection rates of Chinook salmon late in the outmigration season might be related to 1) increased rates of predation, 2) increased rates of residualism, and 3) increased use of alternative migration pathways at the Locks. All of these explanations are intertwined with effects of water temperature. For the Ship Canal and Lake Union, water temperatures and predation are of primary concern. Chinook smolts and young-of-year sockeye are the most susceptible because they migrate later in the season than age-1 sockeye and coho and at a much smaller size. The limited information on steelhead suggests they are similar to age-1 sockeye and coho outmigrants in timing and size.

Water Temperature

Water temperature may affect juvenile salmon through: 1) acute lethal effects, 2) reduced growth, and 3) changes in smolt readiness (Hicks 2002). This section focuses on Chinook smolts as the most at risk from elevated temperatures. It is reasonable to assume that other salmon species would be affected in similar ways.

Acute Lethal Effects

The lethal temperature for juvenile Chinook salmon is likely higher than that for adult Chinook. The temperature 69°F (21°C) is a migration block to several salmon species (Beschta et al. 1987, ODEQ 1995). Sometimes this temperature is recorded in the Ship Canal in early June (see Figure 15). With thorough acclimation, however, consistent exposure to temperatures of 73 to 75°F (23-24°C) is necessary to produce a real risk of direct mortality to juvenile Chinook (Hicks 2002).

Acute lethal effects have not been studied in the Ship Canal or Lake Union.

Reduced Growth

Growth is dictated by fish metabolism and prey availability. At higher temperatures, fish metabolism increases. When food is more plentiful, fish can grow larger in warmer waters (Hicks 2002). Studies elsewhere have found that juvenile Chinook have optimal growth rates between 58 to 66°F (14-19°C) (Brett et al. 1982, Seymour 1956). In the Ship Canal and Lake Union, it is likely that Chinook smolt growth may be affected at temperatures of 66°F (19°C). The growth effects due to high water temperatures may be tempered somewhat by the following:

- Acclimization to higher temperatures that exist in the surface waters of Lake Washington and in the Ship Canal and Lake Union
- Limited amount of time spent migrating through the Ship Canal
- Availability of sufficient prey

However, this matter has not been studied.

Smoltification

The physiological preparation of juvenile fish for life at sea is commonly referred to as *smoltification*. High water temperatures affect the ability of smolts to transition to, and grow in, saltwater, and hence reduce their fitness and survival. In some salmon species—Chinook and steelhead, for example—delayed migration timing (such as from a thermal barrier) or exposure to water temperatures above 68°F (20°C) may result in smolts reverting back to freshwater form (Adams et al. 1975, Chapman et al. 1994). This is called *desmolitification*. Desmoltification can also be caused by prolonged exposure to slightly elevated temperatures over a period of time. Rapid temperature changes, such as from the Ship Canal to the saltwater downstream of the Locks, may also create substantial stress.

Predation

Predominant predators in the Ship Canal are northern pikeminnow (*Ptychocheilus oregonensis*), small- and largemouth bass, cutthroat trout, and piscivorous birds. Yellow perch and rock bass are potential predators in the Ship Canal. Predation rates in the Ship Canal most likely reflect outmigration timing, run size of each species and water temperature (Tabor et al. 2006). Fish size likely affects predation rates because larger fish have fewer predators. Fish predators are relatively well studied, but little is known about bird predation on salmon smolts in the area.

Predation studies to date suggest that predation in the Ship Canal may be between 1 and 10% (Fayram and Sibley 2000, Tabor et al. 2004b). However, it is hypothesized that predation rates increase during the outmigration season as water temperatures increase, increasing metabolic demands of predators, and the number of smolts decline. Smolt PIT-tag detection rates indicate that survival may decrease as the outmigration season progresses, and predation may play a role (DeVries et al. 2005, DeVries and Hendrix 2005a).

Among the predatory fish, smallmouth bass populations appear to be the largest in number. Northern pikeminnow and largemouth bass populations appear to be smaller and less evenly distributed in Lake Washington and the Ship Canal (K. Fresh unpub data). Preliminary research done by the Muckleshoot Indian Tribe, USFWS, and UW in 1995 and 1997 indicates that smallmouth bass might be an important predator of salmon smolts in the Ship Canal (Tabor et al. 2004b). While yellow perch have been thought to be a potential predator in the Ship Canal, no evidence shows yellow perch play a substantial role in predation on juvenile salmon there. Recently, rock bass have been observed in the Ship Canal. These fish may be another predator of juvenile salmon because rock bass can reach 8.4 inches FL in length (R. Tabor pers comm). Tabor et al. (2004b) noted that catch rates of predators were generally low in Portage Bay. Few piscivorous fish have been found in Salmon Bay and the Fremont Cut (Tabor et al. 2004b).

Smallmouth Bass

Smallmouth bass consume smolts in the Ship Canal between mid-May and July. Tabor et al. (2007a) studied predators in the Ship Canal from the end of April to the end of July in 1999. They and estimated that about 3,400 smallmouth bass were in the area and could consume juvenile salmon. Smallmouth bass were found to be more important predators than largemouth in the Ship Canal. Smallmouth bass 5 inches FL eat salmon, with the greatest consumption rate in June when salmon were about 50% of the bass diet. Tabor et al. estimate that the smallmouth bass predation level on the Chinook smolt population ranges between 0.4 and 3%.

Fine-scale acoustic telemetry of smallmouth bass indicates they are usually closely associated with one of three habitat types: 1) overwater structure, 2) steep sloping riprap or bulkhead, or 3) the offshore edge of aquatic plants (Celedonia et al. 2008b). Another study tracked smallmouth bass released near the mouth of Union Bay and determined that most remained in the littoral zone within that same area (Fayram and Sibley 2000). The researchers estimated that smallmouth bass densities in the Ship Canal were about 34 times higher than in Lake Washington. Tabor et al. (2007a) found that smaller Chinook smolts used habitats more similar to those of smallmouth bass than the habitats used by larger Chinook smolts. This was especially the case during the warmer part of the outmigration season when bass consumption rates were higher. Most smallmouth bass inhabit the Ship Canal from March or April until July or August. During the fall and winter, bass migrate from the Ship Canal into Lake Washington (R. Tabor unpub data).

Largemouth Bass

As with smallmouth bass, largemouth bass consume smolts between mid May and July. Between April and July 1999, Tabor et al. (2007a) estimated there were about 2,500 largemouth bass in the

Ship Canal capable of consuming juvenile salmon. Largemouth bass consumed salmon at a generally low rate and only fish that were 5.8 to 9.8 inches long were observed preying on salmon. Largemouth bass also consumed more coho than Chinook or sockeye salmon. Largemouth bass were noted to be more common in vegetated areas with gentle slopes and fine substrates such as south Portage Bay, Lake Union, and Salmon Bay. Tabor et al. thought smolts tended to be less concentrated in largemouth bass habitat than in smallmouth bass habitat.

Northern Pikeminnow

Northern pikeminnow also consume salmon in the Ship Canal. Tabor et al. (2004b) studied predator diets between April and July 1999. They found that about 45% of the northern pikeminnow diet consisted of salmon. Of those, 45% were Chinook salmon smolts, 40% were coho and 15% were sockeye. Most of the consumed juvenile salmon appeared to be subyearling fish. Tabor et al. could not derive a population estimate for northern pikeminnow. The distributions of northern pikeminnow are not well known. It is possible their habitat use patterns overlap with juvenile salmon more than do those of the two bass species. Because salmon make up a substantial portion of northern pikeminnow diet, this species could be a significant predator if their population size in Ship Canal is large. Pikeminnow appear to be more mobile than bass and congregate at areas with many smolts, particularly at the UW hatchery, along the shoreline of Gasworks Park, and at the Fremont Cut. Based on electrofishing catch rates in 1999 and recent gill netting and beach seining, northern pikeminnow in the Ship Canal are abundant in Portage Bay near the UW hatchery outflow in May and June and in Lake Union and the Fremont Cut in July (R. Tabor unpub data).

3.1.4 Passage at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks (Locks)

Studies of juvenile salmon passage at the Locks emphasize passage timing and rates, passageways, and fish survival. Upon reaching the Locks, juvenile salmon must get through the Locks structure to reach Puget Sound. The Locks have physical conditions that are important context for understanding how fish move through the Locks area (see Chapter 2).

When juvenile salmon migrate into the Locks area, they are exposed to complex salinity, oxygen, and temperature conditions. Salt- and freshwater mixing is constrained by the Locks. At the same time, there is saltwater at depth upstream in the Ship Canal due to lock operations. This saltwater develops into a saltwater wedge that underlies the freshwater in the canal. The saltwater wedge has traveled as far as the Montlake Cut in the past. However, Ecology regulations require that salinity not exceed 1 ppt at the University Bridge in the Ship Canal. The Corps manages water operations at the Locks to meet that condition. The limited mixing and saltwater intrusion can lead to low levels of DO, particularly when water temperatures are high above the Locks.

3.1.4.1 Passage Timing and Rates

Over the last 10 years, passage timing through the Locks predominantly has been determined by monitoring the number of fish using the flumes and seining for fish in the large lock chamber. The routes provide access to Puget Sound at various water depths (Figure 19). PIT-tag and purse-seining data show peak passage periods for sockeye salmon first in late April/early May, coho salmon in May, and both natural origin and Issaquah hatchery Chinook salmon between late May and mid-June. Peak passage of steelhead smolts occurs generally in May (WDFW 1996, Fresh and Luchetti 2000). Migration timing of smolts has resulted in two general size distributions migrating at different times through the Ship Canal: 1) larger fish passing the Locks first and 2) a mix of large and medium-sized fish passing later in the season (DeVries and Hendrix 2005a). While the smolt outmigration at the Locks has been studied for years and relative timing is understood, counts of outmigrants are still rough estimates.



Optional passages for juvenile salmon through the Locks. Fish can only access each pathway at certain depths. Depths are relative to full pool. For the large lock, the saltwater barrier depth is indicated with a lighter blue bar

Source: Corps 1992

Lunar Phase

The moon appears to influence seasonal passage timing. The PIT-tagging studies reveal a strong relation between lunar phase and when each species begins to pass through the Locks. Passage at the Locks appears most substantial within a few days of the date that the moon was at apogee (farthest from the earth). A weaker relationship was observed for the quarter moon phase (DeVries et al. 2004). The relationship was strongest for Chinook salmon smolts and weaker for coho salmon smolts. This phenomenon was consistent across all 4 years between 2000 and 2003. The relationship was not as strong in the 2004 and 2005 data, although both years had similar passage timing distributions. The similarity between the 2004 and 2005 data—which were years with relatively warmer spring temperatures—suggested a possible over-riding influence of water temperature on the lunar effect (DeVries et al. 2006).

Daily Passage Timing

The rate at which smolts pass the Locks fluctuates hourly with most passage occurring during the day. Annually, some years show slight peaks occurring in both morning and afternoon (1997 and 2002). Sometimes only a single peak in passage is apparent (e.g. midday in 2001, late morning in 2003). Passage rates are uniform in some years (1998, 2000, and 2004).

More than 90% of PIT-tagged smolts passed through the flumes during daylight on days the flumes were open 24 hours (BioSonics 2001, DeVries et al. 2005). Sockeye salmon show the strongest daytime passage behavior, with no fish passing at night in 2000 and very few in 2001. Peak passage was mid-morning overall. In general, hourly passage timing distributions did not significantly differ among stocks for a given species in any given year (α =0.05). The daily variation in smolt passage timing may reflect daily vertical migration in the water column. Hydroacoustic data suggest smolts (and other fish) have a greater tendency to move towards the surface during the day and towards the bottom at night (DeVries et al. 2006). Beginning in 2002, the daytime passage trend was used to revise operations to conserve water.

3.1.4.2 Habitat Use and Behavior

The behavior of smolts at the Locks influences their passage through the Locks structure. Smolts may pass through one of five main routes, with each route presenting a different possibility of injury or mortality (see Figure 11). The five routes provide access to Puget Sound over various depths (Figure 20). The routes also differ in their attractiveness to smolts based on velocity, temperatures, salinity, and perhaps other, unknown factors. This section describes studies that have looked at the five passageways through the Locks to see how operational and environmental conditions affect route choice.

For juvenile salmon, the primary routes through the Locks are the spillway/smolt flumes and large and small locks. Spillway passage can occur through six bays, two of which contain smolt flumes, depending on spillway operations. If fish pass through the Locks, they may travel through the lock chambers or become entrained in the lock chamber filling culverts. Outmigrants can also pass the Locks via the adult fish ladder or the saltwater drain. Lock operations and environmental conditions such as water temperature influence both passage route choice and rate.

A pilot fine-scale acoustic tracking study in 2003 found that Chinook salmon smolts upstream of the Locks were mostly located near the entrances to the smolt flumes, and near the entrance to the large locks and the saltwater drain (Johnson et al. 2004b) (Figure 21). Coho salmon at the Locks occurred most frequently at the mouth of the spillway flumes, on the north side of the spillway forebay, and just above the entrance to the large locks. Coho were generally located deeper than Chinook smolts.

A large fraction of smolts pass through the smolt flumes or over the spillway when the spillway gates are open, particularly early in outmigration season before water temperatures increase. Later in the season, studies suggest that most fish pass through the large lock. Preliminary investigations indicate that few fish get through the Locks by passing through the small lock, saltwater drain, or fish ladder. The fine-scale acoustic tracking study of salmon smolts in 2003 found that of the 11 fish successfully tracked at the Locks, only 3 fish used the flumes (Johnson et al. 2004b). However, given the small sample size in the study and the late study period, the data do not support strong conclusions. Tracking studies conducted by the USFWS in 2006 to 2008 should provide additional information about route selection by Chinook smolts, and coho to a lesser extent. The discussion that follows focuses on each potential passage through the Locks.

Smolt Flumes and Spillway Gates

Smolt flume passage rates have been studied using PIT tagging and visually counting smolts in the flumes. These studies show that the estimated number of smolts passing through the flumes is orders of magnitude greater than the estimated number entrained in the large lock filling culverts (Johnson et al. 2003a, 2004a, DeVries and Hendrix 2005a). Smolts appear to primarily use the spillway in large numbers (40-60% of the total passing per day) when water temperatures are less than 66°F (19°C). However, there is a consistent decrease in detection rates in the flumes during outmigration season. Detection rates of individual groups released on a given day are generally high in May, but then decline steadily (see Figures 17 and 18). Studies also found that the number of fish using the flumes decreased later in the season (Johnson et al. 2004a, DeVries and Hendrix 2005a). Fewer fish using the flumes appears to reflect the influence of water temperature on passage behavior.



Chinook salmon positions at the Locks. Blue indicates no usage and red indicates highest usage. Colors between show a gradient

Source: Johnson et al. 2004b



Figure 21

Coho salmon positions at the Locks. Blue indicates no usage and red indicates the highest usage. Colors between show a gradient

Source: Johnson et al. 2004b

Flume passage rates are also affected by flows. There is a relationship between decreasing flume flow rate later in the season (a result of water management) and the decreasing number of fish using the flumes as water temperature increases. At the same time, the number of fish arriving at the Locks decreases because they are nearing the end of the outmigration period. Nonetheless, passage numbers of PIT-tagged Chinook salmon in 2002 and 2004 appeared to increase with total flume flow rate. This was particularly evident in the 1 to 2 weeks after the moon was at apogee in 2004 (DeVries et al. 2005, DeVries and Hendrix 2005a). Among the flumes, passage rates appear to be highest per unit volume of water in the two large flumes. The smaller flumes consistently underperformed the larger flumes with the exception of the year 2003. However, when flows increase above about 200 cfs, there is no longer a large increase in smolt passage. This suggests that operation of one large flume at 130 cfs and a medium flume at 90 cfs makes good use of smolt flumes. This tactic may also save water.

Passage rates in the flumes also increase in response to lock operations. The passage rate of PITtagged smolts in the flumes during small lock fills averages twice the rate of the non-fill period (DeVries et al. 2005). However, small lockages do not influence passage rates in the flumes at night. During the night, smolts are in deeper water and do not use the flumes. During the day, lock filling operations influence passage timing in the flumes through changing velocity patterns in the forebay, inducing smolts to move as a response. Increased swimming may increase the probability that outmigrants encounter and pass through the smolt flumes.

Spillway Gates

In addition to the flumes, smolts can pass the Locks over the spillways when the spillway gates are open. Biosonics, Inc. (2001) assessed juvenile fish passage under one of the spillway gates. Fish passage through the spillways was generally higher when passage rates through the flumes were lower, and vice versa. Passage through the spillway gates is thought to be safe for smolts, but this has not been studied. Smolts appear to primarily use the spillway in large numbers (40-60% of daily total) when water temperatures are less than 66°F (19°C).

Large Lock and Large Lock Filling Culverts

The large lock and associated filling culverts are thought to be the second most frequent route for smolts through the Locks. Historically, passage through the large lock filling culverts significantly increased the risk of substantial injury and mortality to smolts. The Corps has taken actions in recent years to reduce entrainment, injury and mortality. Studies below are focused on fish upstream of the Locks becoming entrained into the filling culverts. It is possible that smolts within the large lock chamber could become trapped in the filling culverts during downstream lockages. However, this matter has not been studied.

Preliminary analyses from microacoustic studies at the Locks show that at the entrance to the large lock outmigrating Chinook salmon smolts are primarily located near the water's surface while surface water temperatures are less than 65°F (18.5°C) (M. Celedonia pers comm). This generally occurs in June (Figure 22). When temperatures warm to 67°F (19.5°C) and higher, fish distribute throughout the water column. This concentration generally occurs in July. Juvenile Chinook are also more likely to use deeper areas during late afternoon, but come back up to the surface at night.

Several studies have looked at smolt entrainment into the large lock filling culverts. Passage rates through the large lock chamber itself have not been studied. Some studies indicate that entrainment numbers increase with nearsurface water temperature. This finding was partially discovered because researchers seining for fish below the Locks were catching the same number of fish even though smolt detections in the flumes declined (Figure 23) (Simenstad et al. 2003,



Diel depth distribution of tagged Chinook salmon smolts at the entrance to the large lock, June-July, 2007. Median proportion of time spent at depth is shown and 10th and 90th percentiles are indicated with error bars

Source: M Celedonia and R. Tabor ubpub data

DeVries and Hendrix 2005a). That finding suggests that fish passing the Locks were using a different route than the flumes.

Year 2004 studies show that smolt entrainment in the filling culvert remains extremely low (90% of values <0.05%) until the third week in June when nearsurface water temperatures are nearly 64.4°F (18°C) (DeVries and Hendrix 2005a). Earlier arriving, surface-oriented smolts are thought to have a lower risk of entrainment than later arriving smolts. Late migrating smolts are thought to be at a greater risk of entrainment when surface water temperatures increase and smolts seek deeper water. However, this assumption was refuted by the 2004 studies because the fish estimated as entrained by volume of water in the culverts was similar irrespective of water temperature.

Year 2004 studies indicate that the number of smolts entrained in the large lock filling culverts largely reflect large lock fill volume (DeVries and Hendrix 2005a). Of the factors evaluated, the most effective change in Locks operations for reducing entrainment appears to be reducing the total daily volume of fills in the large lock. Large-lock entrainment mortality is estimated at less than 0.01 to 0.1%. Therefore, it appears that changes in culvert filling operations may have little impact on the population.

Chapter 3



Average catch size (blue line is catch per unit effort or CPUE) of natural origin Chinook and coho salmon smolts below the Locks and PIT-tag detection rates in smolt flumes (symbols) in 2001. Estimated release date for each group plus median travel time for each species: ~27/21 days for Bear Creek/Cedar River Chinook and ~25/27 days for Bear Creek/Cedar River coho

Source: DeVries and Hendrix 2005a

Small Lock and Small Lock Filling Culverts

There have been only exploratory investigations into use of the small lock and the small lock filling culverts. That research used an underwater video camera, which showed little use of the small lock or its filling culverts. However, these investigations did not look at use throughout the outmigration season (C. Ebel pers comm).

Fish Ladder

The fish ladder passes very few migrating juvenile salmon. In 1994, before the first flume installation in 1995, 1% of an estimated 3 to 5 million smolts used the fish ladder (D. Seiler unpub data). PIT-tagging data from 2004 and 2005 indicate a much smaller proportion now uses the fish ladder. All juvenile fish passing through the fish ladder from top to the bottom pools are presumed uninjured.

Saltwater Drain

The number and proportion of juveniles passing through the saltwater drain has not been studied.

Water Temperature and Route Choice

Because temperature influences vertical position of smolts in the water column, water temperature may affect passage routes for smolts at the Locks. Very few smolts have been observed to pass through the flumes after surface temperatures exceed about 66 to 70°F (19-21°C) (Figure 24). It is hypothesized that warmer water temperatures cause smolts to migrate at greater depths in the Ship Canal where the water is cooler, and the use of deeper waters causes more smolts to use the small and large locks as passages past the Locks. However, the decline in the numbers of smolts using the flumes later in the outmigration season could also be a reflection of fewer fish passing the Locks as the outmigration season is ending, or could reflect that some of the later migrants may also residualize in Lake Washington. Results from microacoustic tracking studies by the USFWS at the Locks were not available for this report. Those reports will provide more information on water temperature and route choice.



Figure 24

Daily PIT-tag detections at the Locks by average daily nearsurface water temperatures in the Ship Canal during smolt outmigration, 2001-2005

Source: Corps (Temperature data); PIT tag data DeVries et al. 2006

Flow and Route Choice

Variations in water velocities create flow fields, which can affect the migration of salmon smolts. Studies at the Locks have examined how operations of the small and large locks create different flow fields in the Locks forebay. These flows may be manipulated to direct salmon through safer passage routes.

To date, fish distribution has not been found to correlate with flow fields near the Locks. Mobile hydroacoustic surveys have indicated patchy distributions of fish in the area upstream of the entrance to the large locks and inside the large lock chamber. Small-, medium-, and large-sized aggregations of fish were found irregularly throughout the survey area (Biosonics 1997). No discernible pattern was evident in the vertical distribution of these aggregations.

PIT-tag data suggest a correlation between the small lock filling and flume passage rate. Higher numbers of fish appear to pass the smolt flumes during small lock fill. Although PIT-tagging data suggest a correlation, the evidence does not yet establish a cause and effect relationship between small lock filling and increased flume passage. Velocity measurements (Johnson et al. 2001a, 2003b) and steady state (i.e. time averaged) hydrodynamic numerical modeling (University of Iowa unpub data) are underway. Assessments indicate that larger flumes create larger velocity fields in front of their entrances, which may relate to the larger flumes passing more fish (Johnson et al. 2003b). Limited data suggest the passage rate of PIT-tagged smolts in the flumes during small lock fills is, on average, twice the rate when the small lock in not filling (DeVries et al. 2005). However, small lock operations do not appear to influence daily variation in flume passage, suggesting that small lock operations only influence this behavior during the day (DeVries et al. 2006). Hydrodynamic modeling may provide more information about how structural or operational changes in the Locks may influence route choice.

Recycling through the Locks

A small portion of salmon smolts *recycle* through the Locks. Recycling refers to the fish behavior of passing downstream through the Locks once, then passing back upstream before heading back through the structure again. A small number of fish recycle more than once. Upstream passage mostly likely occurs through the large or small locks. Hatchery Chinook salmon smolts released directly into the flumes as part of calibration testing and those from the UW hatchery were found to recycle the most (DeVries et al. 2003, 2005). Weaker recycling behavior was seen in natural origin fish, which generally take less time to pass the Locks. Some natural origin Chinook and coho salmon have also been observed to recycle more than twice in both 2002 and 2003. Sockeye salmon juveniles were never observed to recycle.

Recycling may reflect extended rearing times in the vicinity of the Locks and/or the need for further acclimization to saltwater. In all years, the time between first and second detections shortened as the outmigration season progressed (DeVries et al. 2003, 2005). Recycling times were not found to be correlated with either the group of fish released (which shared a common background and release timing) or the size of the fish when released.

Recycling may simply reflect a fish being in the wrong place at the wrong time and becoming entrained in the large lock chamber. One study of fish distribution below the Locks determined that fish near the entrance to the large lock-filling culvert were distributed in two distinct groups: 1) near the bottom and 2) near the surface (Johnson et al. 2001a). Although species in each group were not determined, the composition may reflect vertical salinity differences with downstream migrant smolts remaining in the upper freshwater layer when the upper large Lock gates are opened, and shiner surfperch (*Cymatogaster aggregata*) residing in the lower layer. Fish in the surface layer below the Locks would be less likely to be entrained in the large lock during gate openings.

The causes for recycling and the effects on salmon smolts are poorly understood. However, given the small number of smolts that exhibit the behavior, it is not likely to strongly influence Lake Washington salmon population survival and fitness.

3.1.4.3 Survival Risks

Survival of smolts passing the Locks is not well understood. Given the large numbers of descaled, injured, and dead fish observed during lock operations in the 1980s and early 1990s, researchers focused on the large lock filling culverts. Studies primarily addressed entrainment of smolts in these culverts through the upstream entrances. Other studies have worked on ways to deter fish from becoming entrained in the filling culverts.
Large Lock Filling System Entrainment

Compared to all other passage routes at the Locks, entrainment in the large lock filling culverts is considered the most potentially harmful route for juvenile fish. It results in the highest direct and indirect mortality. Wounds, lacerations, and descaling during entrainment through the lock filling system reduce the survival of outmigrant salmon and steelhead (WDFW 1996, Goetz et al. 2001). Sharp-edged barnacles cover more than 80% of the filling culvert surface area. When combined with high water velocities, barnacles can lacerate and descale smolts as they pass through the culverts and into the lock chambers. Several 90-degree bends in the filling culverts can entrain smolts and cause them to strike against concrete and barnacles. High water velocities and pressure gradients can also injure fish.

Hydroacoustic studies show that the number of fish entrained in the large lock filling culverts varies each year and by Lock operations (Johnson et al. 2001a, 2004a). Full chamber fill events tend to trap more fish but occur less frequently, while upper chamber-only fill events trap fewer fish but occur more often (Figure 25). In both upper chamber-only and full fill events, the highest entrapment generally occurs during the night. In the full chamber, 2001 and 2002 were exceptions to this, with highest entrainment occurring around 8 am.



Figure 25

Hourly estimates of the average number of fish entrained in the large lock chamber filling culverts during full chamber (left) and upper chamber (right) fill events in 2000-2004

The depth of entrained fish also varies between day and night (Figure 26). During the day, entrained fish were distributed in greatest proportions at depths centered at the middle of the culvert entrances. Night distributions of trapped fish were deeper and near the floor of the culvert entrances.



Depth ranges of fish entrained in the large lock filling culverts day and night in 2000-2004

The number of fish entrained may depend on the rate at which the large lock is filled during lockages (Table 5). Slower fill rates are associated with smaller velocities. It is hypothesized that slower fill rates trap and injure fewer fish. Three different fill types were evaluated: *intermediate*, *gradual* and *continuous*. Each type has the following effects on entrapment:

- Intermediate fills reduced entrapment between 35 and 37% from continuous fills
- Graduated fills reduced catch by between 65 and 69% from a continuous fills
- Graduated fills reduced catch by between 45% and 51% from intermediate fills

Table 5

Large lock fill type, speed, time, and rate

Fill Type	Speed	Time (min)	Rate (ft/min)
Graduated	slowest	intermediate	fastest
Intermediate	14 - 16	10 - 12	6 - 8
Continuous	0.9 – 1.6	1.6 – 2.4	2.5 – 3.5

Fill rates impact fish passage (Figure 27). Irrespective of fill type, more fish pass through the flumes at the high flow rate. When fill rates are intermediate or graduated and three flumes are open at a velocity of 350 cfs, the fewest fish are entrained. Entrainment rates in the filling culverts more strongly reflect frequency and volume of large lock fillings as opposed to fill type, particularly later in the outmigration season as nearsurface water temperatures warm and fish inhabit deeper water (DeVries and Hendrix 2005a).



*SOP (standard fill) Inter (intermediate fill types) Cont (continuous fill types) Inter/Grad (intermediate and graduated fill types) Grad (graduated fill types

Figure 27

Estimated proportion of fish passing through Locks for 1 flume at 80 cfs or 3 flumes at 350 cfs*

Since 1999, all of the filling conduits of the large lock chamber have been cleaned of barnacles annually. Workers use high-pressure washing and scraping to clean the culverts to bare concrete. This practice has led to a 75% reduction in heavy descaling of fish in the large lock chamber. Before barnacle removal (1998), from 10 to 15% (13% on average) of smolts were heavily descaled when entrained and passed through the filling conduits in the upper half of the large lock chamber (Figure 28). After barnacle removal (fall 1999) 1 to 5% (3% on average) of smolts were



heavily descaled when entrained (D. Seiler unpub data).

Photo: Annual barnacle removal from the large lock filling culverts



Percent smolts in large lock with heavy (> 10%) descaling before (1998) and after (2000) barnacle removal by three fill types

Source: D. Seiler unpub data

Little is known about entrainment in the small locks filling system. This passage route has not yet been assessed. However, it is likely to be less an issue than the large lock filling culverts because the large lock uses up to 25 times more water than does the small locks. The small locks are also generally free of barnacles.

Reducing Entrainment Rates

Two behavioral avoidance technologies have been evaluated to reduce entrainment in the filling culverts. The first was a low-frequency sound used to elicit avoidance response in juvenile salmon (Knudsen et al. 1992, 1994, 1997; Ploskey et al. 1998; Ploskey and Johnson 2001; Ploskey et al. 2001). The second was strobe lights.

Two low-frequency sound systems for guiding smolts away from the entrance to the large lock were tested. The sound treatment did not affect the density of salmon inside the lock chamber. No significant difference in the density of salmon was observed in the lock chamber between treatments or over time. Similarly, no significant difference was detected between sound treatments at different times of the day.

The use of strobe lights was tested to deter smolts from entering the filling culverts (Puckett and Anderson 1987, McKinley and Patrick 1988, Nemeth and Anderson 1992, Bernier 1995, Johnson et al. 2005). Strobe lights were installed around the perimeter and in front of the upstream north large lock filling culvert entrance in 1998 (Johnson et al. 2000; 2001b) and the upstream south entrance in 2002 (Johnson et al. 2003a; 2005). Split beam hydracoustic monitoring tests during daytime hours in 1998 indicated that most fish moved away from the filling culverts into shallower water when strobe lights were turned on (Figure 29). These findings were statistically significant.

When strobe lights were off, the distribution of fish in front of the culverts was relatively uniform, with slightly greater average densities 26.2 to 32.8 feet from the surface. Fish densities at the culvert depth decreased by 87% when strobe lights were on. Night tests were also conducted, but fish densities were too low at night in front of the filling culvert entrances for a meaningful analysis. Monitoring in 2002 gave similar results, indicating that strobe lights reduced entrainment by approximately 75%.

A study conducted in 2003 evaluated the possibility of habituation by smolts to strobe light operation at night (Johnson et al. 2004c). The estimated numbers of fish entrained when the strobe lights were operating all night long did not significantly differ from the numbers entrained when the strobe lights were operated for only 15 minutes before each fill event. This finding suggests habituation was unlikely to strobe lights during the night.



Figure 29

Average density of fish by depth under strobe on (white bars) and strobe off (gray bars) scenarios during daytime fill events at Locks (0800 to 1700 hours) from 9 to 20 May, 1998. Bracketed range strata indicate elevation of culvert entrances in range from transducers. Error bars indicate 95% confidence limits

Source: Johnson et al. 2001b

Predation

No detailed studies have been conducted to quantify predation at the Locks.

3.1.5 Estuarine Transition in Salmon and Shilshole Bays

This section addresses salmon smolt behavior below the Locks and summarizes research on how estuary alterations affect smolt survival. Very little information is available on juvenile salmon in Salmon and Shilshole bays.

3.1.5.1 Timing

PIT-tag and microacoustic tag data suggest that natural origin smolts of all species spend about 12 hours or less in the lower salinity lens below the Locks before transitioning to higher salinity water (Johnson et al. 2004b, DeVries et al. 2005). During beach seining, PIT-tagged Chinook and coho salmon smolts were recaptured below the Locks. Sockeye salmon smolts were not recaptured, indicating that they either spend very little time below the Locks before heading out to larger Puget Sound or that sockeye are not adequately sampled through beach seining. In another study, hatchery Chinook spent up to 3 weeks in Shilshole Bay, while natural fish were there less than 1 week (DeVries et al. 2005). Acoustic studies in 2004 found that tagged Chinook and coho took 13 and 11 hours on average, respectively, to reach the outer Shilshole Bay array after passing the Locks (Johnson et al. 2004b). Based on five Chinook and three coho detected within the Shilshole hydrophone array, residence time for Chinook was more than three times as along as that estimated for coho.

3.1.5.2 Habitat Use and Behavior

A pilot study on marine predators assessed juvenile Chinook salmon habitat use below the Locks (Footen 2000). Footen found that Chinook smolt habitat use was likely density dependent and that at low densities, the greatest numbers of smolts were found over cobble substrate. At higher smolt densities, smolts were found in large numbers over sandy substrates. When spill ceased, the number of fish caught below the Locks decreased dramatically. The lower captures could be a function of the end of the outmigration period, or indicate that, without spill, smolts are delayed above the Locks.

Another study captured juvenile salmon below the Locks in greatest numbers in June, with numbers dropping off in late June and early July (Simenstad et al. 2003). Chum and hatchery Chinook comprised the largest fraction of salmon caught. The chum salmon caught indicated that salmon from other Puget Sound basins move into the area downstream of the Locks because the Lake Washington system does not support any chum populations. Other species and natural origin Chinook stocks were found in much lower numbers, but were present below the Locks throughout the summer. Sockeye salmon were caught in lowest numbers, appearing only sporadically in the catches. Salmon were concentrated at a few locations in the bay early in the outmigration season, but spatial distributions became more even around the bay after June. Hatchery Chinook and natural origin coho smolts were found in higher densities closer to the Locks than further out in Shilshole Bay.

3.1.5.3 Survival Risks

Survival of smolts downstream of the Locks is related to their ability to adapt to higher salinity and cooler water, find food, and avoid predators. Many of the risks are not well-studied.

Abrupt Salinity and Water Temperature Changes

Water quality profile data collected below the Locks between 1999 and 2001 indicate a lowsalinity lens less than 20 ppt in concentration located in the upper 3.3 to 9.8 feet of the water surface (C. Simenstad and W. Couch unpub data, D. Houck unpub data). This lens sometimes extends out to the railroad bridge and beyond depending on discharge at the Locks and tide. While there is concern that the rapid transition from freshwater to saltwater may affect smolt survival, this has not been studied downstream of the Locks. PIT-tag data collected in 2001 suggested that a rapid osmotic transition had occurred in many of the juveniles captured in the beach seine samples in the inner bay area, where salinities nearer the surface ranged from 15 to 20 ppt during spring outflow (DeVries et al. 2001). Research elsewhere has shown that juvenile Chinook salmon can make a sudden transition from freshwater to water with salinities as high as 16 to 20 ppt without apparent adverse survival effects (Macdonald et al. 1988, Healey 1991, Clarke and Hirano 1995, Kreeger 1995). However, transitions to higher salinities (>30 ppt) and the possibility of delayed saltwater mortality after an abrupt transition may affect smolts leaving the Lake Washington system (Clarke and Hirano 1995; Macdonald et al. 1988). Furthermore, Chinook smolts in other systems preferably hold at areas of low salinity (M. Celedonia pers comm).

Smolts passing through the flumes also experience an initial decrease in temperature as they enter the mixing zone of the flume outfall. Most studies of temperature change on salmon smolts have involved sudden temperature increases, which likely have a greater adverse effect than sudden temperature decreases (Fagerlund et al. 1995). Sudden temperature decreases may result in elevated stress levels, but whether the effect is significant is unknown. The mixing zone below the flumes contains areas where temperatures are intermediate to temperatures in the Ship Canal and Shilshole Bay, which may aid with acclimization to both salinity and temperatures downstream of the Locks.

There are potential effects on saltwater smolt survival from elevated water temperatures in the Ship Canal (e.g. premature smolting and desmoltification) and from passage route choice through the Locks (DeVries and Hendrix 2005a). These potential impacts are uncertain.

Food

A stomach contents survey of salmon below the Locks was conducted over spring and summer of 2001 (Simenstad et al. 2003). The research determined that the Ship Canal was a major source of juvenile salmon prey in Shilshole Bay. Abundant taxa included freshwater cladocerans, and calanoid and cyclopoid copepods. The sampled stomachs contained a variety of these and other organisms, and did not indicate a food shortage.

Predation

Little is known about predation on juvenile salmon directly downstream of the Locks. Birds and marine mammals have been observed feeding on juvenile fish below the Locks, but the prevalence of this has not been studied.

Marine Mammals

Puget Sound supports a variety of marine mammals, including cetaceans (e.g. orcas, gray whales) and pinnipeds (e.g. California sea lions, harbor seals). Within the Locks area, California sea lions and harbor seals frequent the saltwater side of the facility. Steller sea lions are only rarely sighted. Sea lions and seals feed on a variety of fish species, including salmon. Sea lions have been known to congregate below the Locks periodically to feed on salmon and steelhead.

Fish Predators

One study has assessed piscivore predation of juvenile salmon in marine habitats below the Locks (Footen 2001). The researcher used beach-seining techniques for fish capture and gastric lavage for stomach content analysis. Seven study locations were chosen in both the Inner Bay (from immediately downstream of the Locks to Shilshole Bay) and Outer Bay (Shilshole Bay). These locations were typically sampled from April through September of 2000.

Results indicated that most piscivores were caught in the inner bay, and overall catch rate of predator fish was low. Juvenile Chinook salmon were found in the diets of cutthroat trout, char, and staghorn sculpin in the Inner Bay but were not present in the predators sampled in the Outer Bay. Significant predator prey overlap was limited to the inner bay, with the greatest overlap of predators and juvenile Chinook occurring near the railroad bridge. Interestingly, neither juvenile

coho nor sockeye salmon were identified in the diets of any predators sampled. Based on these limited data, predation on juvenile salmon within the inner bay littoral zone appeared to be minimal. Large, piscivorous char and cutthroat trout have been captured in nearshore areas of Puget Sound (Duffy and Beauchamp 2008, unpub data). However, their impact on outmigrating juvenile salmon is not known.

3.1.6 Puget Sound Residency

The studies conducted as part of the LWGI have not examined issues related to salmon residency in and outmigration from Puget Sound. The pelagic region of Puget Sound represents an important summer rearing habitat for Chinook and coho salmon, which generally spend July through September, and maybe longer in this area (D. Beauchamp pers comm). These fish are found at shallow depths in pelagic waters. However, Lake Washington basin Chinook are disproportionately under-represented in annual, pelagic, midwater trawls during July and September in Puget Sound (E. Duffy unpub data). Given outmigration conditions and timing, there are concerns about how Lake Washington basin salmon fare in the marine environment and whether conditions in the basin and at the Locks cause any delayed mortality. A bioenergetics model estimate of cutthroat predation on juvenile Chinook showed only a minor impact on the population (Duffy and Beauchamp 2008).

3.2 Adults

This section summarizes results of recent research findings on return migration of adult Chinook, coho, sockeye salmon and steelhead. The findings are organized according to passage through the study area:

- 1. Puget Sound Residency
- 2. Estuarine Transition
- 3. Passage at the Locks
- 4. Ship Canal and Lake Union Migration
- 5. Lake Washington

Information is further grouped into three categories: timing, habitat and behavior, and survival risks. Then, individual study topics are presented. When appropriate, study summaries are organized by species.

3.2.1 Puget Sound Residency

Puget Sound residency varies by species. While adult salmon in the Lake Washington basin are impacted by their time in Puget Sound, this information is outside of the scope of the LWGI. In some cases, very little is known about adult salmon from the Lake Washington basin in Puget Sound. For Chinook and coho salmon, both Puget Sound resident and ocean-rearing populations occur. Puget Sound resident fish grow to adulthood within Puget Sound. Ocean-resident fish spend time in other parts of the Pacific Ocean during adulthood.

Recent results indicate that Puget Sound-resident Chinook salmon have higher levels of persistent organic pollutants than ocean-migrant Chinook as a consequence of their feeding in the Puget Sound food web (O'Neill et al. 2006). Chinook are also the primary prey of the federally-listed, endangered orca, representing up to 90% of the diet of the Southern Pod during some times of the year (Orca Workshop, Seattle, WA, May 2006).

3.2.2 Estuarine Transition

Little is known about adult salmon use of Salmon Bay downstream of the Locks. It appears that adult fish use the areas above and below the Locks as a staging area before freshwater entry. This may be a matter for future study.

3.2.2.1 Timing and Behavior

Adult salmon likely inhabit Shilshole Bay in the summer. There is no characteristic behavior for any species. Adult fish may enter Shilshole Bay and head to the Locks, or leave the bay for other Puget Sound areas before they enter the Locks. Fish may also hold in Shilshole Bay before passing at the Locks, but this behavior has not been documented.

3.2.2.2 Survival Risks

The only known survival risk to adult salmon in Salmon Bay is from pinnipeds downstream of the Locks. Sea lion and seal predation on steelhead in the late 1970s was thought to be detrimental to an already depleted population. In 1985, NMFS, WDFW, the Seattle District of the Corps, and the Muckleshoot and Suquamish Indian Tribes joined in an effort to protect the steelhead run by controlling sea lion predation downstream of the Locks.

Predation reduction efforts included harassment of sea lions using underwater firecrackers, chaser boats, acoustic harassment devices (AHD), acoustic deterrent devices (ADD), taste aversion conditioning, experimental barrier nets and marine mammal relocation. In the mid-1980s, an ADD sound emitter was installed near the Locks. The ADD is a behavioral barrier to sea lions. It emits sounds in a frequency range that excludes most marine mammals from the area (Fox et al. 1996). In 1996, the state was granted a permit to remove *nuisance* animals when sea lions were observed to eat more than 10% of the steelhead counted through the fish ladder in a week. WDFW removed three notorious sea lions by March of 1996. The following year, no young sea lions were observed to replace these older males (Corps 2001a). Although the ADD and removal deterred sea lions, predation greatly decreased in 1993 as steelhead numbers drastically declined.

While no studies have been conducted since pinniped predation on steelhead, coho, and other adult salmon below the Locks has been observed. In September 2005 a Corps employee observed a sea lion feeding on coho salmon it obtained from a Suquamish Tribal gill net set immediately below the entrance of the Ship Canal fish ladder. Harbor seals and California sea lions are major predators of coho.

There is evidence that marine mammals in the area are accustomed to ADD and will enter the ensonified area to feed on salmon. The first occurrence was noted in September 2001, where a marked sea-lion captured a coho in the ensonified area, while sea lions were frequently observed during the coho run (NOAA 2002). More recently, predation occurred during mid-September 2007 near the height of the coho run and tribal fishing. Sea-lions entered the tailrace area and ate an unknown number of coho caught in gillnets in the ensonified area. There was one sea lion observed in the fish ladder during Chinook salmon migration in 2008 (F. Goetz pers comm). These sightings raise the possibility that one or more of these sea lions may already have developed a tolerance to the acoustic devices (NOAA 2002).

3.2.3 Passage at the Locks

This section describes adult fish passage at the Locks and outlines what is known about fish residence in the Locks area. Acoustic- and PIT-tagging efforts have led to many of the results presented in this section.

3.2.3.1 Passage Timing and Rates

Different species of salmon return to Lake Washington at different times. Steelhead begin their upstream migration first, arriving and passing through the Locks between January and May. Of the salmon species, sockeye salmon begin their upstream migration next, migrating through the Locks from late May through October. The main run of sockeye is from early June through August. Sockeye are followed by Chinook salmon, which have a migration that typically runs from mid-July through the end of September, with smaller numbers arriving in June and October. Coho salmon return slightly later, with the run beginning in late August and ending in mid-November. Run timing at the Locks has been documented annually through the following means:

- Observer counts in the fish ladder and large lock chamber
- PIT-tagged fish detected by readers in the fish ladder
- Acoustic telemetry studies of tagged fish

Run Timing

Adult salmon returns are estimated by Muckleshoot Indian Tribe and WDFW fish counts at the Locks. These counts support decisions for harvest seasons by tribal and recreational fishers. Fish are counted in the fish ladder viewing chamber and near surface in the large lock chamber. Counts have been consistently conducted for Chinook, coho, and sockeye salmon since 1995. Through 1994, the standard count period ran from June 12 to July 31. Since 1995, it has been extended to October 2.⁶ The Muckleshoot Indian Tribe and WDFW routinely provide count data to agencies that work in the Lake Washington watershed. Steelhead counts have not been conducted at the Locks since those taken during sea-lion predation studies in the late 1980s and early 1990s. Counts at the Locks do not accurately reflect numbers on spawning grounds. There is some proportion of straying from the system after fish are counted at the Locks. There is also enroute mortality to the spawning grounds that impacts the number of fish that reach spawning areas.

In 2004, PIT-tag readers were installed in the fish ladder to monitor returns of adult fish. The antennae and PIT tag readers provide information on adult timing, fish passage route, and recycling. From 2004 to 2007, varying amounts of juvenile fish were PIT-tagged. Therefore, PIT-tag return data on adults can sometimes reflect information from only a few fish.

PIT-tagging is also a method for estimating the contribution of juvenile fish to adult returns. Juvenile salmon in Lake Washington have been PIT-tagged at irregular intervals by stock, location, and year as a means to evaluate migration timing and provide an indicator of potential juvenile survival estimates. Since 2004, PIT-tag readers at the Locks have provided adult return information. Because of the multiple pathways through which fish exit and enter the system, the ability to accurately assess survival rates is challenging.

Adult Chinook salmon were monitored in the Locks and Ship Canal in 2000 using 3-D acoustic telemetry. Acoustic telemetry can show fish location and depth and is very valuable. These studies provide insight on fish movement, travel rates, and use of the Locks. Figure 30 shows migration timing return for Chinook, coho and sockeye salmon through the Locks for 1995 through 2007.

⁶Daily counts for periods beyond July 31 of each year are not included in the data presented in this report.



Migration timing (cumulative percent) of Chinook, coho, and sockeye salmon through the Locks 1995–2007. Based on daily passage counts at fish ladder and large lock chamber

Chinook Salmon

The median date Chinook salmon return to the Locks for all years combined is August 16 with the earliest median date August 6 and the latest August 27. PIT-tag monitoring and telemetry studies show that Chinook are observed at the Locks outside the beginning and ends of the counting periods in some years (Fresh et al. 1999; Timko et al. 2002; DeVries 2004; DeVries and Hendrix 2005b; DeVries 2007). For example, in 2004, PIT-tagged Chinook passed the fish ladder between June 22 and October 3. Most Chinook passing through the Locks migrate into Lake Washington. However, variable proportions of the fish have been shown to be strays that leave the Locks for other systems (Fresh et al. 1999, 2000, Goetz 2006).

Coho Salmon

Incomplete fish count data show that the median date of coho salmon timing at the Locks for all years is September 22 with the earliest date September 16 and latest September 28. Counting ends before coho migration ends. PIT-tagged adult coho salmon were detected at the Locks between September 9 and November 1 in 2004. Coho presumably arrive and depart the Locks before and after the counting period.

PIT-tag results show that coho salmon pass through the Locks as late as mid-November (DeVries 2007). In 2007, Issaquah hatchery fish migrated 2 to 3 weeks earlier (August 20-October 16) than Cedar River coho (September 12-November 9).

Sockeye Salmon

The median data of sockeye salmon timing at the Locks for all years is July 7. Sockeye have been observed at the Locks every year on the first and last day of the standard counting period (June

12-July 31). PIT-tag monitoring and telemetry studies show that sockeye are observed at the Locks outside the set counting periods every year. PIT-tag data show adult sockeye passing the fish ladder between June 8 and July 25. In 2007, the latest date of sockeye observations was September 18.

Steelhead

Steelhead migration timing has been described qualitatively in several reports and has included hatchery and wild counts. NMFS (1996) describes hatchery fish as returning from late November to early February, and the wild fish returning late December through May (Muckleshoot Indian Tribe and USFWS 1976). Observers were used to count steelhead passing through the fish ladder in 1986 and 1987. They documented fish migration from mid-November through the end of April (Gearin et al. 1986, 1988). A fish ladder tunnel counter was used in some years after 1989 and 1990 and confirmed the general timing of January to April (Pfeifer 1990, 1991, 1994). One study reported on fish tunnel counts for 1995 as beginning in January and ending in May (Foley 1995). No PIT-tagged adult steelhead have been detected in the fish ladder. Recent adult steelhead returns into the Cedar River are very low, based on redd surveys (Burton 2006).

3.2.3.2 Habitat Use and Behavior

Adult salmon may pass through the fish ladder, large lock, small lock and saltwater drain outlet as they return to Lake Washington. Adult fish may also use these pathways to recycle through the Locks before heading to spawning grounds. The primary passage routes for adult fish into the Lake Washington system are the fish ladder and the large lock. While adults could theoretically use the smolt flumes to move downstream at the Locks, this has not been observed and this pathway is not discussed.

Studies at the Locks have largely focused on Chinook salmon behavior although some results have been reported for sockeye salmon and steelhead. Fish spend varying amounts of time in different areas of the Locks, depending on species and time of entrance.

Fish Ladder

Most salmon species use the fish ladder to pass through the Locks. Estimates for Chinook salmon (1997-2005) show an annual average of 72% of counted fish using the fish ladder. Between 1995 and 2005 an annual average of 85% of coho salmon adults used the fish ladder (Corps unpub data). The proportion of sockeye passing through the fish ladder ranged from 82 to 91% over 3 years.⁷ Estimates of steelhead using the fish ladder are not available. For each species, the majority of fish pass through the fish ladder during daylight.

In 1976, the fish ladder was remodeled to attract more fish and to facilitate upstream migration. The ladder was redesigned because the WDFW suggested that upstream migration delay may have reduced annual runs of sockeye and Chinook salmon by as much as 20% (Corps 2001a). The ladder was redesigned to have a saltwater attraction flow from the saltwater drain to increase passage of Chinook and other salmon species through the adder.

Chinook Salmon

On average, 72% of adult Chinook salmon use the fish ladder to return to the Lake Washington system. Annually, this ranges from 53 to 95%. Nearly all Chinook in the ladder migrate during daylight (6 am to 10 pm) with peak migration at 4 pm (Corps 2000). Tide stage affects upstream movement of Chinook. In general, adults migrate through the fish ladder during flood tides. In

⁷ 2002, 2007 and 2008.

1999, the rate of Chinook passing through the ladder increased steadily from a 2-foot tide to a maximum 12-foot tide (Figure 31). Fish movement declined at tides over 12 feet. Reduced movement at high tides may be a result of low water velocities at the ladder entrance as it fully flooded by the incoming tide. Some researchers think that fish use the ladder less frequently in years with high water temperatures.



Figure 31

Average Chinook salmon counted in the fish ladder by tidal elevation for August 11 - 31, 1999. Error bars show the standard deviation from the mean

Source: Goetz et al. 2006

Excess water spill over the gates or through a smolt flume has not been found to attract more adult fish to the ladder. The Corps investigated this issue by using observer counts. During periods with flume or gate spill, 17% of the fish used the Locks and 83% used the ladder. During periods without spill, 15% used the Locks and 85% used the fish ladder (Corps 2000). This finding suggests that spill may not change the pathway selection for Chinook salmon. Spill may serve other benefits for adult Chinook, such as drawing fish closer into the Locks, but this has not been investigated. Spill may also increase the area of salt and fresh water mixing below the Locks.

There may be a gender and size bias in the upstream pathways adult Chinook salmon use (E. Warner pers comm). Based on 3 years of acoustic tracking at the Locks, the WDFW and Muckleshoot Indian Tribe believe they have seen more Chinook males and small fish using the fish ladder than females or larger fish. In August of 2000, the Muckleshoot Indian Tribe purse seined the large lock chamber and predominantly captured female Chinook. Perhaps the vertical gates on the fish ladder are either too narrow to pass the largest fish, which are typically females. Or it is possible female Chinook are not using the fish ladder for other reasons. This issue has not been studied. The existing fish ladder entrance is a single vertical slot that is adjusted with tide elevation. At low tides, the opening width can be as narrow as 8 inches, impeding access for larger-bodied Chinook to enter the fish ladder. The Corps is working on replacing the ladder

entrance with a horizontal telescoping weir design to facilitate access for all salmon at all tide levels.

Coho Salmon

Between 1995 and 2005 an annual average of 85% of coho salmon adults used the fish ladder. PIT-tag data from 2004 and 2006 reveal 86 to 98% of coho pass through the fish ladder during the day. In 2007, only three PIT-tagged coho passed the Locks. They all passed during the day (DeVries 2004 and 2007).

Sockeye Salmon

In 2004, 19 adult sockeye salmon passed the fish ladder during the day (86%) and three at twilight (12%) (DeVries 2004). No PIT-tagged adult sockeye were detected in 2005, 2006, or 2007. An estimate of sockeye passing the fish ladder or other pathways through the Locks is not available due to low numbers of sockeye tagged after the 2000 brood year.

Steelhead

There are no data on the number of steelhead that use the fish ladder compared to other pathways through the Locks. Tabor et al. (1994, 1995) studied adult steelhead passage through fish ladder. They tagged fish in Shilshole Bay and tracked them through the Locks. Few of the tagged fish traveled through the Locks during the study period. The steelhead that passed through the fish ladder tended to travel through in about an hour. There was no correlation between spill from the gates and steelhead passing through the ladder.

Tabor et al. hypothesized that salinity in the fish ladder influenced attraction of steelhead to the fish ladder. Their tracking conditions were under periods of moderate to low salinity with instantaneous salinity values of less than 3.3 ppt in the entry pool. This finding has been refuted in other studies that show higher salinities potentially inhibit steelhead passage (e.g. Infometrix 1994, Pfeifer 1994). For the Locks, data are inconclusive on this.

Tabor et al. also cited velocity as a factor influencing attraction of steelhead to the fish ladder. Although discharge in the fish ladder is maintained at a constant 183 cfs, water velocities through the entry pool gate vary depending on tidal stage. The two tagged fish entered the ladder during afternoon-evening flood tides. Another study showed a preference by steelhead for earlymorning-to-midday flood tides (Infometrix 1994).

Discharge at the spillway was tested at the Locks by Infometrix, Inc. In 1995, the Corps began providing 200 cfs attraction flow through the spillway for steelhead from February 1 to April 1. An analysis failed to show any strong correlation between spill volumes and steelhead counts in the ladder (Infometrix 1994).

Large Lock

The large lock is thought to be the second-most used pathway for adult salmon entering the Lake Washington system even though passage opportunities are sporadic. Unless a lockage is occurring, one or both of the lock gates are closed. Between 1997 and 2008, the average number of summer daytime lockages was 4 to 7 (Muckleshoot Indian Tribe unpub data). When long periods of inactivity occur between lockages, it is possible that salmon may be trapped in the chamber for hours.

It is also possible that adult salmon hold in the large lock chamber because of its unique water quality characteristics. Water temperature and salinity in the large lock chamber vary dramatically based on gate openings, lockages and water depth. If the lower gates are open to saltwater, marine waters dominate in the chamber. If the upper gates are open, freshwater intrudes

and nearsurface conditions become more like the Ship Canal. During lockages, the chamber is filled primarily by fresh and brackish water from the locks forebay area. Repeated lockages result in stratification of denser, cooler saltwater below warmer freshwater.

Use of the large lock chamber varies by species. About 28% of Chinook salmon use the large locks with a range of 9 to 47%. Coho salmon average 15% with a range of 9 to 32%. During large sockeye salmon runs, lockmasters have often conducted *fish lockings* when large numbers of adult sockeye hold in the large lock chamber.

Most data on passage through the large lock are for Chinook salmon. Johnson (2005) investigated adult Chinook presence in the large lock entrance using an acoustic camera. Individual fish were observed at the uppermost part of the entrance immediately next to the Ship Canal. No adults were found in lower areas of the entrance by the miter gates and filling culverts.

Acoustic telemetry studies show fish may hold in the Locks for longer than 2 weeks (Goetz et al. 2006). Individual fish may move through the chamber many times. While in the chamber, fish are usually near the bottom, but they infrequently ascend to shallower water (Figure 32). The deep areas of the large lock have cold, saline waters, so fish may be selecting this area as a refuge from warmer waters. It is also possible the water quality within the large lock is appropriate for a fish to make the physiological adjustment to freshwater. The depths most-frequented by adult fish are outside of the depths used by deep draft vessels in the navigation channel. Therefore, these fish are unlikely to be harmed by vessels in the lock.

Small Lock

The small lock is a potential passage route for adult salmon. It is possible that adults may also enter the filling culverts during filling of the lock, but this is not known. Small lock lockages occur frequently during the summer with around 30 lockings per day.

Salmon are infrequently observed in the small lock by Locks workers. A brief investigation of salmon presence in the inlet to the small locks was conducted in September of 2005 (Johnson 2004). An acoustic camera was used to survey the inlet. No salmon were observed in the outer inlet, but within 50 feet of the upper gates a number of salmon were observed milling.

During 2004, the warmest year in the recent past, there was apparently a high mortality rate of sockeye salmon in the Ship Canal and near the Locks (Newell 2005). Anecdotally, during late July and early August lockmasters reported observing 10 to 20 or more dead sockeye salmon locked downstream during small lock lockages.

Saltwater Drain

The saltwater drain inlet is upstream of the Locks. It has two outlets, one to Puget Sound and the other to the fish ladder (see Figure 9). Water entering the drain can reach the fish ladder, and be pumped through the ladder via the diffuser well. Fish primarily travel downstream via the saltwater drain, but adult salmon can potentially enter the drain through the inlet at high enough tides and when the drain is open. Adult salmon can also follow the saltwater drain to the fish ladder and get trapped in the diffuser well. In 2008, the Corps screened the saltwater drain entrance to prevent fish from entering the saltwater drain and getting trapped in the diffuser well.

Pathways

The saltwater drain intake is located 49.5 feet deep at the end of the middle lock wall. It is the deepest passage way through the Locks. Flow in the saltwater drain goes to the fish ladder and diffuser well. Under certain conditions, flow is also allowed out to Shilshole Bay.



Depth of adult Chinook in the large lock chamber over time in 2005. Each point represents the depth of one fish by time of day over a selected 2-week period

Source: F. Goetz upub data

Before 2008, adult salmon entered the intake of the saltwater drain in the forebay of the Locks. The intake was originally screened in the late 1970s, but accumulation of debris required that the screen be removed. If the drain is open, salmon entering the saltwater drain may swim out because velocities within the pipe are within the swimming ability of most adult salmon (mean=5.6 ft/sec). The velocity in the saltwater drain varies, however. If the outlet to Puget Sound is not open, flow is 160 cfs. If the outlet is open, flow reaches 300 cfs.

The Puget Sound outlet can be manually opened and closed by Locks operators. It is only accessible to adult salmon when open for operation. Salmon that enter the outlet may swim into freshwater above the Locks through the inlet. The fish could also access the pipe to the fish ladder and diffuser well.

From 1980 to 1994, an exclusion screen at the Puget Sound outlet prevented adult salmon from entering the saltwater drain. However, the screen prevented salmon smolts from exiting the drain, and several smolts were found impinged on the screen. So the screen was removed 1994. In 1994, the saltwater drain was monitored by video for the first time. Eleven adult Chinook and 1 sockeye salmon were observed. This led to changes in operation of the saltwater drain in 1998 to minimize attraction of fish to the drain outlet. Fish attraction is reduced by closing the drain during summer tides exceeding 7 feet and by operating the drain primarily at night when fewer adults migrate.

Adult salmon and steelhead have been observed in the diffuser well over the past two decades. These fish must have entered the saltwater drain inlet and swam or were carried by swift currents into the fish ladder and diffuser well where they became trapped. In 2004, 350 Chinook and sockeye salmon were found in the diffuser well. Many of these fish were dead. In 2007, 128 adult

Chinook were found in the diffuser well. Sixty of these fish were dead. As a result, in 2008 the Corps placed a fish exclusion screen over the saltwater drain intake. The screening project is temporary until a more permanent system to prevent salmon entrapment can be designed and funded.

Adult Salmon Use

One study continuously monitored fish use of the saltwater drain intake from April 24 to September 30, 2000, using both underwater video and split-beam hydroacoustics (Biosonics 2001). Adult Chinook salmon were first observed holding at the intake on July 21. In September, an estimated several hundred adults were shown in this area. Video and acoustic data showed adults moving in and out of the saltwater drain intake. Fish are at risk of entrainment if they are carried too far into the structure to resist the rapidly accelerating flow when the outlet to Puget Sound is open. The monitoring for this study showed this effect. Adults were observed in the inlet only during daylight hours with a peak at midday. No estimate of total entrainment was available.

Another study monitored short-term movements of salmon in and around the saltwater drain intake with the outlet to Puget Sound off (160 cfs flow) and with the outlet on (300 cfs flow) (Johnson 2004). When the saltwater drain was off, salmon were observed making random horizontal and vertical movements near the drain intake. Fish were not aligned with any particular flow. When the saltwater drain was turned on, fish aligned with the flow from the drain. This study result shows that fish behavior near the intakes is mainly affected when the saltwater drain is open to the Puget Sound outlet.

Residence

Most fish hold upstream from the Locks for a period before migrating through the Ship Canal and into Lake Washington. The amount of time spent in this area varies by species, date, and water temperatures in the Ship Canal. Chinook are thought to reside at the Locks longer than the other species. Sockeye salmon generally move beyond the Locks quickly. Coho migrating up the fish ladder may reside above the Locks for more than 10 days. Little is known about adult steelhead upstream of the Locks.

Chinook Salmon

Hydroacoustic and temperature tagging studies provide insight into adult Chinook salmon residence at the Locks. Chinook salmon show a wide variety of behaviors at the Locks and use a wide range of thermal habitats (Goetz et al. 2006). Adult Chinook salmon remain in the Locks area for 17 to 19 days, on average (Table 6) (Fresh et al. 1999, 2000; Timko et al. 2002). Most of this time is spent near the saltwater drain intake and the forebay. Residence times vary by when fish pass the Locks. In some years, adult fish migrating earliest in the season stay the longest, while later arrivals stay at the Locks for a shorter period. Fish entering the fish ladder and tagged behaved as follows (Timko et al. 2002):

- Late July: an average of 35 days in the project area
- Early to mid-August: 20 days
- Late August: 15 days
- Early to mid-September: 5 to 10 days

From 1998 to 2000, the longest residence time for any tagged adult fish at the Locks was 52 days. Although one study reported that residence time was not related to fish size or gender (Timko et al. 2002), another found that females spend more time at the Locks (Fresh et al. 2000).

Table 6

Year	# fish tagged	Residence time at Locks in days standard deviation (SD)		Migration time, Locks to UW hatchery in days (SD)
		Male	Female	Males and Females
1998 – late	52	17.4 (10.4)	19.1 (13.5)	1.1 (0.7)
1999 – early	49	19.7 (13.0)	21.5 (12.8)	0.75 (1.1)
1999 – late	48	12.8 (8.8)	16.5 (11.9)	0.90 (1.3)
2000 – early	56	23.0 (10.6)	17.8 (10.3)	1.3 (0.7)
2000 – late	33	11.5 (7.7)	17.6 (11.1)	1.2 (0.9)

Mean residence and migration times from acoustic telemetry studies at the Locks*

*Early group is from the first 50% of the run. Late group is from the second 50% of the run. In 1998, only late fish were tagged. The distance from the Locks to the UW hatchery is 8.5 miles

Source: K. Fresh unpub data

Adult Chinook salmon hold in three main areas once they pass the Locks:

- 1. In the cool water refuge in front of the saltwater drain intake
- 2. Upstream of the small lock
- 3. Upstream of the large lock (Fresh et al. 1999, 2000; Timko et al. 2002)

Fish may move between these areas or travel upstream from the Locks and return to these areas. Adult Chinook salmon are in the large lock entrance or saltwater drain area 80% of the time. Timko et al. (2002) report that Chinook spend 66% of the time in front of the saltwater drain, 12% in the small lock, 7% in the large lock, and 15% in the fish ladder, Ship Canal, or other places.

Environmental and biological factors such as water quality, lock operations, and other fish may impact adult Chinook salmon residency upstream of the Locks. There are several suggested explanations for variability of residence time. The mean depth of Chinook above the Locks is 23 or 24 feet. The water in this area is brackish, with salinity values of 0.5 to 12 ppt. Temperatures at this depth range from 68.9 to 70.7°F (20.5-22°C) and DO levels here are between 6.7 and 7.5 mg/L during Chinook residence. These conditions are not likely to negatively impact adult salmon. However, further into the Ship Canal water quality decreases. Thus, the relatively good conditions in the area just upstream of the Locks may be most suitable for holding before migration through the poor conditions.

Locks residency may also be influenced by water temperature. Fresh et al. (1999) report that Chinook salmon move from the Locks immediately after nearsurface temperatures drop below 71.6°F (22°C). The percentage of adults leaving the Locks by August 27 was 0% in 1998 and 25% in 1999. There is a strong, positive relationship between total degrees of water temperature above 66.2°F (19°C) and increased residence time at the Locks (Figure 33).



Residence time (°C) for adult Chinook salmon at Locks in days compared to degree days above 66.2°F (19°C) per day

Source: Fresh et al. 1999, Timko et al. 2002

Relationships between residence time and days above 68°F (20°C) and 69.8°F (21°C) were not as strongly associated. It is possible that water temperature in the Ship Canal can be too warm for fish migration, so fish hold in the cool water refuge. Water temperatures in the Ship Canal generally reach temperatures known to stress adult salmon (over 68°F 20C°) near the end of July.

Adult Chinook may also be attracted to the velocity near the saltwater drain. Due to continual intake of brackish water, the drain is also the only area with velocity upstream of the Locks.

Adult residence upstream of the Locks may also be related to number of fish. As the population of adult salmon above the Locks exceeds a certain threshold, fish begin to use the area upstream of the small lock (F. Goetz pers comm). Holding times at the Locks may also be related to readiness for spawning. Fish that enter freshwater later in the season may be more ready to spawn than those that entered a few weeks earlier. Once fish reach a certain maturity, they are ready to spawn and will move up in natural systems (Quinn 2005). Another factor that may impact residence time is physiological readiness for freshwater. Additionally, the duration of spawning for Chinook in the Cedar River is shorter than the duration of passage at the Locks. This may be why Chinook hold for varying periods in the Locks.

In a study that investigated correlations between environmental and biological variables and residence time, most variables did not impact residence at the Locks (Timko et al. 2002). However, the Corps is using an ecological model to investigate further the correlation between environmental and biological variables and fish location.

Fallback

Fish occasionally pass back downstream of the Locks. This behavior is called *fallback*. Fallback is normal behavior for adult salmon searching for their natal streams. Fish that fallback may either recycle through the Locks or are strays that travel to another system. Fallback can result in fish injury or death, migration delays, and biases in fish counts at the Locks.

Rough estimates have been made of fallback for adult Chinook salmon at the Locks. Sockeye fallback is much less than that for Chinook. Little information is available on coho salmon fallback at the Locks. No estimates of fallback for steelhead are available. For all species, the consequences of fallback at the Locks are unknown. The major fallback route at the Locks is presumed to be the large lock.

Telemetry data show that annually 2 to 40% of the acoustic-tagged Chinook salmon adults fell back below the Locks one or more times (K. Fresh unpub data, F. Goetz unpub data). Other estimates for this fall back range from 11 to 13% for PIT-tagged fish (DeVries and Hendrix 2005b) and 10 to 27 % from 1998 to 2000 (Muckleshoot Indian Tribe unpub data).

PIT-tag results suggest 9% of coho salmon adults fall back through the Locks (DeVries 2007). In 2004, 18% of sockeye salmon were detected in the fish ladder more than once.

For adult Chinook salmon, fallback is related to average residence times at the Locks. Acoustic data from 1999 show that fallback fish had a longer residence time at the Locks (23.5 days) than did non-fallback fish (15 days) (Goetz 2006).

Recycling

A portion of adult salmon fallback and re-enter the Locks. This behavior is called *recycling*. PITtag and acoustic telemetry studies provide information on recycling for Chinook, coho, and sockeye salmon. Estimates of recycling from PIT-tag and acoustic tracking are likely underestimates because fish may recycle through pathways other than the fish ladder.

Chinook salmon recycling at the Locks varies by year. Between 2005 and 2007, 9 to 18% of tagged fish recycled using the fish ladder (DeVries and Hendrix 2005b, Goetz et al. 2006). In 2005, recycling time varied from 2 and 20 days. In 2006, recycling times ranged from 1 to 8 days, while in 2007 it took up to 25 or 30 days (DeVries 2007). Adult Chinook may recycle from 1 to 4 times (Fresh et al. 2000). Recycling once is most common (DeVries and Hendrix 2005b).

PIT-tag readers in the fish ladder show that low proportions of adult coho and sockeye salmon recycle at the Locks. In 2006, three coho (9%) were detected twice in the fish ladder. In 2004, 18% of the sockeye detected in the fish ladder passed twice. Recycling times for these fish ranged from 1 to 54 days. However, these data are based on low proportions of PIT-tagged juveniles and even lower proportions of returning adults. Sockeye fallback appears to be primarily recycling. Sockeye recycling rates are not constant over the run timing but generally occur towards the end of the run. The highest rates of observed sockeye recycling are 12% per week (E. Warner pers comm). Sockeye recycling is thought to be related to flow over the spillways because rates consistently peak when the combined flow through the slides drops below 100 cfs.

Straying

Some fish that pass through the Locks are strays, or fish that have entered the wrong system in their search for their natal stream. These fish leave again to head for other river systems. Straying was noted for adult Chinook salmon (Fresh et al. 1999, 2000; Goetz et al. 2006) and steelhead (Tabor et al. 1994 and 1995). One study found that around 20% of adult Chinook that passed did not enter Lake Washington (Fresh et al. 1999, 2000). Another study reported that approximately 20% of fish tagged in the large lock chamber and released below the Locks exited from the area

and were not detected in the Lake Washington basin (Goetz et al. 2006). Other estimates of strays entering the Locks are lower; from 1998 to 2000 strays accounted for 11 to 14% of tagged Chinook (Muckleshoot Indian Tribe unpub data).

3.2.3.3 Survival Risks

The following section describes how warm waters might impact adult salmon. The overall impact of the Locks on adult salmon survival is still largely unknown. To date, studies have focused on water temperature. Water temperature is hypothesized to play a part in the timing, behavior, and survival of salmon at and beyond the Locks. The timing of freshwater entry of some species (e.g. adult Chinook and sockeye salmon) also coincides with some of the warmest water temperatures of the year. Adult salmon migrating through the Locks or fish ladder during mid-summer experience a temperature change of up to 16°F (9°C) as they move from cold, marine water into warm freshwater (Goetz et al. 2006). In other systems, thermal blockages to migration begin at 64.4°F (18°C) (MacDonald et al. 2000). Mid-summer water temperatures above the Locks can range up to 73.4°F (23°C).

Thermal Gradients in the Fish Ladder

At the Locks, as adult Chinook salmon go up the fish ladder they experience an abrupt thermal gradient. They are migrating from marine water temperatures of 53.6 to 60.8°F (12-16°C) to freshwater temperatures of 68 to 73.4°F (20-23°C). High water temperatures in the ladder may alter route choice for adult salmon and may be associated with lower returns to Lake Washington. As mean water temperature increases above 68.0° (20°C) there is a hypothesis that the number of adult Chinook counted at the fish ladder declines. Reduced counts during periods of high temperatures may be attributed to other factors such as ocean survival of fish during warm years and natural pattern of entrance into the system.

Water Quality Upstream of the Locks

Water quality parameters such as temperature and DO may inhibit adult salmon movement away from the cool water refuge. Telemetry studies suggest that salmon opt for cooler temperatures rather than higher DO down to almost 3 mg/L (D. Beauchamp pers comm). Researchers used 2 years of telemetry data to compare water temperatures for 1998 and 2000 (K. Fresh unpub data, Timko et al 2002). They identified 66.2°F (19°C) as a temperature that most fish move through and 71.6°F (22°C) as the boundary beyond which fish do not migrate. In general, water temperatures above 66.2°F (19°C) correlate with fish staying longer at the Locks.

Salinity near the saltwater drain ranges from about 3 to 12 ppt near the bottom (46 ft) to 0 ppt at 17 feet. DO ranges from approximately 5.3 to 7.7 mg/L near the bottom (46 ft) to 6.8 to 8.3 mg/L at 17 feet. Thus, the relatively cold bottom waters were associated with higher salinity and lower DO. Based on estimates of 5.4 to 7.5 mg/l DO at 18 feet and higher levels near the surface, it does not appear that oxygen levels alone would have inhibited adult Chinook salmon migration. However, oxygen concentration at mid-depths may change from year to year and the combined effect of moderately low oxygen at mid-depths and high temperature may contribute to the holding of adult Chinook near the Locks (Corps 2000, 2001a, Timko et al. 2002).

The water temperatures in the Ship Canal in 1998 were the highest recorded in the last two decades with daily average peaks of 74.3°F (23.5°C) in early August (Figure 34).



Average, daily nearsurface water temperature (°C) in the Ship Canal during the adult salmon migration 1995-2007. Red line shows estimated temperature tolerance for adults, 70°F (21°C)

Time of departure (percent passing at a particular temperature) was compared for 1998 and 2000 to nearsurface stream temperatures at the Ballard Bridge (Figure 35). Adult fish migrated in 2000 through a fairly narrow temperature range, 63.5° to 70.7°F (17.5-21.5°C), with 80% of the fish passing at temperatures between 66.2° to 68.9°F (19-20.5°C). This narrow band is interesting given the fairly broad range of temperatures during the adult Chinook salmon migration period (late July through early October). In 1998, adult fish migration was spread over a much broader range of temperatures, between 57.2 to 71.6°F (14-22°C). This range reflects the broad range of migration departure dates fish selected in 1998, with some migrating late in October. In contrast to 2000, temperatures during the expected primary migration period (August/September) were exceptionally high. Most fish migrated during peak temperatures, with over 50% exiting at temperatures exceeding 69.8°F (21°C), a temperature typically expected to be a barrier to migration.

The combined effect of the Locks and the stratification of the water column leads to water quality conditions that may adversely affect adult salmon, especially in years of high summer temperature (e.g. 1998). The following initial hypotheses have been developed to address this situation:

- High water temperatures and/or low DO upstream of the Locks are a barrier that adults will not swim through
- Area within 1,000 ft of the Locks is a necessary cool water refuge where adults can safely hold until temperatures drop
- Modifications in lock operations or changes in the structural configuration of the Locks can improve the quality of the cool water refuge

So far, acoustic tracking and lock operation experiments have not provided enough information to change operations. Future modeling work may inform future changes at the Locks.



Locks exit times for percent migrating at temperature for acoustic tagged fish in 1998 (top) and 2000 (bottom) relative to Ship Canal nearsurface temperatures (°C) at Ballard Bridge

3.2.4 Ship Canal and Lake Union Migration

Very little is known about adult salmon migration through the Ship Canal and Lake Union. There are some data on Chinook and sockeye salmon from tagging studies (Fresh et al. 1999, 2000; Newell and Quinn 2005). In general, adult salmon do not spend a lot of time in the Ship Canal.

Typically, Chinook pass through the Ship Canal in 2 or fewer days (Fresh et al. 1999, 2000). Sockeye also have a rapid migration through the Ship Canal, averaging only 4 days (Newell and Quinn 2005).

Adult salmon passage through the Ship Canal and Lake Union is thought to be influenced by warm water temperatures in the Ship Canal, among other things. Both sockeye and Chinook salmon may be impacted by these high temperatures. Sockeye tend to spend longer in the Ship Canal, but also keep to a tighter temperature range than Chinook. Chinook enter the Ship Canal later in the season when temperatures are higher, however.

3.2.4.1 Passage Timing and Rates

Each year, adult Chinook salmon pass through the Ship Canal and Lake Union from the end of July through the beginning of September. Adult coho salmon pass through that area from late September through November. Adult sockeye salmon travel through the area roughly from June through the beginning of August (Newell and Quinn 2005). Adult steelhead may pass through the Ship Canal from February through June. Rates for adult Chinook and sockeye are around the order of a number of days. Rates for adult coho and steelhead are unknown.

The total time of adult Chinook salmon migration from the Locks to arrival at tributary spawning grounds can take up to 55 days, but averages less than 30 (Fresh et al. 2000). The total time decreases as the season progresses (Table 7). This timing mimics patterns in Locks residence time, which also decreases as the season progresses and could reflect maturation level of the fish. Once fish leave the Locks, most fish move through the Ship Canal in less than 1 day, varying from 4 hours to 7.7 days. In 1998, the average migration time was 1.9 days with a minimum of 0.15 days to a maximum of 22.85 days (K. Fresh unpub data). Larger Chinook migrate faster through the Ship Canal than do smaller Chinook. Male Chinook migrate faster than females.

Tag date	1999	2000	Average
Jul 31	25.0	31.7	28.35
Aug 15	19.5	22.7	21.1
Aug 31	12.8	15.2	12.8
Sep 15	9.8	6.7	8.25

Table 7

Average time (number of days) by tag date for Chinook salmon migrating from the Locks to tributary spawning grounds

Source: Fresh et al. 1999, 2000

Most sockeye spend only a few days in the Ship Canal before reaching Lake Washington. Fish tagged in 2003 spent an average of 4.05 days in the Ship Canal (Newell and Quinn 2005). It is thought that the sockeye move through the Ship Canal as quickly as possible in order to reach Lake Washington where they can select cooler temperatures by dropping below the lake thermocline.

3.2.4.2 Habitat Use and Behavior

The habitats used by adult salmon migrating through the Ship Canal and Lake Union are unknown. Only one report shows that Chinook salmon are generally found near depths of 20 feet in the Ship Canal (Fresh et al. 1999).

3.2.4.3 Survival Risks

Survival risks in the Ship Canal and Lake Union have not been extensively studied. However, the high water temperatures in the Ship Canal are a concern. High temperatures may cause direct death, prespawning mortality or sublethal effects that impact spawning success. High water temperatures may impact all species, but only temperatures for Chinook and sockeye salmon have recently been studied. Coho salmon and steelhead do not migrate through the Ship Canal and Lake Union during peak summer temperatures. Thus, these species may be less impacted by high water temperatures in these areas.

Water Quality

Summer water temperatures in the Ship Canal and Lake Union consistently exceed values that are physiologically stressful to salmon (> 68°F or >20°C) (see Figure 23). The Ship Canal and Lake Union are relatively homogenous in water temperature.

The temperatures fish experience migrating through the Lake Washington basin have been tested by placing archival temperature loggers on adult Chinook and sockeye salmon. These data can provide insight into the types of habitats fish use. Presumably, if a range of temperatures are available, fish will move to the most comfortable temperature or the best temperature for their life-history stage. In Lake Washington, results from monitoring adult Chinook and sockeye salmon suggest that each species uses unique strategies for thermoregulation.

Adult Chinook salmon experience a variety of temperatures when migrating from the Locks to their spawning grounds (Figure 36). In the Ship Canal and into Lake Washington, Chinook may move between temperatures from 48 to 72°F (9-22°C). Wild Chinook experience a wider temperature range on a daily and seasonal basis than do hatchery Chinook.

Sockeye salmon exhibit temperature patterns that correspond to rather precise movements throughout the system. During summer 2003, Newell and Quinn (2005) tagged 257 adult sockeye salmon with temperature loggers as the fish ascended the fish ladder between July 16 and 18, which is near the typical peak of migration. Of these, 38 tags were recovered from dead fish on the spawning grounds or from fish caught in tribal fisheries in Lake Washington or Lake Sammamish. These fish spent a short time in relatively high temperatures at the Locks and in the Ship Canal and Lake Union (Figure 37). The range in temperatures that these adult sockeye experienced is smaller than the range that adult Chinook experience in the Ship Canal.

Summer DO levels in Lake Union may also be a problem for adult salmon. DO levels less than 4.25 are critical for salmon. The lake is generally under low-DO conditions from June until October (Figure 38). These low-DO concentrations in the lake may prevent salmon from using the water column below a 33-foot depth. Warmer surface temperatures later in July may generally affect use of the upper portions of the water column. DO levels may even fall below 1 mg/L near the bottom of Lake Union (King County 2008).



Temperatures (°C) experienced by two adult Chinook salmon tagged in 2005 at the Locks. Solid blue line is a fish that returned to lower Cedar River; dashed red line is a fish that returned to the Landsburg area of the Cedar River

Source: F. Goetz unpub data



Figure 37

Temperatures (°C) experienced by an adult sockeye salmon in Lake Washington basin Source: Newell and Quinn 2005



Dissolved oxygen (DO) concentrations at 3 feet (1 m) and 33 feet (10 m) at the Fremont Cut, northwest Lake Union, from 2000 to 2007

Source: King County

Enroute and Pre-Spawning Mortality

Enroute mortality has been observed at the Locks for upstream migrating adult sockeye salmon primarily during years with high summer temperatures. In 1998 and 2004, observers noted dead sockeye salmon near the Locks and in the Ship Canal. In 2004, dozens to hundreds of dead adult sockeye were noted during late July during peak water temperatures. During the record high temperatures in 1998, dead prespawned Chinook were observed in the Ship Canal (enroute) and the Sammamish Slough (pre-spawning) (Fresh et al. 1999). Newell and Quinn (2005) also found a lower proportion of recovered, tagged fish during a higher temperature year than a low temperature year, suggesting higher mortality. This matter deserves further study.

Studies at the Locks have not evaluated the incidence of disease and whether it may contribute to early mortality. However, the close proximity, high water temperatures, and long-duration of holding at the Locks by adult Chinook salmon could be risk factors. Salmon holding in poor quality habitats can become stressed and crowded (Schreck and Li 1991, Matthews and Berg 1997). Under these conditions, outbreaks of diseases such as *Flexibacter columnaris* (Holt et al. 1975, Wakabayashi 1991) and *Ichthyophthirius multifiliis* (Ich) are possible (Bodensteiner et al. 2000). This has not been documented in the Lake Washington basin.

Sublethal Effects

Physiological condition and body energy levels impact spawning. Studies at the Locks have not evaluated the fitness or survival of gametes of adult salmon migrating through high temperatures. It is possible that the high temperatures are impacting spawning success. These effects have not been studied.

3.2.5 Lake Washington

Each adult salmon species spends various times in Lake Washington. Adult Chinook salmon return to fresh water later than do adult sockeye salmon. Adult Chinook are generally more mature than adult sockeye upon entering the Lake Washington basin. Sockeye salmon complete their maturation in the lake. However, Chinook that are destined to spawn in tributaries to Lake Washington spend some time in the lake before swimming upstream to spawn.

During the summer, Lake Washington is stratified. Temperatures in the surface layer vary from 64.4 to 77°F (18-25°C). The thermocline lies at 32 to 65 feet. Temperatures in the lower layer of the lake vary from 46.4 to 50°F (8-10°C) (Nowak and Quinn 2002).

3.2.5.1 Timing and Rates

Adult Chinook salmon generally enter Lake Washington between August and September. Adult coho salmon enter the lake later in the year, from September through November. Sockeye enter the lake as early as June and stay until October. Steelhead may be in Lake Washington from February through June. Travel rates for fish in the lake are not known. In many cases, adult salmon hold in a small area within the lake before entering the rivers for spawning.

3.2.5.2 Habitat Use and Behavior

Once adult salmon enter Lake Washington, they are neither avoiding predators nor seeking prey, and the temperature is not confounded by interactions between depth and salinity (Quinn et al. 1989). Presumably, adult fish remain in a temperature range that is ideal for maturation or holding (Randall et al. 2002). Sockeye salmon inhabit cooler water in the lake (Newell and Quinn 2005), but Chinook salmon do not (K. Fresh pers comm). Acoustic tracking and temperature tagging studies have provided some insight into adult fish behavior in the lake. Other than that, little is known about the specific habitat use of adult salmon in Lake Washington.

Chinook Salmon

Adult Chinook salmon may enter Lake Washington days before moving into rivers for spawning. The average time spent by adult Chinook in Lake Washington in 1998 was 2.9 days (Fresh et al. 1999). For Sammamish watershed fish, the average was 4.9 days. Some Chinook move into the Sammamish River, where they hold in deep pools for an extended period before moving upstream to spawn (R. Tabor pers comm).

Acoustic and temperature tags on adult Chinook salmon show that these fish inhabit waters of varying depth and temperature. Temperature tag studies show temperatures occupied by fish in the lake range from 48 to 70°F (9-21°C) (F. Goetz unpub data). The adult Chinook do not seem to seek out cool waters, but will hold near the mouths of the Cedar and Sammamish rivers in warm, shallow waters.

Sockeye Salmon

Adult sockeye salmon enter Lake Washington well in advance of spawning. They enter freshwater in the summer and spawn in October and November (Newell and Quinn 2005). Adult sockeye spend on average 85 days in Lake Washington. The range is from 57 to 132 days. Most adult sockeye spend their time in Lake Washington below the thermocline where temperatures are cooler. In fact, 92 to 95% of temperature detections in the lake were between 48.2 and 51.8°F (9-11°C). These temperatures are only found at depths of 59 to 98 feet, so sockeye are spending their time in Lake Washington in very deep waters.

Acoustically tracked sockeye data show that fish move throughout the lake shortly after entering. Within about a month, fish congregated near the mouth of the Cedar River (Newell et al. 2007). This spot is where they held at depth, in cooler waters, until they traveled upstream to spawn.

3.2.5.3 Survival Risks

Survival risks to adult salmon in Lake Washington are unknown.

Chapter 3

4. Salmon Use of the Lake Washington Watershed

From freshwater streams to the ocean, salmon occupy many habitats throughout their lives. Salmon respond in several ways to the dynamic structure of the Pacific Northwest ecosystem and the natural and human-induced stresses that influence their survival at all life stages. Management of salmon in the Lake Washington basin is difficult because many factors impact salmon within the area.

The research gathered in the LWGI and through other studies presents valuable information for improved management of salmon in the Lake Washington basin. This section summarizes research findings for each species in the basin. It combines these findings with survival risks and a timeline in the form of a conceptual model for each species. This section also addresses the changing climate of the area and how salmon may be impacted by it. The information presented here is meant to assist management of the species within the basin in coordination with the focus area goals and objectives described in Chapter 5.

4.1 Conceptual Models for Lake Washington Salmon

This section presents a conceptual model for each salmon species covered in this report. Conceptual models are simplified views of known behavior and risks for each species. The models should be used as tools for building a framework for adaptive management and monitoring programs.

The models convey the story of each species by summarizing the current knowledge, including habitats, prey, and life-history concerns during each month the fish live in the Lake Washington basin. Although the models present the best knowledge about each species, they do not show all the variability that can occur within the basin. Instead, the model should be considered a diagram of salmon habitat use and survival risks throughout the year.

4.1.1 Chinook Salmon

Chinook salmon in the Lake Washington watershed are generally considered ocean-type Chinook. They spend less than 1 year rearing in freshwater and some amount of time rearing in estuaries (Wydoski and Whitney 2003, Healey 1991, Myers et al. 1998). Adults spend 3, 4, or 5 years in the ocean before migrating back to the Lake Washington basin to spawn. Both Puget Sound resident and ocean populations occur.

4.1.1.1 Juvenile Chinook Salmon

Juvenile Chinook enter Lake Washington as fry between January and early April (Paron and Nelson 2001, Seiler et al. 2005, Volkardt et al. 2006). A portion of the juvenile population remains in rivers into April and moves into the lake as fingerlings or smolts during May and June (Paron and Nelson 2001, Seiler et al. 2005). See the conceptual model for Chinook salmon in the Lake Washington basin (page 95).

Freshwater

The juvenile Chinook salmon that enter Lake Washington as recently emerged fry use the lake as rearing habitat for 1 to 4 months before migrating to the marine environment. Fry are small and inhabit the shoreline areas from early February to late May (Warner and Fresh 1998, Tabor et al. 2004a). Fry initially prefer sand or gravel substrates in water less than 3 feet deep and seem to avoid overwater structures (Tabor and Piaskowski 2002). They also prefer to use stream deltas and shorelines with overhanging vegetation during the day but move into open areas at night (Tabor et al. 2004a). In late May and June, juvenile Chinook salmon —predominantly large individuals—begin to use deeper areas (Martz et al. 1996, Warner and Fresh 1998). These fish consume epibenthic insects (e.g. chironomids) early in the season and zooplankton later on when they move into deeper areas (Koehler et al. 2006).

The Chinook salmon that rear for a few months in their natal streams and enter the lake later in the spring generally spend just a few weeks in shallow-water areas before moving out into deeper water. Risks to juvenile Chinook in Lake Washington include risk from predators such as cutthroat trout, sculpin, bass and northern pikeminnow. They may also be negatively impacted by the large number of overwater structures, lack of shallow, gently sloping shorelines and high water temperatures in the shallow areas of the lake.

Outmigration

Juvenile Chinook salmon typically migrate out of the Lake Washington basin between late May and early July, with a peak in June (Fresh and Lucchetti 2000). This range incorporates yearly variation in outmigration timing between Cedar and Sammamish river smolts. Hatchery Chinook smolts may be delayed for release until they grow larger, which lengthens the migration period. Generally, differences in migration timing are less than 1 week for hatchery and natural original Chinook smolts (P. DeVries pers comm).

Predators in the Ship Canal and Lake Union may also impact outmigrating Chinook salmon. The many overwater structures in the area increase the likelihood that predators can capture the outmigrating fish. Water quality, particularly temperature, affects outmigrating Chinook. High water temperatures in the Ship Canal and upstream of the Locks push juvenile Chinook into cooler, deeper water. These fish may not exit through the smolt flumes, even if the flumes are operating, and instead seek deeper routes such as the large locks.

It is unclear how many Chinook are subject to high water temperatures in the Ship Canal and upstream of the Locks. Fish that leave the basin near the end of outmigration season are subject to water use conflicts at the Locks. In dry years, smolt flumes may be turned off during the end of the Chinook smolt outmigration. Chinook must then outmigrate through the saltwater drain, the Locks, or the fish ladder.

Juvenile Chinook salmon generally hold upstream of the smolt flumes and Locks for days to a couple of weeks. They pass the Locks in June and July. When the fish pass the Locks, they can use several different pathways. Lock filling culverts pose a treat to juvenile Chinook because the fish might become trapped or descaled in the large pipes. Fish are also exposed to high salinities and very cool waters directly after passing through the Locks.

Estuary

The importance of estuarine rearing habitat is well-documented for ocean-type juvenile Chinook salmon (Congleton et al. 1981, Levy and Northcote 1982, Kjelson et al. 1982). The Lake Washington watershed is an engineered system without natural estuarine habitats. Rerouting the Cedar River into Lake Washington prevents newly emerged fry from migrating directly into

JUVENILE CHINOOK SALMON



ADULT CHINOOK SALMON



This figure shows a conceptual model for Chinook Salmon in the Lake Washington Basin. Life-history stage, location and characteristics are shown on the horizontal bars. Life-history stage can be reviewed for adult and juvenile Chinook Salmon by calendar year.

November	December
Death and incubatio	n of next generation.
N	o adult fish in system.
	1
ibutary	
3.2.5)	

Conceptual Model for Chinook Salmon

estuarine habitats and thus eliminates at least one key habitat that is typically used by ocean-type Chinook salmon.

After passing through the Locks, Chinook salmon may inhabit inner Shilshole Bay for up to 2 months (Simenstad et al. 1999). There is likely some rearing occurring in this area. Chinook consume zooplankton and some drift insects in this area. Concerns are adequate habitat and temperature and salinity shock from traveling from the warm, freshwaters of the Ship Canal directly into cool, salty waters of Shilshole Bay. The impact of this change on Chinook has not been studied in nearshore areas and Puget Sound.

Chinook salmon may rear in pelagic regions of Puget Sound from July through September. In those regions, they are susceptible to predation by large piscivores.

4.1.1.2 Adult Chinook Salmon

Adult Chinook salmon return to the Lake Washington basin to spawn after 3 to 5 years in marine waters. See the conceptual model for Chinook in the Lake Washington basin (page 97).

Estuary

Adult Chinook salmon migration through estuaries is relatively unknown and acknowledged as a critical data gap for the Lake Washington basin (Fresh et al. 2005). It is hypothesized that adult Chinook undergo their physiological adaptation to freshwater in the estuary downstream of the Locks and/or in the brackish waters above the Locks. However, no studies document the process. It is thought that adult Chinook enter Shilshole Bay as early as June and may remain there for some time before passing through the Locks. Predation by marine mammals is a possible survival risk for adult Chinook downstream of the Locks, but this has not been explicitly documented.

Immigration

Adult Chinook salmon generally pass the Locks through the fish ladder or in the large lock during lockages. Chinook pass through the Locks from mid-June through September, but the peak migration is usually around mid-August. These fish hold above the Locks for 17 to 19 days on average before migrating through the Ship Canal into Lake Washington.

Adult Chinook salmon migration through the Ship Canal occurs very quickly, ranging from 4 hours to 8 days. Little is known about the habitat and behavior of Chinook in the Ship Canal, although depths of 20 feet are reported in one tracking study (Fresh et al. 1999).

High water temperatures and low DO above the Locks in the Ship Canal pose risks to returning Chinook salmon. Studies documenting specific lethal or sublethal effects have not been conducted.

Freshwater

Adult Chinook salmon generally enter Lake Washington between August and September. Travel rates for fish in Lake Washington are unknown. In many cases, adult salmon hold in a small area within the lake before entering the rivers for spawning, encountering a wide range of temperatures while they mature.

4.1.2 Coho Salmon

Coho have not been well-studied in the Lake Washington system. Juvenile coho salmon typically reside in freshwater stream habitats for 15 to 18 months before outmigration. Coho usually spend 1.5 years in marine waters before returning to the Lake Washington system. Both Puget Sound resident and ocean populations occur.

4.1.2.1 Juvenile Coho Salmon

Juvenile coho salmon use a variety of habitats for rearing including lakes, small tributaries, perennially wetted areas, off-channel ponds, sloughs, and swamps (Cedarholm and Scarlett 1981, Hartman and Brown 1987, Swales et al. 1988, Bryant et al. 1996, Pollard et al. 1997). In the Lake Washington basin, juvenile coho rear in their natal streams for up to 1 year before entering Lake Washington. See the conceptual model for coho salmon in the Lake Washington basin (page 99).

Freshwater

In the Lake Washington watershed, coho salmon mostly rear in stream and river habitats. However, small numbers of juvenile coho spend some time rearing in Lake Washington (R. Tabor pers comm). Snorkel surveys in Lake Washington in 2001 revealed that coho fry in the lake were associated with small tributaries. In most years, most natural origin coho smolts from the Cedar River enter Lake Washington in May and June (Volkardt et al. 2006).

Outmigration

Age 1+ coho salmon outmigrate from Lake Washington from late April through late May, with a peak usually in early May (Fresh and Lucchetti 2000). It is thought that coho generally move through the lake and into Shilshole Bay more quickly than Chinook salmon because of their large size upon entry into Lake Washington. However, considerable variation occurs on a yearly basis (Seiler et al. 1981, Blankenship et al. 1983).

Most coho salmon tagged and released in the Ship Canal pass the Locks within 2 weeks. Habitats and behavior during this period are largely unknown. Survival risks for coho during outmigration include potential predators in the Ship Canal, entrainment and descaling at the Locks, and salinity and temperature downstream of the Locks.

Estuary

Outmigrant yearling coho salmon tend to move rapidly through estuarine habitats as compared with other species (Emmett et al. 1991). Downstream of the Locks, little is known about coho salmon, although they are found in Shilshole Bay (Simenstad et al. 1999). It is unknown whether or not these fish are from the Lake Washington system, however. In 2001, a few PIT-tagged coho salmon smolts were recaptured below the Locks. These fish appear to spend less time than Chinook salmon smolts in Shilshole Bay before entering Puget Sound (DeVries et al. 2005). Juvenile coho may spend their first summer, from July through September, rearing in pelagic regions of Puget Sound, where they consume zooplankton and may be subject to predation.

4.1.2.2 Adult Coho Salmon

Adult coho salmon generally return to the Lake Washington basin after 1.5 years in marine waters. See the conceptual model for coho salmon in the Lake Washington basin (page 99).

Estuary

Very little is known about coho salmon in Shilshole Bay. Coho may inhabit the bay from August through October, although this has not been documented. Marine mammal predation on coho is a known survival risk to fish in this area.

Immigration

Coho salmon pass through the Locks from the end of August through November. Most adult coho pass the Locks through the fish ladder. The peak return of coho usually occurs in late September.

Little is known about adult coho or steelhead upstream of the Locks. Neither observations nor studies have documented any effects of poor water quality on coho.

Freshwater

Adult coho salmon enter the lake from September through November. Very little is known about habitat, behavior, or survival risks to coho in Lake Washington. It is likely that they hold in the lake near tributary mouths for some time before entering spawning streams after heavy rains in November.
JUVENILE COHO SALMON



ADULT COHO SALMON

January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October
								•	Spawnin
Death and incub	ation of next generation		Puget	Sound & Open Ocean	Residency, 1.5 Years			Migration to nata	l streams
No	adult fish in system								
Converies									
spawning									
			Ĩ						



Concerns: pinniped predation, temperature and salinity (Secs. 3.2.1 and 3.2.2)

Gather below Locks and fish ladder.

Travel both pathways.

This figure shows a conceptual model for Coho Salmon in the Lake Washington Basin. Life-history stage, location and characteristics are shown on the horizontal bars. Life-history stage can be reviewed for adult and juvenile Coho Salmon by calendar year.



Conceptual Model for Coho Salmon

4.1.3 Sockeye Salmon

Sockeye salmon in the Lake Washington watershed are lake-rearing type. Lake-rearing sockeye typically spend 1 to 3 years in lacustrine (lake) habitats before seaward migration (Burgner 1991). These fish spend a little over 1 year in the Lake Washington watershed before heading to marine waters. Sockeye spend 1, 2, or 3 years in marine waters before returning to the Lake Washington system.

4.1.3.1 Juvenile Sockeye Salmon

Sockeye salmon fry enter Lake Washington from the Cedar River between mid-January and mid-May (Seiler et al. 2005). See the conceptual model for sockeye salmon in the Lake Washington basin (page 101).

Freshwater

Sockeye salmon enter Lake Washington at a very small size (about 1 to 2 in). They generally spend over 1 year rearing in deep water (limnetic) areas of the lake. A few sockeye spend some time in shallow water (littoral areas) or riverine habitats, but limnetic environments are very valuable to juvenile sockeye. Martz (1996) found higher growth rates in juvenile sockeye in limnetic areas than in littoral areas. Sockeye in Lake Washington are known to school more than other species. Beauchamp et al. (1999) reported that both individuals and schools of sockeye salmon located at or below the thermocline during the day in July. Schools disbursed at dusk and were located between 50 and 60 feet throughout the night. Eggers (1978) noted that sockeye salmon move closer to the lake surface when light intensity is low.

Small numbers of sub-yearling sockeye have also been observed at the Locks (Warner 1996). This indicates that a few juvenile sockeye rear in the Lake Washington watershed for less than 1 year.

Outmigration

Juvenile sockeye salmon leave the lake from late April through early June with peaks typically occurring in May (Fresh and Lucchetti 2000). Gustafson et al. (1997) report that sockeye outmigration usually occurs at night, but upon entering the Locks, juvenile sockeye become more diurnal in their movements (Corps unpub data). While most sockeye juveniles typically spend at least 1 year in a lake before smolting, a portion of the sockeye population leave as young-of-year fish. Yearling sockeye are observed to pass the Locks first, followed by young-of-year sockeye (DeVries et al. 2003). Scale analyses suggest that the young-of-year outmigrants survive poorly and do not significantly contribute to adult returns.

Estuary

Little is known about sockeye salmon smolts beyond the Locks. Generally, sockeye move quickly through estuaries (Quinn 2005). Sockeye juveniles are rarely caught in offshore regions of Puget Sound, suggesting that sockeye migrate rapidly to the open ocean after entering marine waters (D. Beauchamp unpub data).

JUVENILE SOCKEYE SALMON



(Secs. 3.1.2 to 3.1.4)

Concerns: entrainment, descaling, salinity and temperature at the Locks and Ship Canal

ADULT SOCKEYE SALMON



ber	November	December
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Years		

er	November	December
ng		Death and incubation of next generation.
Spawi off-ch	n in Cedar River or annel habitats	No adult fish in system.

Conceptual Model for Sockeye Salmon

This figure shows a conceptual model for Sockey Salmon in the Lake Washington Basin. Life-history stage, location and characteristics are shown on the horizontal bars. Life-history stage can be reviewed for adult and juvenile Sockey Salmon by calendar year.

4.1.3.2 Adult Sockeye Salmon

Adult sockeye salmon generally return to the Lake Washington basin after 1 to 3 years in marine waters. See the conceptual model for sockeye salmon in the Lake Washington basin (page 101).

Estuary

Very little is known about adult sockeye use of the Shilshole Bay estuary. It is possible that sockeye spend some time here in May and June before migrating upstream through the Locks, but this has not been recorded. Predation by marine mammals may be a survival risk to sockeye in this area.

Immigration

The sockeye salmon immigration generally ranges from June through July. The median date of sockeye salmon passing the Locks is July 7. Most sockeye use the fish ladder. Some sockeye pass the Locks via up lockages. Unlike Chinook salmon, sockeye generally quickly move beyond the Locks.

Sockeye salmon tagged in 2003 spent an average of 4.05 days in the Ship Canal (Newell and Quinn 2005). It is thought that sockeye move through the Ship Canal as quickly as possible in order to reach Lake Washington where they can select cooler temperatures. Water temperatures in the Ship Canal during July and August are generally the highest temperatures of the year. Little is known about the habitat and behavior of salmon while migrating through the Ship Canal.

Enroute mortality has been observed directly and indirectly for upstream migrating adult sockeye salmon primarily during years with high summer temperatures (K. Fresh pers comm). This matter has not been extensively studied, however. This finding underscores the need to link water quality in the Ship Canal with lethal and sublethal effects on adult salmon.

Freshwater

Sockeye enter the lake as early as June and stay until October or November. Sockeye spend an average of 85 days in the lake with a range from 57 to 132 days (Newell and Quinn 2005). While in the lake, sockeye stay in deep, cool waters. Sockeye generally move throughout the lake shortly after entering, but congregate near the mouth of the Cedar and Sammamish rivers after about 1 month in the lake (Newell et al. 2007).

4.1.4 Steelhead/Rainbow Trout

There are few remaining steelhead in the Lake Washington basin. The fish may spend 2 years rearing in freshwater before migrating to marine areas. Steelhead spend 2 to 3 years in the open ocean before returning to the basin.

4.1.4.1 Juvenile Steelhead/Rainbow Trout

Juvenile steelhead from the Lake Washington watershed rear in streams for 1 to 2 years before migrating seaward (Fresh and Lucchetti 2000). See the conceptual model for steelhead in the Lake Washington basin (page 103).

Freshwater

Although this population is known to use Lake Washington, detailed information is not available on their life-history. Steelhead smolts in the 1980s migrated into Lake Washington in April and May and fed heavily on *Daphnia* for about 1 month before migrating to sea (Beauchamp 1995).

JUVENILE STEELHEAD



Synthesis of Salmon Research

	November	December
	L	
Yea	'S	
	November	December
	November No adult fish in syste	December
	November No adult fish in syste	December m
	November No adult fish in syste	December m
	November No adult fish in syste	December
	November No adult fish in syste	December m
	November No adult fish in syste	December
	November No adult fish in syste	December
	November No adult fish in syste	December
	November No adult fish in syste	December
	November No adult fish in syste	December
	November No adult fish in syste	December
	November No adult fish in syste	December
	November No adult fish in syste	December

Conceptual Model for Steelhead

This figure shows a conceptual model for Steelhead in the Lake Washington Basin. Life-history stage, location and characteristics are shown on the horizontal bars. Life-history stage can be reviewed for adult and juvenile Steelhead by calendar year.

Outmigration

Juvenile steelhead outmigration spans April to May and peaks in early May (Fresh and Lucchetti 2000). Little is known about their habits, behaviors, or survival risks while outmigrating.

Estuary

Little is known about the estuarine transition for juvenile steelhead from the Lake Washington watershed.

4.1.4.2 Adult Steelhead/Rainbow Trout

Adult steelhead return to Lake Washington to spawn after 2 to 3 years in marine waters. See the conceptual model for steelhead in the Lake Washington basin (page 103).

Estuary

Little research has been done on steelhead in Shilshole Bay. Sea lion and seal predation on steelhead in the late 1970s was blamed for further depleting an already small population. Since that time, the Corps has tried to limit marine mammal predation on steelhead and other adult salmon downstream of the Locks.

Immigration

Steelhead begin their upstream migration early in the year. They may arrive at and pass through the Locks from January and May. It is likely that most steelhead pass through the fish ladder, but no estimates are available of fish passing the ladder versus through other areas of the Locks. Researchers have not investigated the habitats, behaviors, or survival risks to steelhead while migrating through the Ship Canal. Water quality in the Ship Canal does not pose as great a risk to steelhead as it does to the other salmon because steelhead migrate through in the spring time when waters are still cool and DO is not yet a problem.

Freshwater

Adult steelhead may be in Lake Washington from February through June. No other information exists on adult steelhead in Lake Washington.

4.2 Climate Change: Adapting Conceptual Models

Future environmental conditions in Lake Washington and the Ship Canal will eventually reflect climate change. The primary effects of climate change on salmon in Lake Washington are most likely to result from increasing water temperature. Changes in precipitation are less likely to affect summer water-quality conditions in Lake Washington because of flow regulation and the dominant effect of air temperature on water temperature. This section describes the ways that temperature and precipitation may affect salmon life-history stages that depend on lake residency.

4.2.1 Climate Change and Salmon in the Lake Washington Basin

Anadromous fish evolve and adapt to a naturally variable environment. Francis and Mantua (2003) suggest that natural climate variability itself is not a primary concern to sustainability of salmon stocks. They propose that impacts to salmon are more likely when climate change is superimposed on other human-caused changes in salmon habitats. Battin et al. (2007) suggest that habitat deterioration associated with climate change may make salmon recovery targets harder to

attain. The Lake Washington basin is heavily developed and plagued with human-caused changes.

Overall, the warm phase of the Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) has been used as a surrogate to assess potential effects of global warming on salmon (Mote et al. 2003). The warm phase has been generally linked to diminished salmon abundance in the Pacific Northwest. However, the effect in abundance is much weaker for Puget Sound stocks than coastal stocks. The mechanisms for these responses are not well understood.

Predicted changes attributable to climate in the Lake Washington Basin include the following (Mote et al. 2003, Edmunds et al. 2003, Snover et al. 2005, Palmer 2007):

- Increased summer water temperatures
- Increased winter precipitation and peak flows
- Earlier spring runoff

Snover et al. (2005) predict that climate change impacts to Puget Sound salmon will occur through elevated summer water temperatures, increased winter flooding, and decreased summer and fall stream flows. Population modeling in the Snohomish River basin indicates that climate change impacts to salmon productivity in freshwater may be greatest because of peak flows during the incubation period, elevated water temperatures during the late fall pre-spawning period, and minimum flows during the spawning period (Battin et al. 2007). Increased summer water temperatures can affect juvenile and adult salmon, while increased winter precipitation will primarily impact incubation. Earlier spring runoff periods could impact smolt outmigration and returning adults.

Climate change impacts may also indirectly impact salmon in the Lake Washington basin. Changes in life-history timing for key species may cause mismatches between peak food supply and demand by juvenile salmon. Climate change may also impact piscivorous animals and nonnative species in the system. These ecological shifts will have ramifications for salmon, but have not been studied.

4.2.1.1 Temperature Increases

Water temperature changes impact the Lake Washington basin in many ways. Water temperatures have already increased in the basin, making it likely that temperatures will continue to rise. For example, from 1964 to 1998 Lake Washington surface water temperatures have warmed by 0.11°F (0.063 °C/yr) (Arhonditsis et al. 2004). These changes will adversely affect salmon in the system.

Historically, maximum daily air temperatures in the Pacific Northwest are under 66°F (18 °C). However, air temperatures increased 1.4°F (0.8°C) during the 20th century (Mote et al. 2003). Air temperatures in the Pacific Northwest are projected to further increase during the 21st century (Mohseni and Stefan 1999). Predicting air temperature increases can be difficult and is generally done with complex modeling. One model predicts air temperature increases of 0.9 to 4.5°F (0.5-2.5°C) by the 2020s and 2.7 to 5.8°F (1.5-3.2°C) by the 2040s (Mote et al. 2003). Another predicts increases up to 7 or 8°F (4.0 or 4.5 °C) in the Pacific Northwest by the 2090s (Edmonds et al. 2003). A third model predicts that warming in the region may average 0.5 to 1.0°F (0.3-0.6°C) per decade (Mote et al. 2005). Recent analyses of projected summer air temperature increases on the Cedar River are 3.6 to 8°F (2-4°C) by 2075, with maximum daily air temperatures reaching 70°F (21°C) (Climate Variables Database). Water temperature trends generally reflect air temperature trends in the Pacific Northwest. In fact, changes in water temperature are already observable in the Lake Washington basin. Since 1950, a steady increase in shallow waters of the lake has been documented annually (Edmondson et al. 2003) and in September (Quinn et al. 2002). One study calculated an average summer warming rate from 1964 to 1998 of about 0.063 °C/yr in the upper 33 feet of Lake Washington (Arhonditsis et al. 2004). These changes are associated with an increased duration of the summer stratification period. Currently, stratification begins 16 days earlier and ends 9 days later than it did historically (Winder and Schindler 2004a).

Water temperature data through 2007 imply that the change in stratification could be associated with warming near-surface, spring water temperature trends (Figure 39).⁸ Temperature decreases in the fall also appear to occur later (Figure 40). The extended duration of stratification appears to reflect long-term climate warming and variability associated with the PDO and El Niño–southern oscillation (ENSO) (Winder and Schindler 2004a,b).

Figures 44 and 45 show dates when temperatures in Lake Washington exceeded salmon tolerances for various life stages. Analysis of cumulative thermal stress in shallow waters, represented by degree days above 68°F (20°C), indicates a general increase in thermal loading of Lake Washington between 1964 and 2006.

Water entering the Ship Canal is drawn through the Montlake Cut, which is about 30 feet deep and draws primarily from Lake Washington's surface waters. Therefore, a water temperature increase similar to that for Lake Washington is expected in the Ship Canal.

Increased air temperatures are also expected to increase evapotranspiration from Lake Washington. This change could result in less water available for fish passage at the Locks.

4.2.1.2 Winter Precipitation Increases

Winter precipitation is expected to increase in the Pacific Northwest. However, winter air temperatures are expected to increase. This will also lead to reduced snowpacks and higher winter flows. The hydrologic effects of reduced snowpack volume could lead to a reduction in stored water to municipalities and for wildlife. Wiley (2004) projects that combined inflows to the primary water sources for SPU will decrease at an average rate of 6% per decade between 2000 and 2040. SPU is preparing for the impacts of climate change by increasing operational flexibility and continuing efforts to reduce demand. However, instream flow necessary for protection of salmon in the Cedar River also depends on water supply from Chester Morse Lake. The latest predicted effects of climate change on water supply should not affect the City's ability to meet the Cedar River instream flow obligations in the foreseeable future.

Increased winter flows could impact the survival of embryos in the basin (Battin et al. 2007). Higher peak winter flows may lead to more scour in areas where fish typically spawn. This will *wash out* embryos that would probably be safe from scour under lower flows. Also, the number of young Chinook salmon entering Lake Washington may be influenced by stream flow. When late winter and early spring stream flows are high in the Cedar River, juvenile Chinook tend to move downstream into Lake Washington. When stream flows are more moderate during this period, a higher proportion of juveniles may rear in the river.

A decreased snowpack in the region will decrease water available for late juvenile salmon outmigrants and returning adults. To assist passage of both groups, operational changes may be needed for the saltwater drain and fish ladder during summer and early fall when adult return.

⁸ These temperatures approximate health and migration threshold criteria reported for juvenile and adult salmon (McCullough 1999; Hicks 2002; Quinn et al. 2002).



Figure 39

Estimated first date in spring nearsurface water temperatures in Lake Washington 15°, 18°, 19°, and 20°C near Madison Park (1960-2000)

Source: D.E. Schindler unpub data



Figure 40

Estimated last date in summer/early fall spring nearsurface water temperatures in Lake Washington equaled or exceeded 15°, 18°, 19°, and 20°C near Madison Park (1960-2008)

Source: D.E. Schindler unpub data

4.2.1.3 Earlier Spring Runoff

Earlier spring runoff from warming temperatures in the region may impact salmon in the Lake Washington basin. Climate change modeling in 2007 projected that average Cedar River flow in April to June will decline 3% by 2050 and 12% by 2075 compared to historic flow (Palmer 2007). June to August flows are predicted to decline 28% by 2050 and 37% by 2075.

The following are some thoughts on how earlier spring runoff will impact juvenile salmon:

- Earlier spring runoff may encourage juvenile salmon to move out of their natal streams earlier than they would under normal conditions. The fish may run into prey shortages in Lake Washington.
- Earlier spring runoff may also impact water management for salmon at the Locks. More water earlier may mean that the Locks need to spill more water earlier to maintain water levels in the Lake. There may also be less water available during the juvenile outmigration season for smolt flume operation.
- Decreased flows through the fish ladder and decreased lockages to improve water storage during warm summer months may impact adult salmon emigration.

4.2.2 Juvenile Salmon and Regional Climate Change

Changes in lake water temperature are the main climate change that will impact juvenile salmon in the Lake Washington basin. While in Lake Washington, juvenile salmon consume zooplankton very heavily during certain life stages. Zooplankton consume phytoplankton, which depend on sunlight, water temperature, and water clarity for production. The temperature effects of climate change may already be affecting juvenile salmon in the lake by impacting plankton peakpopulation times and abundance (Winder and Schindler 2004a,b). Advanced timing of stratification is linked to an earlier *spring bloom* of phytoplankton. Currently, juvenile salmon food is not limited in the lake (Beauchamp et al. 2004, Koehler et al. 2006). However, changes in plankton timing and abundance could affect feeding patterns for these fish. Juvenile salmon may respond by changing to alternate food sources

With the warming of Lake Washington and Ship Canal, it is possible that juvenile salmon could become more susceptible to predation. Arhonditsis et al. (2004) hypothesize that earlier annual warming may lead to increased predation of juvenile outmigrant salmon by non-native warmwater species such as smallmouth bass, northern pikeminnow, and lake-dwelling cutthroat trout. Bass get more active and effective at preying on salmon when temperatures approach 68°F (20°C). The present balance between outmigration timing, predation efficiency, and water temperature could shift to increased predation-related mortality with water temperature increases.

4.2.3 Adult Salmon and Regional Climate Change

Increases in summer and early fall water temperatures may affect the timing of upstream migration of adult salmon. Effects will vary by species. Adult Chinook and sockeye salmon are the most likely to be impacted by climate change, but coho salmon and steelhead may also be impacted.

Chinook salmon may be the species most sensitive to water temperature increases. Juveniles outmigrate in the late spring, and adults pass through the Ship Canal in August and September. Both of these life-history stages already encounter temperatures higher than published tolerances. Adult Chinook also spend long periods holding above the Locks in the Ship Canal and are found at a variety of temperatures in Lake Washington.

Sockeye adult migration peaks in early July before maximum temperatures in the Ship Canal. Sockeye migrate more quickly through the Ship Canal than do Chinook and immediately seek cold water at depth in Lake Washington. Coho and steelhead are theoretically better off than sockeye or Chinook because they migrate during cooler periods. Coho and steelhead also spend more time in streams, which may be a factor in their survival.

However, increased water temperatures may lead to reduced use of the fish ladder and increased use of the large lock by returning adults. Exploratory analyses suggest that fewer adult Chinook salmon pass upstream through the fish ladder in years when nearsurface Ship Canal temperatures are warmer (DeVries 2007). As temperatures continue to warm, there will be increasing concern about lethal and sublethal effects of temperature in Lake Union and the Ship Canal.

It is not clear if hatchery-origin Chinook salmon adult passage timing will be affected by climate change. Spawning timing for hatchery-origin fish can be manipulated by hatchery selection practices (Quinn et al. 2002). Earlier spawning by hatchery-origin fish contrasts with the warming trends expected with climate change. Perhaps hatchery selection pressures can override selection pressures from temperature increases. However, at some point, emigration of all adult fish could pass a thermal threshold in Lake Union. If so, hatchery-origin fish would be as affected by climate change as would natural origin Chinook.

The biggest risk to sockeye salmon with climate change is adult movement through the Ship Canal and Lake Union. Given that temperatures in Lake Washington are often over 68°F (20 °C) during sockeye emigration, and that the warm period is extending longer into fall, perhaps over the long term, sockeye migration will shift. Earlier migrants would hold longer in Lake Washington than they currently do. Later migrants would coincide with Chinook and coho salmon passage timing at the Locks. The impact of changes in migration timing by sockeye is unknown.

Natural spawning fish might adapt to prolonged warmer fall water temperatures by migrating later than hatchery fish. Adult coho salmon pass the Locks when water temperatures are less stressful. Because water temperatures are generally more favorable in the Ship Canal during peak coho migration, coho adults are the least likely of the four salmon species to be affected by changes in water temperature associated with climate change.

Little is known or hypothesized about adult steelhead and climate change in the Lake Washington basin. Steelhead may not be as affected as the other species because they migrate into the system early in the year.

5. Management Actions and Further Study

Studies in the LWGI and by others have identified much about salmon as they move through the Lake Washington basin. Although some management actions may be taken with current knowledge, in some cases further research is necessary. The goal for all species is to increase survival and life history diversity and maintain productivity while in Lake Washington, the Ship Canal, and Locks.

Given what is known about salmon in the Lake Washington system, the following actions are recommended for implementation, continuation, investigation, and consideration. In some cases, actions address the same areas as issues and need to be analyzed together to evaluate their cumulative benefits and impacts.

5.1 Objectives and Actions for Juvenile Salmon

Increasing the survival of juvenile salmon can be achieved through improving habitat in Lake Washington and the Ship Canal, improving passage through the Locks and decreasing water temperature and salinity gradients between Salmon Bay and Shilshole Bay.

5.1.1 Objective: Improve Habitat for Juvenile Salmon in Lake Washington

Concerns in the littoral zone of Lake Washington are wide-ranging. They include shoreline armoring, overwater structures, lighting, and invasive species such as Eurasian water milfoil. Littoral zone habitats and the impact of urbanization are well understood. For this objective, research and actions are primarily related to improving Chinook salmon habitat. Research in Lake Washington should shift to monitoring the outcomes of salmon habitat improvement projects. Such projects should be examined for their benefit to rearing fry and outmigrating smolts and for potential impacts on predators.

Management Actions

- <u>Continue removal and replacement of shoreline armoring</u> and creation of shallow water habitat with overhanging native vegetation. These actions will improve rearing conditions for Chinook fry. Focus these activities in the southern end of Lake Washington.
- <u>Continue to improve habitat around overwater structures</u> by removing structures, reducing their footprint or improving light penetration.
- <u>Implement removal of in-water debris and riprap</u> to reduce available predator habitat. This may be done with by filling riprap with pea gravel. However, that technique should first be tested.
- <u>Prioritize daylighting tributaries and tributary mouths</u> such as Mapes Creek.

Proposed Studies

• Evaluate the effectiveness of habitat restoration efforts on juvenile salmon survival.

- Evaluate different types of piers and their effect on juvenile salmon movements.
- <u>Investigate the influence of predation on juvenile salmon survival</u> and the relative contribution from fish and avian predators. Research shows varying levels of predation on juvenile salmon in Lake Washington. Predator population numbers are still largely unknown, making predation estimates somewhat unreliable.
- <u>Monitor the impact and abundance of introduced fish (smallmouth bass, rock bass, etc.)</u>, aquatic plants (i.e. Brazilian elodea seems to expanding) and invertebrates (crayfish, mussels, etc.).
- <u>Study the impact of artificial lighting</u> on juvenile Chinook and their predators (especially birds). The study should include direct reference to bridge lighting and these other predators.
- <u>Investigate the impact of poor water quality</u> on juvenile salmon. Upland uses have a dramatic effect on the survival of salmon. Pollution from stormwater outfalls, combined sewer overflows, boats, and aerial deposition decrease the quality of water in Lake Washington.

5.1.2 Objective: Improve Habitat for Juvenile Salmon in the Ship Canal and Lake Union

Some uncertainty surrounds habitat preferences of juvenile salmon in the Ship Canal and Lake Union. As in Lake Washington, there are opportunities to improve habitat and reduce favorable conditions for predators. Monitoring should be conducted to ensure that these actions improve habitat for juvenile salmon.

Management Actions

• <u>Implement habitat improvement projects</u> to support juvenile salmon survival and boost salmon prey resources while reducing favorable habitat for predators.

Proposed Studies

- <u>Investigate survival and predation rates</u> in the Ship Canal and Lake Union. Studies to date suggest relatively high survival and low predation rates early in the outmigration season. However, these estimates include several sources of error, and studies on late outmigrants have not yet been conducted. Year-to-year variability and tracking study efficiencies contribute to error in predation estimates. The influence of avian predators should also be examined.
- <u>Further investigate the habitat preferences</u> of smolts. Studies to date provide inconclusive results on habitat use of smolts in Lake Union and the Ship Canal. Research by Celedonia and Tabor from 2004 through 2008 will provide information on this.
- <u>Study the effect of water temperature on migration depth and predation pressure in the</u> Ship Canal. High water temperatures may increase predation on juvenile salmon. The potential for reducing water temperatures in the Ship Canal through human modifications (e.g. piping in water from a cool water source) should also be considered. This may be the most important solution to the threat of long-term climate change.
- <u>Evaluate the effectiveness of habitat restoration in Lake Union and the Ship Canal on</u> juvenile salmon survival.

- <u>Consider relaxing the state-set salinity standard</u> for the Ship Canal. The current authorized operation of the Locks includes managing saltwater intrusion to maintain salinity levels below 1% at the University Bridge. Relaxing the Washington State standard could lead to an increased volume of more saline water upstream of the Locks and may improve surface water flow out of the system. More saltwater upstream would increase estuarine habitat availability.
- <u>Study the apparent decline of entrance into the Montlake Cut</u> later in the outmigration season. Investigate temperature, water clarity, predator abundance, predators, fish behavior, and how these factors influence juvenile Chinook behavior.
- <u>Investigate factors that influence Chinook smolt use</u> of Lake Union, and the consequences of this holding. Do the fish hold because they are inhibited (e.g. Fremont Cut is a barrier) or because it provides more rearing habitat? Is there an elevated predation risk associated with holding here? Does holding here impact fitness or survival?
- <u>Investigate the impact of poor water quality</u> on juvenile salmon. Upland uses have a dramatic effect on the survival of salmon. Pollution from stormwater outfalls, combined sewer overflows, boats, and aerial deposition decrease the quality of water in Lake Union and the Ship Canal.

5.1.3 Objective: Improve Passage through the Locks for Juvenile Salmon

Several adaptive management actions implemented since 1995 have improved smolt passage conditions at the Locks. The largest remaining uncertainties at the Locks are the proportion of outmigrants passing through the various routes available and the survival of fish in each passage route.

Management Actions

Actions are grouped by area of the Locks.

Strobe Lights

- a. <u>Continue to use strobe lights at the large lock filling culverts</u> to reduce entrainment.
- b. Install automated controls to trigger the strobe lights before large lock operation.
- c. <u>Investigate installation of more strobe lights</u> on the Locks to move fish away from potentially harmful areas such as filling ports in the large lock.

Saltwater Drain

- a. <u>Implement minimal use of the saltwater drain</u> at temperatures above 66°F (18.9°C) to reduce potential entrainment.
- b. <u>Investigate deepening and cleaning the sump</u> near the saltwater drain.
- c. <u>Consider constructing a new saltwater drain</u> designed to improve the efficiency of removing the intrusive saltwater and to use water more efficiently. The new drain would replace the existing saltwater drain and prevent entrainment of salmon.
- d. <u>Consider closing off the saltwater drain</u> intake discharging directly into Puget Sound to use water more efficiently during juvenile fish passage. Salinity control

could be accomplished with discharge through the fish ladder, flumes, and spillways. Open the saltwater drain intake discharging to Puget Sound only when state water quality levels risk being exceeded.

Lock Chambers

- a. <u>Continue to use intermediate-to-slow fill rates</u> to further reduce entrainment into the lock filling culverts.
- b. <u>Implement replacement of Stoney gate valves</u> to maintain or reduce current slow fill rates.
- c. <u>Investigate maximal use of the small lock</u> to reduce entrainment into the large lock filling culverts and to set up flow velocities to attract juveniles to the smolt flumes.
- d. <u>Investigate how false lockages at the small lock</u> could attract juveniles to the flumes.
- e. <u>Continue standard operating procedures for the large lock</u> operations for avoiding use of the lower large lock chamber alone during upstream lockages.
- f. <u>Investigate reducing the number of lockages to conserve water</u> for fish passage through the flumes when temperatures allow.
- g. <u>Construct a new saltwater barrier</u> in the large lock to improve the efficiency of the barrier to reduce the use of the saltwater drain. Three alternatives to consider are 1) a fixed height, shorter barrier, 2) a variable height barrier, and 3) a shorter barrier to complement the existing barrier.
- h. <u>Consider scheduled and delayed lockages</u> (i.e. wait until lockages are fully filled with boats), and fee-based lockages as ways to reduce lockage demand and provide more water for fish passage. (This is a consideration for adult salmon also.)
- i. <u>Consider lowering the target lake elevation to 19.5 feet project datum to increase</u> water availability for smolt passage and saltwater drain operation. The current authorized operation of the Locks includes managing lake elevations to remain between 20 and 22 feet project datum. (This is a consideration for adult salmon also.)

Smolt Flumes Spillway

- a. <u>Continue to close smolt flumes or reduce flume flow</u> at night to provide additional water for daytime use and to conserve water for later summer.
- b. <u>Continue to use at least two flumes</u>, as conditions allow, for fish passage including one of the two large flumes.
- c. <u>Continue to decrease flume operations when surface water temperatures exceed</u> <u>some threshold between 66.2 to 69.8°F</u> or in mid-July when smolt outmigration is mostly complete.
- d. <u>Implement a reduction in flume use</u> 1 or 2 weeks before the late May/early June lunar apogee and increase flume use in the days after the apogee to use water more efficiently, particularly in dry years.
- e. <u>Investigate redesigning the smolts flumes</u> and their installation in the spillway to reduce maintenance and installation costs.
- f. <u>Investigate the benefits of adding additional flumes</u> to the spillway.
- g. <u>Investigate replacing the smallest flumes with a larger flume</u> (90 or 130 cfs) to increase fish passage.

- h. <u>Continue adaptive management of smolt flumes and lockages</u>, as defined in the guidelines for smolt flume operation provided to the lock master each spring.
- i. <u>Implement strategic use of spill in years of high water availability</u> to improve fish passage. Monitor the results of this action.
- j. <u>Consider providing deep passage routes</u> as an alternative to the large lock for juvenile salmon.
- k. <u>Consider turbulence induction</u> to attract juveniles towards safe passage routes. This has been proposed for dams by (Coutant 2001). Assuming that the smolt flumes provide overall a safer route than the large lock, turbulence induction might attract migrants to the flumes.

Proposed Studies

- <u>Plot daily emigration curves</u> for each anadromous salmon species. The curves would improve understanding of the proportion of populations subject to survival risks such as predation and high water temperature over the course of the season.
- <u>Count the proportion of juveniles that pass through the small and large lock chambers</u>. It is unclear how juvenile salmon may be affected by lock chamber filling or draining once they are in the lock chambers during a lockage. Fish may be pulled into filling ports and entrained into the filling culverts during a lock draining.
- <u>Assess the survival of smolts passing over the spillway and through the flumes</u>. While these are thought to be a safe passage routes through the Locks, studies have not been conducted.
- <u>Assess use of the saltwater drain and effects of drain operation</u> on smolt distribution. Smolts near the saltwater drain intake may be impacted by operations of the saltwater drain. Smolts have been found in the diffuser well at the end of the saltwater drain, but the potential impact to smolts is unknown. A temporary screen placed at the entrance by the Corps in 2008 may prevent smolts from becoming trapped in the saltwater drain.
- <u>Assess the survival of smolts downstream</u> of the Locks. Downstream, smolts may be affected by temperature, salinity shock, or predation from birds or fish.
- <u>Investigate ways to reduce smolt entrainment rates</u> into the large lock filling culverts when temperatures are greater than 70°F (20°C). Filling volume could be manipulated to reduce smolt entrainment rates. This action can be accomplished in two ways: 1) scheduling large lockages to periods around high tide or 2) using the upper lock chamber only.
- <u>Evaluate the hydrodynamics</u> in the Ship Canal when the smolt flumes are turned off for the night

5.1.4 Objective: Decrease Water Temperature and Salinity Gradients between Salmon Bay and the Ship Canal

This is expected to reduce stress during passage and acclimation in this area. Smolts appear to spend little time in the freshwater-saltwater mixing zone downstream of the Locks. However, it is also the area where the least amount is known about fish behavior and needs. Any actions aimed at improving estuary conditions should be monitored to identify the true benefit and improve future actions.

Management Actions

- <u>Continue shoreline and riparian restoration</u>, including overwater structure removal.
- <u>Investigate enlarging connections</u> between Salmon Bay and freshwater tributaries to enlarge the estuary.
- Investigate increasing lockages to decrease temperature and salinity gradients.

Proposed Studies

- <u>Investigate salinity</u>, <u>DO and temperature downstream</u> of the Locks in relation to juvenile salmon movements. Identify areas of potential thermal or saline shock or areas of salt and fresh water mixing.
- Implement monitoring of rehabilitation activities in Salmon Bay.

5.2 Objectives and Actions for Adult Salmon

Increasing the survival of adult salmon may be achieved through the following:

- Increasing pathways for adult salmon between Shilshole Bay and the Ship Canal
- Decreasing water temperatures and salinity gradients between Shilshole Bay and the Ship Canal
- Increasing the area of estuarine conditions around the Locks

5.2.1 Objective: Increase Volitional Pathways between Shilshole Bay and the Ship Canal

There is very little area with salt- and freshwater mixing above or below the Locks. If pathways between Shilshole Bay and the Ship Canal are opened so adults can easily and safely move between fresh- and saltwater or select appropriate conditions, this may improve conditions for fish. In natural systems estuaries are places for adult salmon to acclimate to freshwater, hold during maturation or wait for favorable environmental conditions in the spawning streams.

Management Actions

- <u>Investigate creation of a new, safe upstream/downstream pathway</u> for adult salmon by combining a permanent resolution to entrapment within the diffuser well with modifications to the saltwater drain. This may include decoupling the fish ladder flow from the saltwater drain. Salmon would then have the option to use the saltwater drain to return to Salmon Bay or as an additional upstream pathway.
- <u>Investigate building a separate channel</u> for fish passage around the Locks or removing the dam at the Locks and replacing it with a fish-passable structure. These alternate pathways would be designed to increase areas of salt and fresh water mixing.

Proposed Studies

- <u>Investigate salinity, DO, and temperature down- and upstream</u> of the Locks. Determine what factor drive salmon movement in the Locks.
- <u>Develop a temperature model</u> for the Ship Canal and Lake Union that includes effects of lock operations. Using the model, investigate whether there are ways to lower peak summer temperatures in these areas.
- <u>Investigate increased large lock lockages</u> as an alternate pathway to the fish ladder.

• <u>Investigate adult salmon in lock filling conduits</u>. Determine what conditions are in the conduits and the impacts on fish.

5.2.2 Objective: Decrease Water Temperature and Salinity Gradients between Shilshole Bay and the Ship Canal

This will reduce stress during passage and acclimation in this area. Temperatures in the Ship Canal are often higher than tolerable limits for adult salmon.

Management Actions

- <u>Continue limiting the hours of Locks operation</u> to the peak times of passage, typically between 6 am and 11 pm.
- <u>Continue efficient water use</u> and adaptive water management at the Locks.
- <u>Continue use of the real-time saltwater monitoring system</u> to operate the saltwater drain efficiently.
- <u>Investigate flexibility in water allocation</u>, including options for getting cooler water into the Ship Canal.
- <u>Conduct regular night-time large lock lockages</u> to maintain temperature, DO and salinity upstream of the Locks for adult salmon.
- <u>Consider investigating active cooling of a passage corridor or refuge habitat</u> in the Ship Canal. Use modeling to predict a method for doing this.

Proposed Studies

- <u>Determine what is causing sockeye die-offs</u> in the Ship Canal. The leading hypothesis is that mortality is related to high water temperatures and temperature-related causes. Basic analyses are needed to evaluate the feasibility of reducing near-surface water temperatures by 3°F (1°C) or more in localized areas of the Ship Canal. If feasible, such a measure could provide a less stressful migration corridor for smolts and adults.
- <u>Investigate cumulative temperature stress</u> on adult salmon through the Locks and Ship Canal. Investigate the effects of high water temperatures for adults on egg survival.

5.2.3 Objective: Increase Area of Estuarine Conditions around Locks to Improve Adult Fish Habitat

This objective is aimed at increasing appropriate areas for acclimation to freshwater above and below the Locks.

Management Actions

- <u>Investigate building a separate channel</u> for fish passage around the Locks or removing the dam at the Locks and replacing it with a fish-passable structure. Each alternate pathway would combine salt- and freshwaters.
- <u>Increase the area of cool, high-DO water upstream</u> of the Locks to allow more space for adults in delay on a trial basis. This could be completed by increasing lockages and better management of the saltwater drain.

• <u>Continue to spill from the smolt flumes</u> to decrease salinity below the Locks, when water is available.

Proposed Studies

- Investigate adult salmon use of Salmon Bay and the area downstream of the Locks.
- <u>Consider lowering the target lake elevation</u> to 19.5 feet to increase water availability for smolt passage and saltwater drain operation. The current authorized operation of the Locks includes managing lake elevations to remain between 20 and 22 feet project datum. Bathymetry should be investigated as part of this study to ensure a net gain and/or improvement of littoral habitat.
- <u>Consider relaxing the state-set salinity standard</u> for the Ship Canal. The current authorized operation of the Locks includes managing saltwater intrusion to maintain salinity levels below 1% at the University Bridge. Relaxing the standard could lead to an increased volume of more saline water upstream of the Locks and may improve surface water flow out of the system.
- <u>Consider estuary habitat enlargement</u>. Increasing estuarine habitat characteristics in Ship Canal would allow more fish movement between fresh- and saltwater environments. This could benefit smolts and adults.
- <u>Consider installing a new locks facility</u> at the Fremont Cut. This would increase estuarine habitat and reduce the length of water with elevated temperatures that salmon must traverse.
- <u>Consider investigating the recreation</u> of the Black River between Lake Washington and Duwamish River. This action could benefit smolts from the Cedar River in particular by providing a shorter route to cooler and more saline water. However, this measure could also potentially confuse returning adults and lead to imprinting of WRIA 8 stock smolts in WRIA 9 waters (and vice versa). This action would significantly impact the hydrology of Lake Washington and Locks.
- <u>Consider creating an area with estuarine characteristics upstream</u> of the Locks. This could be done by creating a sump area upstream of the Locks spillway bays.
- <u>Consider investigating deepening the channel between the Locks and Lake Union.</u> Because Lake Union is deeper than the Fremont Cut, water in the lake is stagnant until it flows through the Ship Canal pick up in the late fall. If the lake and channel to the Locks were the same depth, the lower layer of water might mix enough to remain cool and oxygenated during the summer. Alternatively, more saltwater could be allowed to leak upstream. This would help adult Chinook salmon and sockeye survival through the canal.

5.2.4 Conflicting Actions

There may be some cases where recommended actions conflict with various needs for management at the Locks. For example, if the smolt flumes are operated around the lunar apogee it may benefit Chinook salmon smolts and improve water efficiency. Coho and sockeye salmon do not show the same pattern of travel as Chinook. If flumes are closed outside of the lunar apogee, it may negatively impact early coho and sockeye migrants. Ongoing or new projects should address whether or not future modifications at the Locks will affect the outcome. These conflicts make it paramount that all projects are evaluated for benefits and consequences.

This report updates the WRIA 8 Salmon Habitat Plan and WRIA 8 Reconnaissance Report with current research on salmon in the western Lake Washington system.

6. References

- Adams, B. W. Zaugg, and L. McLain. 1975. Inhibition of saltwater survival and Na-K-AtPase elevation in steelhead trout (*Salmo gairdneri*) by moderate water temperatures. In: Chapman, D., M. Peven, T. Hillman, A. Giorgi, and F. Utter. 1994. Status of summer steelhead in the mid-Columbia River. Don Chapman Consultants, Boise, ID. 235 pp.
- Arhonditsis, G.B., M.T. Brett, C.L. DeGasperi, and D.E. Schindler. 2004. Effects of climate variability on the thermal properties of Lake Washington. Limnology Oceanography 49(1):256-270.
- Battin, J., M.W. Wiley, M.H. Ruckelshaus, R.N. Palmer, E. Korb, K.K. Bartz, and H. Imaki. 2007. Projected impacts of climate change on salmon habitat restoration. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104(16):6720–6725.
- Beauchamp, DA.1995. Riverine predation on sockeye salmon fry migrating to Lake Washington. North American Journal of Fisheries Management. 15:358-365.
- Beauchamp, D. A., C. M. Baldwin, J. L. Vogel and C. P. Gubala. 1999. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 56 (Supplement 1):128-139.
- Beauchamp, D.A., C.J. Sergeant, M.M. Mazur, J.M. Scheurell, D.E. Schindler, M.D. Scheuerell, K.L. Fresh, D.E. Seiler, and T.P. Quinn. 2004. Spatial–Temporal Dynamics of Early Feeding Demand and Food Supply for Sockeye Salmon Fry in Lake Washington. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 133:1014-1032.
- Beauchamp, D.A., C.J. Sergeant, N. C. Overman and M.M. Mazur. 2007. Piscivory on Juvenile Salmon and Alternative Prey in Lake Washington. Draft Report. December 17.
- Bernier, K. R. 1995. Report on the effectiveness of the permanent downstream passage system for Atlantic salmon at Weldon Dam. Federal Energy Regulation Commission, Report 2520, Matteceunk Project, Portland, ME.
- Beschta R.L., R.E. Bilby, G.W. Brown L.B., Holtby, T.D. Hofstra. 1987. Stream temperature and aquatic habitat: Fisheries and forestry interactions. In: E.O. Salo, T.W. Cundy, eds. Streamside management: forestry and fishery interactions. College of Forest Resources, University of Washington, Seattle. Contribution No. 57. Proceedings of a Symposium held at University of Washington, February 12-14, 1986, pp. 191-231.
- Biosonics, Inc. 1997. Evaluation of salmonid smolt passage into the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks, Spring, 1997. Technical Report to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, Seattle, WA.
- BioSonics, Inc. 2001. Acoustic and video measurements of fish passage at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks: A year 2000 focus on the saltwater drain and spill bay #2. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, Lake Washington Ecosystem Restoration General Investigation Study, Seattle, WA.
- Bjornn, T. C. and D. W. Reiser. 1991. Habitat requirements of salmonids in streams. American Fisheries Society Special Publication 19:83-138.
- Blankenship, L., P. Hanratty, and R. Tivel. 1983. Puget Sound wild stock coho trapping and tagging, 1980-1982. Washington Department of Fisheries Progress Report 198, 34 p.

- Bodensteiner, L. R., R. J. Sheehan, P. S. Wills, A. M. Brandenburg, and W. M. Lewis. 2000. Flowing water: an effective treatment for ichthyophthiriasis. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 12:209-219.
- Bottom, D. L., C. A. Simenstad, J. Burke, A. M. Baptista, D. A. Jay, K. K. Jones, E. Casillas, and M. H. Schiewe. 2005. <u>Salmon at river's end: The role of the estuary in the decline</u> <u>and recovery of Columbia River salmon.</u> U.S. Dept. of Commerce, NOAA Tech. Memo., NMFS-NWFSC-68, 246 p.
- Brett, J.R., W. C. Charke, and J. F. Shelbourne, 1982. Experiments on thermal requirements for growth and food conversion efficiency of juvenile chinook salmon, Oncorhynchus tshawytscha. 1982; 33 pp; Can. Tech. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci. No. 1127.
- Brocksmith, R. 1999. Abundance, feeding ecology, and behavior of a native piscivore northern pikeminnow (*Ptychocheilus oregonensis*) in Lake Washington. Master's thesis, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- Bryant, M. D., B. J. Frenette and K. T. Coghill. 1996. Use of the littoral zone by introduced anadromous salmonids and resident trout, Margaret Lake, Southeast Alaska. Alaska Fishery Research Bulletin 3:112-122.
- Burgner R.L. (1991) Life history of sockeye salmon. In: Groot C, Margolis L (eds) PaciWc salmon life histories. University of British Columbia Press, Vancouver, B.C. pp 3–117.
- Burton, K. 2006. Cedar River Steelhead Redd Monitoring Program Annual Report 2006. Seattle Public Utilities. December.
- Cedarholm, C. J. and W. J. Scarlett. 1981. Seasonal immigrations of juvenile salmonids into four small tributaries of the Clearwater River, Washington, 1977-1981. Pages 98-110 in E. L. Brannon and E. O. Salo, (editors) Salmon and Trout Migratory Behavior Symposium, June 3-5, 1985. School of Fisheries, University of Washington, Seattle, WA. 309 p.
- Celedonia, M.T., R.A. Tabor, S. Sanders, S. Damm, D.W. Lantz, T.M. Lee, Z. Li, J. Pratt, B.E. Price, and L. Seyda. 2008a. Movement and habitat use of Chinook salmon smolts, northern pikeminnow and smallmouth bass near the SR 520 bridge: 2007 acoustic tracking study. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Western Washington Fish and Wildlife Office, Lacey, WA.
- Celedonia, M.T., R.A. Tabor, S. Sanders, D.W. Lantz, and I. Grettenberger. 2008b. Movement and habitat use of juvenile Chinook salmon and two predatory fishes in Lake Washington and the Lake Washington Ship Canal: 2004-05 acoustic tracking studies. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Western Washington Fish and Wildlife Office, Lacey, WA.
- Chapman, D., A. Giorgi, T. Hillman, D. Deppert, M. Erho, S. Hays, C. Peven, B. Suzumoto, and R. Klinge. 1994. Status of summer/fall Chinook salmon in the mid-Columbia region. Don Chapman Consultants, Inc., Boise, ID. 411 pp.
- Chigbu, P. and T.H. Sibley. 1994. Diet and growth of longfin smelt and juvenile sockeye salmon in Lake Washington. *Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol.* 25:2086-2091.
- City of Seattle. 2003. Seattle's Urban Blueprint for Habitat Protection and Restoration. Salmon Team. December.
- Clarke, W.C., and T. Hirano. 1995. Osmoregulation. Pages 319-377 in Groot, C., L. Margolis, and W.C. Clarke, editors. Physiological ecology of Pacific salmon. UBC Press, Vancouver, B.C.

- Congleton, J. L., S. K. Davis and S. R. Foley. 1981. Distribution, abundance, and outmigration timing of chum and chinook salmon fry in the Skagit salt marsh, p. 153-163. In: E. L. Brannon and E. O. Salo (eds.). Proceedings of the Salmon and Trout Migratory Behavior Symposium. School of Fisheries, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- Corps see U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
- Coutant, C. C. 2001. Turbulent attraction flows for guiding juvenile salmonids at dams. Pages 57-77 in Charles Coutant, editor. Behavioral technologies for fish guidance. American Fisheries Society, Symposium 26, Bethesda, MD.
- Cramer, S.P., and D. Demko. 1993. Effects of pulse flows on juvenile Chinook migration in the Stanislaus River. Final Report to Tri-Dam, Pinecrest, CA.Chrzastowski, M. 1983. Historical changes to Lake Washington and route of the Lake Washington Ship Canal, King County, Washington. Department of the Interior, USGS, Water Resources Investigations. WRI 81-1182.
- Darland, T. J., S. D. Evans, D. W. Rondorf, G. L. Rutz, D. H. Feil, N. S. Adams, C. F. Merrill, and J. D. Serl. 2001. Test of concept to improve fish guidance using induced water currents at Cowlitz Falls Dam, Washington. Annual Report for 1999. USGS, Columbia River Research Laboratory, Cook, WA.
- DeVries, P., and fifteen others. 2003. PIT tagging of juvenile salmon smolts in the Lake Washington basin: Third year (2002) pilot study results. Report prepared for U. S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District. R2 Resource Consultants, Inc. Redmond, WA. September.
- DeVries, P. 2004. Adult PIT Tag Reader Detection Summary as of December 5, 2004. R2 Resource Consultants, Inc. Technical memorandum 1482.01/MM103.
- DeVries, P., F. Goetz, K. Fresh, and D. Seiler. 2004. Evidence of a lunar gravitation cue on timing of estuarine entry by Pacific salmon smolts. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 133: 1379-1395.
- DeVries, P., and N. Hendrix. 2005a. 2004 tests of smolt flume observer counting efficiencies at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks, Seattle Washington. Report prepared for Seattle Public Utilities, Seattle, WA, USA. R2 Resource Consultants, Inc., Redmond, WA. February.
- DeVries, P. and Hendrix, N. 2005b. Technical Memorandum: Adult PIT tag reader detection summary as of December 5, 2004. R2 Resource Consultants, Inc., Redmond, WA.
- DeVries, P., and e18 others. 2005. PIT tagging of juvenile salmon smolts in the Lake Washington Basin: Fourth year (2003) pilot study results and synopsis of 2000-2003 findings. Final Technical Report to the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, and Seattle Public Utilities.
- DeVries, P., and 14 others. 2006. PIT tagging of juvenile salmon smolts in the Lake Washington Basin: Fifth and sixth year (2004-2205) pilot study results. Draft Technical Report to the U. S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, and Seattle Public Utilities. February.
- DeVries, P. 2007. Adult PIT Tag Reader Detection Summary for 2006-2007 (as of October 23, 2007), Hiram M. Chittenden Locks Fish Ladder R2 Resource Consultants, Inc. Redmond, WA. Technical memorandum 1662.01/MM101.
- Duffy, E. J., D. A. Beauchamp and R.M. Buckley. 2005. Early marine life history of juvenile Pacific salmon in two regions of Puget Sound. *Est. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 64:94-107.

- Duffy, E. J. and D. A. Beauchamp 2008. Seasonal Patterns of Predation on Juvenile Pacific Salmon by Anadromous Cutthroat Trout in Puget Sound. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 137:165–181.
- Edmonds R. L., R. C. Francis, N. J. Mantua, and D. L. Peterson. 2003. Sources of Climate Variability in River Ecosystems. Pages 11-37 in R.C. Wissmar and P.A. Bisson, editors. Strategies for restoring river ecosystems: sources of variability and uncertainty in natural and managed systems. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda MD.
- Edmondson, W.T, S.E.B. Abella, and J.T. Lehman. 2003. Phytoplankton in Lake Washington: long-term changes 1950-1999. Arch. Hydrobiol. Suppl. Monogr. Stud. 139/3:275-326.
- Eggers, D. M. 1978. Limnetic feeding behavior of juvenile sockeye salmon in Lake Washington and predator avoidance. Limnology and Oceanography 23(6):1114-1125.
- Emmett, R. L., S. L. Stone, S. A. Hinton, and M. E. Monaco. 1991. Distribution and abundance of fishes and invertebrates in west coast estuaries, Volume II: species life history summaries. NOAA/NOS Strategic Environmental Assessments Division ELMR Report No. 8. Rockville, MD. 329 p.
- Fagerlund, U.H.M., J.R. McBride, and I.V. Williams. 1995. Stress and tolerance. P. 461-503 in Groot, C., Margolis, L., and W.C. Clarke, editors. Physiological ecology of Pacific salmon. UBC Press, Univ. Brit. Col. Vancouver Canada.
- Faulds, P. 2006. Annual Report Fish Passage Operations at the Landsburg Dam Fish Passage Facilities on the Cedar River from July 2005 through June 2006. Seattle Public Utilities.
- Fayram, A. H. and T. H. Sibley. 2000. Impact of predation by smallmouth bass on sockeye salmon in Lake Washington, Washington. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 20:81-89.
- Foley, S. 1995. Preliminary report on monitoring of 1994-1995 California sea lion predation in the Lake Washington estuary. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Mill Creek, WA.
- Footen, B. 2000. Preliminary results of an Investigation into the impacts of piscivorous predation on juvenile Chinook (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) and other salmonids in Salmon and Shilshole Bays, King County, Washington. Preliminary data presented at the workshop Chinook Salmon in the Greater Lake Washington Watershed. Muckleshoot Indian Tribe, Auburn, WA.
- Footen, B. 2001. Impacts of piscivorous predation on juvenile chinook (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha) and other salmonids in Salmon and Shilshole Bays of Puget Sound, King Co., WA. Master's Thesis, Evergreen State College, Olympia, WA.
- Fox, W., W. Delong, P. Dygert, S. Foley, P. Gearing, S. Jeffries, and J. Scordino. 1996. Environmental assessment on conditions for lethal removal of California sea lions at the Ballard Locks to protect winter steelhead (supplement). NOAA, NMFS. Seattle, WA
- Francis, R.C., and N.J. Mantua. 2003. Climatic influences on salmon populations in the Northeast Pacific. pp. 37-67. In A.D. MacCall and T.C. Wainwright (eds.). Assessing Extinction Risk for West Coast Salmon. U.S. Department of Commerce, NOAA Technical Memo, NMFS-NWFSC-56, 198 pp.
- Fresh, K..L, E. Warner, R. Tabor, and D. Houck. 1999. Migratory behavior of adult Chinook salmon spawning in the Lake Washington watershed in 1998 as determined with ultrasonic telemetry. Draft Progress Report, October.

- Fresh, K..L, E. Warner, R. Tabor, and D. Houck. 2000. Migratory behavior of adult Chinook salmon spawning in the Lake Washington watershed in 1998 and 1999 as determined with ultrasonic telemetry. Extended abstract and presentation prepared for the Lake Washington Chinook Salmon Workshop, November.
- Fresh, K. L. and G. Lucchetti. 2000. Protecting and restoring the habitats of anadromous salmonids in the Lake Washington Watershed, and urbanizing ecosystem. Pages 525-544 *in* E. E. Knudsen, C. R. Steward, D. E. MacDonald, J. E. Williams, and D. W. Reiser, editors. Sustainable Fisheries Management: Pacific Salmon. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL.
- Fresh, K.L., E. Casillas, L.L. Johnson, and D.L. Bottom. 2005. Role of the estuary in the recovery of Columbia River basin salmon and steelhead: an evaluation of the effects of selected factors on salmonid population viability. U.S. Dept. Commerce, NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-NWFSC-69, 105 p.
- Gayaldo, P. F. and K. Nelson. 2006. Preliminary Results of Light Transmission under Residential Piers in Lake Washington, King County, Washington: A Comparison between Prisms and Grating. Lake and Reservoir Management 22:245-249.
- Gearin, P.J., R. Pfeifer, and S.J. Jeffries. 1986. Control of California sea lion predation of winter-run steelhead at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks, Seattle, December 1985-April 1986 with observations on sea lion abundance and distribution in Puget Sound. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Fishery Management Report 86-20, Mill Creek, WA.
- Gearin, P.J., R. Pfeifer, S.J. Jeffries, R.L. DeLong, and M.A. Johnson. 1988. Results of the 1986-87 California sea lion-steelhead trout predation control program at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks. Northwest and Alaska Fisheries Center (NWAFC) Processed Report 88-30, Seattle, WA.
- Goetz, F. A., J. J. Dawson, T. Shaw, and J. Dillon. 2001. Evaluation of low-frequency underwater sound emitters for guiding salmon and steelhead smolts away from a navigation lock at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks, Seattle, Washington. Pages 91-104 in Charles Coutant, editor. Behavioral technologies for fish guidance. American Fisheries Society, Symposium 26, Bethesda, MD.
- Goetz, F.A. 2006. Chinook salmon thermal habitat use of estuary and lake environments as determined by acoustic telemetry within the Lake Washington basin: Draft data report 2005 results. Seattle District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle, WA.
- Goetz, F.A., Jeanes, E., Seiler, D., and Topping, P. 2006. Chinook salmon thermal habitat use of estuary and lake environments within the Lake Washington basin: Progress report 1. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, Seattle, WA. Internal Technical Report.
- Gustafson, R. G., T. C. Wainwright, G. A. Winans, F. W. Waknitz, L. T. Parker and R. S. Waples. 1997. Status review of sockeye salmon from Washington and Oregon. U.S. Department of Commerce, NOAA Technical Memo. NMFS-NWFSC-33. 282 p.
- Hatchery Scientific Review Group (HSRG). Lars Mobrand (chair), John Barr, Lee Blankenship, Don Campton, Trevor Evelyn, Conrad Mahnken, Robert Piper, Lisa Seeb and Bill Smoker. February 2002. Hatchery Reform Recommendations for the Puget Sound and Coastal Washington Hatchery Reform Project. Long Live the Kings, 1305 Fourth Avenue, Suite 810, Seattle, WA 98101 (available from www.hatcheryreform.org).

- Hartman, G. F. and T. G. Brown. 1987. Use of small, temporary floodplain tributaries by juvenile salmonids in a West Coast rain-forest drainage basin, Carnation Creek, British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 44:262-270.
- Healey, M. C. 1991. Life history of Chinook salmon. In: Pacific Salmon Life Histories (C. Groot and L. Margolis, editors). University of British Columbia Press, Vancouver, British Columbia.
- Hendry, A. P. and T. P. Quinn. 1997. Variation in adult life history and morphology among Lake Washington sockeye salmon (*Oncorynchus nerka*) populations in relation to habitat features and ancestral affinities. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 54:75-84.
- Hicks, M. 2002. Evaluating Standards for Protecting Aquatic Life in Washington's Surface Water Quality Standards. Temperature Criteria. Draft Discussion Paper and Literature Summary. Washington State Department of Ecology, Olympia, WA. Publication No. 00-10-070.
- Holt, R.A., J. E. Sanders, J. L. Zinn, J.L. Fryer, K. S. Pilcher. 1975. Relation of Water Temperature to Flexibacter Columnaris Infection in Steelhead Trout (*Salmo Gairdneri*) Coho (*Oncorhynchus Kisutch*) and Chinook (*O. Tshawytscha*) Salmon Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada Vol 32, No 9, 1975, p 1553-1559, 1 fig, 3 tab, 7 ref. EPA No. R 800171.
- HSRG see Hatchery Scientific Review Group
- Infometrix, Inc. 1994. Statistical and pattern recognition multivariate analysis of winter steelhead passage rate, environmental and operation variables at the Lake Washington Ship Canal/Ballard Locks fishway. Final Report, Infometrix, Inc., Seattle, WA.
- Johnson, P. N., F. A. Goetz and G. R. Ploskey. 2000. Evaluation of strobe lights for vertically displacing juvenile salmon near a filling culvert intake at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks, Seattle, WA. Final Report to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, Seattle, WA.
- Johnson, P. N., F. A. Goetz, M. E. Hanks, and G. R. Ploskey. 2001a. Fish Passage Investigations at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks, Seattle, WA in 2000. Draft Technical Report to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, Seattle, WA.
- Johnson, P. N., F. A. Goetz and G. R. Ploskey. 2001b. Evaluation of strobe lights for vertically displacing juvenile salmon near a filling culvert intake at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks, Seattle, WA. Pages 13-25 in C. Coutant (ed) Behavioral Technologies for Fish Guidance. American Fisheries Society, Symposium 26, Bethesda, MD.
- Johnson, P. N. 2004. Preliminary assessment of adult salmonid behavior at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks using the Dual Frequency Identification Sonar (DIDSON) system. Letter report to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, Seattle, WA.
- Johnson, P. N., K. Bouchard, F. A. Goetz, C. J. Ebel, A. Carroll, A. Fox, J. Husby, M. VanderVen, and L. R. Lawrence. 2003a. Evaluation of strobe light effectiveness, and estimation of culvert entrainment and juvenile salmon flume passage at Hiram M. Chittenden Locks, Seattle, WA in 2002. Draft Technical Report to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, Seattle, WA.
- Johnson, P. N., F. A. Goetz, C. J. Ebel, K. Bouchard, M. E. Hanks, P. Pearson, A. Fox and L. R. Lawrence. 2003b. Fish passage investigations at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks,

Seattle, WA in 2001. Final Technical Report to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, Seattle, WA.

- Johnson, P. N., K. Bouchard, F. A. Goetz, C. J. Ebel, A. Fox, and L. O'Leary. 2004a. Fish passage investigations at Hiram M. Chittenden Locks, Seattle, WA in 2004. Draft Technical Report to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, Seattle, WA.
- Johnson, P. N., D. Faber, K. Bouchard, F. A. Goetz, and C. J. Ebel. 2004b. Juvenile salmon outmigrant behavior in the Lake Washington Ship Canal and into Shilshole Bay in 2003. Draft Technical Report to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, Seattle, WA.
- Johnson, P. N., K. Bouchard, F. A. Goetz, C. J. Ebel, A. Carroll, M. Vanderven, and L. Lawrence. 2004c. Fish passage investigations at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks in 2003. Draft Technical Report to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, Seattle, WA.
- Johnson, P. N., K. Bouchard and F. A. Goetz. 2005. Effectiveness of strobe lights for reducing juvenile salmonid entrainment into a navigation lock. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, Vol. 25, No. 2, pp. 491-501.
- Kahler, T., M. Grassley, and D. Beauchamp. 2000. A Summary of the Effects of Bulkheads, Piers and other Artificial Structures and Shorezone Development on ESA-listed Salmonids in Lakes. Final Report prepared for the City of Bellevue, Bellevue, WA.
- Kerwin, J., 2001. Salmon and Steelhead Habitat Limiting Factors Report for the Cedar Sammamish Basin (Water Resource Inventory Area 8). Washington Conservation Commission. Olympia, WA.
- King County. 2008. Department of Natural Resources.
- Kjelson, M. A., P. F. Raquel, and F. W. Fisher. 1982. Life history of fall-run juvenile chinook salmon, *Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*, in the Sacramento-San Joaquin estuary, California, p. 393-411. In: V. S. Kennedy (ed.). Estuarine Comparisons. Academic Press, New York, NY.
- Koehler, M.E. 2002. Diet and prey resources of juvenile chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) rearing in the littoral zone of an urban lake. Master's thesis, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- Koehler, M.E., K.L. Fresh, Beauchamp, D.A., J.R. Cordell, C.A. Simenstad, and D.E. Seiler. 2006. Diet and bioenergetics of lake-rearing juvenile Chinook salmon in Lake Washington. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 135:1580-1591.
- Knudsen, F. R., P. S. Enger, and O. Sand. 1992. Awareness reactions and avoidance responses to sound in juvenile Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar. Journal of Fisheries Biology 40:523-534.
- Knudsen, F. R., P. S. Enger, and O. Sand. 1994. Avoidance responses of low frequency sound in downstream migrating Atlantic salmon smolt, Salmo salar. Journal of Fisheries Biology 45:227-233.
- Knudsen, F. R., C. B. Schreck, S. M. Knapp, P. S. Enger, and O. Sand. 1997. Infrasound produces flight and avoidance responses in Pacific juvenile salmonids. Journal of Fish Biology 51:824-829.
- Kreeger, K.Y. 1995. Differences in the onset of salinity tolerance between juvenile chinook salmon from two coastal Oregon river systems. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 52:623-630.

- Levy, D. A. and T. G. Northcote. 1982. Juvenile salmon residency in a marsh area of the Fraser River estuary. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 39:270-276.Lister, D. B., L. M. Thorson, and I. Wallace. 1981. Chinook and coho salmon escapements and coded-wire tag returns to the Cowichan-Koksilah river system, 1976-1979. *Can. Manuscript Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 1608, 168 p.
- Martz, M., F. Goetz, J. Dillon, and T. Shaw. 1996. Study element II: early lake life history of sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) in Lake Washington, year 1: 1994. Final report, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, Seattle, WA.
- Macdonald, J.S., C.D. Levings, C.D. McAllister, U.H.M. Fagerlund, and J.R. McBride. 1988. A field experiment to test the importance of estuaries for chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) survival: Short-term results. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 45:1366-1377.
- Macdonald, J.S., Foreman, M.G.G., Farrell, A.P., Williams, I.V., Grout, J., Cass, A., Woodey, J.C., Enzenhofer, H., Clarke, W.C., Houtman, R., Donaldson, E.M., and Barnes, D. 2000. The influence of extreme water temperatures on migrating Fraser River sockeye salmon during the 1998 spawning season. *Can. Tech. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 2326. 117p.
- Matthews, K. R. and N. H. Berg. 1997. Rainbow trout responses to water temperature and dissolved oxygen stress in two southern California stream pools. Journal of Fish Biology 50(1):50-67.
- Mazur, M. M. and D.A. Beauchamp. 2006. Linking piscivory to spatial-temporal distributions of pelagic prey fishes with a visual foraging model. Journal of Fish Biology 69(1):151 175.
- McCullough, D. A. 1999. A review and synthesis of effects of alterations to the water temperature regime on freshwater life stages of salmonids, with special reference to Chinook salmon. US Environmental Protection Agency. EPA 910-R-99-010, Region 10, Seattle, WA.
- McIntyre, JK, DA Beauchamp, MM Mazur, NC Overman. 2006. Ontogenetic trophic interactions and bentho-pelagic coupling in Lake Washington: evidence from stable isotopes and diet analysis. *Trans. Am. Fish. Soc.* 135:1312-1328.
- McKinley, R. S., and P. H. Patrick. 1988. Use of behavioral stimuli to divert sockeye salmon smolts at the Seton Hydroelectric Station, British Columbia. Electric Poer Research Institute, EPRI CS/EA/AP-5663-SR, Palo Alto, CA.
- Mee, D. M., A. J. Kirkpatrick and R. O. Stonehewer, 1996. Post impoundment fishery investigations on the Tawe Barrage, South Wales. In N. Burt & J. Watts (eds), Barrages – Engineering Design & Environmental Impacts, International Conference, 10–13 September 1996, Cardiff: 395–408.
- Mohseni, O., and H.G. Stefan. 1999. Stream temperature/air temperature relationship: a physical interpretation. Journal of Hydrology 218:128-141.
- Mote, P.W., E.A. Parson, A.F. Hamlet, K.N. Ideker, W.S. Keeton, D.P. Lettenmaier, N.J. Mantua, E.L. Miles, D.W. Peterson, D.L. Peterson, R. Slaughter, and A.K. Snover. 2003. Preparing for climatic change: The water, salmon, and forests of the Pacific Northwest. Climatic Change 61:45-88.
- Mote, P.W., A.K. Snover, L.C. Whitely Binder, A.F. Hamlet, and N.J. Mantua. 2005. Uncertain Future: Climate Change and Its Effects on Puget Sound - Foundation Document. Climate Impacts Group, Center for Science in the Earth System, Joint Institute for the Study of the Atmosphere and Oceans, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.

- Muckleshoot Indian Tribe (MIT) and US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 1977. Population estimation of the 1976-1977 steelhead run to the Lake Washington watershed. Preliminary Report, Olympia, WA.
- Murray, C. B., and J. D. McPhail. 1988. Effect of incubation temperature on the development of five species of Pacific salmon (*Oncorhynchus*) embryos and alevins. Canadian Journal of Zoology 66:266–273.
- Myers, J. M., R. G. Kopeo, G. J. Bryant, D. Teel, L. J. Lierheimer, T. C. Wainwright, W. S. Grand, F. W. Waknitz, K. Neely, S. T. Lindley, and R. S. Waples. 1998. Status review of chinook salmon from Washington, Idaho, Oregon, and California. U.S. Dept. of Commerce, NOAA Technical Memo. NMFS-NWFSC-35, 443 p.
- National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS). 1996. Environmental Assessment on protecting winter-run wild steelhead from predation by California sea lions in the Lake Washington Ship Canal, Seattle, WA.
- National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS). 1996. Environmental Assessment on protecting winter-run wild steelhead from predation by California sea lions in the Lake Washington Ship Canal, Seattle, WA.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA). 2002. Marine Mammals; Pinniped Removal Authority. Federal Register 67:24 5256-5258.
- Nemeth, R. S., and J. J. Anderson. 1992. Response of juvenile coho and Chinook salmon to strobe and mercury lights. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 12:684-692.
- Newell, J.C., and Quinn, T.P. 2005. Behavioral thermoregulation by maturing adult sockeye salmon (*Onorhynchus nerka*) in a stratified lake prior to spawning. Canadian Journal of Zoology 83: 1232-1239.
- Newell, J.C., K.L. Fresh, TP Quinn. 2007. Arrival patterns and movements of adult sockeye salmon in Lake Washington: implications for management of an urban fishery. *N. Am. J. Fish. Mgmt.* 27:908-917.
- Nowak, G.M., and Quinn, T.P. 2002. Diel and seasonal patterns of horizontal and vertical movements of telemetered cutthroat trout in Lake Washington, Washington. *Trans. Am. Fish. Soc.* 131: 452-462.
- Nowak, G.M., R.A. Tabor, E.J. Warner, K.L. Fresh, and T.P. Quinn. 2004. Ontogenetic shifts in habitat and diet of cutthroat trout in Lake Washington, Washington. N. Am. J. Fish. Manag. 24: 624-635.
- Newell, J. 2005. Migration and movement patterns of adult sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) in Lake Washington. Master's Thesis, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- Olney, F.E. 1975. Life history and ecology of the northern squawfish *Ptychocheilus oregonensis* (Richardson) in Lake Washington. Master's thesis, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- O'Neill, S.M., G.M. Ylitalo, J.E. West, J. Bolton, C.A. Sloan, and M.M. Krahn. 2006. Regional patterns of persistent organic pollutants in five Pacific salmon species (*Oncorhynchus* spp) and their contributions to contaminant levels in northern and southern resident killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) 2006 Southern Resident Killer Whale Symposium, NOAA Fisheries Service Northwest Regional Office, Seattle, WA.

Orca Workshop. 2006. May. Seattle, WA.

- Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (ODEQ). 1995. Temperature 1992-1994 Water Quality Standard Review, Final Issue Paper. Temperature Subcommittee, Technical Advisory and Policy Advisory Committees, Oregon Department of Environmental Quality. Portland, OR.
- Overman, N.C., D.A. Beauchamp, M.M. Mazur. 2006. Growth, distribution, and abundance of pelagic fishes in Lake Washington, 2001-2005. Final Report to Seattle Public Utilities. Washington Cooperative Fish and Wildlife Research Unit. Report # WACFWRU-06-01.
- Overman, N.C., and D.A. Beauchamp. in review. Growth, distribution, and abundance of pelagic fishes in Lake Washington, 2007. Final Report to Seattle Public Utilities. Washington Cooperative Fish and Wildlife Research Unit. Report # WACFWRU-08-01.
- Palmer, R.N.. 2007. Final Report of the Climate Change Technical Committee. Prepared by the Climate Change Technical Subcommittee of the Regional Water Supply Planning Process. Seattle, WA.
- Palmer, R. N. 2007. Final report of the climate change technical committee. Prepared by the Climate Change Technical Subcommittee of the Regional Water Supply Planning Process. Seattle, WA.
- Paron, D. G. and E. Nelson. 2001. Seaward Park Rehabilitation Study: Juvenile salmonid use of shoreline habitats in Seaward Park, King County, Washington. Fiscal Year 2000 Planning Assistance to the States Report. Submitted to City of Seattle Parks Department, Seattle, WA.
- Patmont, C. R., Davis, J. I., and Schwartz, R. G. 1981. Aquatic plants in selected waters of King County. Distribution and community composition of macrophytes. Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle, Water Quality Division. 89 pp.
- Pfeifer, B. 1989. Monitoring of the 1988-89 California sea lion control program in the Lake Washington estuary. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Fishery Management Report 89-12, Mill Creek, WA.
- Pfeifer, B. 1990. Monitoring of 1989-90 California sea lion predation control program in the Lake Washington estuary. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Mill Creek, WA.
- Pfeifer, B. 1991. Monitoring of 1990-91 California sea lion predation in the Lake Washington estuary. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Mill Creek, WA.
- Pfeifer, B. 1994. Analyses of winter steelhead passage through the Hiram Chittenden Locks fishway in relation to environmental conditions and steelhead run sizes, 1989-1994. Washington Department of Wildlife, Mill Creek, WA.
- Pflug, D. E. and G. B. Pauley. 1984. Biology of smallmouth bass (Micropterus dolomieui) in Lake Sammamish, Washington. Northwest Science 58(2):118-130.
- Piaskowski, R.M., and R.A. Tabor. 2001. Nocturnal habitat use by juvenile Chinook salmon in nearshore areas of southern Lake Washington, a preliminary investigation 2000. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Lacey WA. 39p.
- Ploskey, G. R., P. N. Johnson, M. G. Burczynski, J. M. Nestler and T. J. Carlson. 1998. Effectiveness of strobe lights, infrasound devices and a sound transducer for eliciting avoidance by juvenile salmonids. USAE Portland District Technical Report.
- Ploskey, G. R. and P. N. Johnson. 2001. Effectiveness of strobe lights and two sound devices for eliciting avoidance by juvenile salmon. Pages 37-56 in C. Coutant (ed) Behavioral

Technologies for Fish Guidance. American Fisheries Society, Symposium 26, Bethesda, MD.

- Ploskey, G. R., P. N. Johnson, W. T. Nagy, C. R. Schilt, L. R. Lawrence, D. S. Patterson and J. Skalski. 2001. Hydroacoustic evaluation of the Bonneville PH1 prototype surface collector in 1999. Final Report to U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Portland District, ERDC/EL TR-01-1.
- Power ME (1984) Depth distributions of armored catfish: predator-induced resource avoidance? Ecology 65:523-528.
- Puckett, K. J., and J. J. Anderson. 1987. Behavioral responses of juvenile salmonids to strobe and mercury lights. Fisheries Research Institute, Report FRI-UW-8717, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- Quinn, T.P., Hart, B.A., and Groot, C. 1989. Migratory orientation and vertical movements of homing adult sockeye salmon, *Oncorhynchus nerka*, in coastal waters. *Anim. Behav.* 37:587-599.
- Quinn, T.P., J.A. Peterson, V.F. Galluci, W.K. Hershberger, and E.L. Brannon. 2002. Artificial selection and environmental change: countervailing factors affecting the timing of spawning by coho and Chinook salmon. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 131:591-598.
- Quinn, TP. 2005. The Behavior and Ecology of Pacific Salmon and Trout. University of Washington Press, Seattle, WA.
- Randall, D.J., Burggren, W.W., French, K., and Eckert, R. 2002. Animal physiology: mechanisms and adaptations. W.H. Freeman and Co., New York, NY.
- Schreck CB and HW Li. 1991. Performance capacity of fish: stress and water quality. In Brune, D.E., Tomasso, J.R. (Eds.), Aquaculture and water quality. Advances in World Aquaculture. Vol. 3. World Aquaculture Society. Baton Rogue, LA. p. 21-29.
- Seals Price, C., and C.B. Schreck. 2003. Stress and saltwater-entry behavior of juvenile Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*): Conflicts in physiological motivation. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 60: 910-918.
- Seiler, D., S. Neuhauser, and M. Ackley. 1981. Upstream/downstream salmonid trapping project, 1977–1980, progress report #144. State of Washington Department of Fisheries, Olympia, WA.
- Seiler, D., G. Volkhardt, and L. Fleischer. 2005. Evaluation of downstream migrant salmon production in 2004 from the Cedar River and Bear Creek. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Olympia WA. March.
- Seymour, A.H. 1956. Effects of temperature upon young chinook salmon. Ph.D. Thesis. University of Washington, Seattle, WA. 127 pp.
- Sergeant, C. J. and D. A. Beauchamp. 2006. Effects of physical habitat and otongeny on lentic habitat preferences of juvenile Chinook salmon. *Trans. Am. Fish. Soc.* 135:1191-1204.
- Shaklee, J. B., J. Ames, and L. LaVoy. 1996. Genetic diversity units and major ancestral lineages for sockeye salmon in Washington. State of Washington. Department of Fish and Wildlife Technical Report. Number RAD 95-02/96.
- Simenstad, C.S., J. Cordell, and R. Thom. 1999. Preliminary Lake Washington Ship Canal-Shilshole Bay juvenile salmon habitat assessment. Draft Letter Report Prepared for King County Metro.

- Simenstad, C., J. Toft, M. Haas, M. Koehler, J. Cordell, and K.L. Fresh. 2003. Lake Washington Ship Canal-Hiram Chittenden Locks-Shilshole Bay, Investigations of Juvenile Salmon Passage and Habitat Utilization: Final Report of 2001 Investigations. Prepared for U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, Lake Washington General Ecosystem Restoration General Investigation Study. January.
- Snover, A.K., P.W. Mote, L.C. Whitely Binder, A.F. Hamlet, and N.J. Mantua. 2005. Uncertain Future: Climate Change and Its Effects on Puget Sound. Climate Impacts Group, Center for Science in the Earth System, Joint Institute for the Study of the Atmosphere and Oceans, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- Swales, S., F. Caron, J. R. Irvine and C. D. Levings. 1988. Overwintering habitat of coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) and other juvenile salmonids in the Keogh River system, British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Zoology 66:254-261.
- Tabor, R.A., B. Pfeifer, C. Whitmus, G. Maxwell, and E.E. Knudsen. 1994. Sonic tagging and tracking of wild winter steelhead at the Ballard Locks, Seattle, Washington, spring, 1994. Miscellaneous report, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Western Washington Fishery Resource Office, Olympia, WA.
- Tabor, R.A., J. Chan, K. Aitkin, C. Whitmus, and G. Maxwell. 1995. Sonic tracking of hatchery and wild winter steelhead at the Ballard Locks, Seattle, Washington, December 1994-January 1995. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Olympia, Washington and Pentec Environmental, Inc., Edmonds, WA.
- Tabor, R. A. and J. Chan. 1996. Predation on sockeye salmon fry by piscivorous fishes in the lower Cedar River and southern Lake Washington. May 1996. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Western Washington Fishery Resource Office, Olympia, WA. 59 p.
- Tabor, R. A. and J. Chan. 1997. Predation on sockeye salmon fry by piscivorous fishes in southern Lake Washington, 1996. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Western Washington Fishery Resource Office, Olympia, WA. 40 p.
- Tabor, R. A., J. Chan, S. Hager. 1998. Predation on sockeye salmon fry by cottids and other predatory fishes in the Cedar River and southern Lake Washington, 1997. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Western Washington Fishery Resource Office, Olympia, WA. 54 p.
- Tabor, R.A., and R.M. Piaskowski. 2002. Nearshore habitat use by juvenile Chinook salmon in lentic systems of the Lake Washington basin. Annual report 2001. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Lacey WA. February.
- Tabor, R.A., H.A. Gearns, C. M. McCoy III, and S. Camacho. 2006. Nearshore Habitat Use by Juvenile Chinook Salmon in Lentic Systems of the Lake Washington Basin, Annual Report, 2003 and 2004. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Olympia, WA.
- Tabor, R. A., J. A. Scheurer, H. A. Gearns and E. P. Bixler. 2004a. Nearshore habitat use by juvenile Chinook salmon in lentic systems of the Lake Washington Basin, Annual Report, 2002. USFWS, Western Washington Fish and Wildlife Office, Lacey, WA. February.
- Tabor, R.A., M.T. Celedonia, F. Mejia, R.M. Piaskowski, D.L. Low, B. Footen, and L. Park.
 2004b. Predation of juvenile Chinook salmon by predatory fishes in three areas of the Lake Washington basin. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Lacey WA. February.
- Tabor, R.A., B.A. Footen, K.L. Fresh, M.T. Celedonia, F. Mejia, D.L. Low, and L. Park. 2007a. Predation of juvenile Chinook salmon and other salmonids by smallmouth bass and

largemouth bass in the Lake Washington basin. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 27:1174-1188.

- Tabor, R.A., E. J. Warner, K.L. Fresh, B.A. Footen and J.R. Chan. 2007b. Ontogenetic diet shifts of prickly sculpin in the Lake Washington basin, Washington. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 136:1801-1813.
- Timko, M.A., Nealson, P.A., and Johnston, S.V. 2002. Using acoustic tags for monitoring adult Chinook salmon behavior at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks, Summer 2000. Prepared for U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District by Hydroacoustic Technology, Inc., Seattle, WA.
- Toft, J.D. 2001. Shoreline and dock modifications in Lake Washington. University of Washington School of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences SAFS-UW-0106. Report prepared for King County Department of Natural Resources. October.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps). 1992. Lake Washington Ship Canal, Seattle Washington: Water Control Manual. March. Seattle District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle, WA
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps). 1999. Lake Washington Ship Canal Section 1135 Environmental Restoration Feasibility Study. Seattle District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle, WA.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps S). 2000. Lake Washington Ship Canal fish passage. Seattle District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle, WA.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps). 2001a. White paper on fish passage at the Hiram M. Chittenden Locks. Seattle District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle, WA.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps). 2001b. Programmatic Biological Assessment of continued operation and maintenance of the Lake Washington Ship Canal. Seattle District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle, WA.
- VanRijn, D. 2001. Cold water refuge at the Locks. Technical Report prepared for the Lake Washington Ship Canal General Investigation Study. Hydraulics and Hydrology Section, Seattle District, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle, WA.
- Volkhardt, G., D. Seiler, L. Fleischer, and K. Kiyohara. 2006. Evaluation of Downstream Migrant Salmon Production in 2005 from the Cedar River and Bear Creek. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife. Olympia, WA.
- Warheit, K. I., and C. M. Bettles. 2005. Genetic characterization of Chinook salmon (*Onchorhynchus tshawytscha*) populations within Watershed Resource Inventory Area 8 (WRIA 8), Washington State. Genetics Laboratory, Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife. Olympia. Draft Report, September.
- Warner, E. 1996. Lake Washington sockeye smolt lengths. Muckleshoot Indian Tribe E-mail communication to NMFS.
- Warner, E. and K. Fresh. 1998. Technical Review Draft: Lake Washington Chinook Salmon Recovery Plan. March 25, 1998. Muckleshoot Indian Tribe and Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife.
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). 2008. Request for Marine Mammal Protection Act Section 120 Pinniped removal authority application. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife, Idaho Department of Fish and Game

- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). 2002. <u>Salmonid Stock Inventory 2002</u> (SaSI).
- Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). 2008. Request for Marine Mammal Protection Act Section 120 Pinniped removal authority application. Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife, Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife, and Idaho Department of Fish and Game.
- WDFW see Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife.
- Weitkamp, L.A., T.C. Wainwright, G.J. Bryant, G.B. Milner, D.J. Teel, R.G. Kope, and R.S. Waples. 1995. Status review of coho salmon from Washington, Oregon and California. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NWFSC-24. 258 pp.
- Weitkamp, D.E., and Ruggerone, G.T. 2000. Factors affecting Chinook populations: background report. Prepared for the City of Seattle.
- Wetherbee, P., and D. Houck. 2000. Reconnaissance Analysis of Water Quantity and Quality Trends in the Lake Washington Watershed. Presentation and Extended Abstract presented at the Workshop -- Chinook Salmon in the Greater Lake Washington Watershed. HDR, Inc. and King County Department of Natural Resources, Wastewater Treatment Division.
- Wiley, M.W. 2004. Analysis techniques to incorporate climate change information into Seattle's long range water supply planning. M.S.C.E. thesis, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
- Winder, M., and D.E. Schindler. 2004a. Climatic effects on the phenology of lake processes. Global Change Biology 10:1844-1856.
- Winder, M., and D.E. Schindler. 2004b. Climate change uncouples trophic interactions in an aquatic ecosystem. Ecology 85:2100-2106.
- Woodey, J. C. 1972. Distribution, feeding, and growth of juvenile sockeye salmon in Lake Washington. Ph.D. thesis, University of Washington, Seattle, WA. 207 p.
- Wydoski, R. S. and R. R. Whitney. 2003. Inland fishes of Washington. Second edition. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda MD, and University of Washington Press. Seattle, WA. 320p

Personal Communication and Unpublished Data

Beauchamp, D. Professor, Aquatic and Fishery Sciences. University of Washington.

- Celedonia, M. Fish Biologist, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Western Washington Division
- Couch, W. Research Scientist, Aquatic and Fishery Sciences. University of Washington.
- Coutant, C. Senior Research Member, Environmental Sciences Division of the Department of Energy, Oak Ridge National Laboratory.
- DeVries, P. R2 Consultants, Redmond, WA.
- Duffy, E. Research Assistant, Aquatic and Fishery Sciences. University of Washington.
- Ebel, C. Fishery Biologist, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. Seattle District.
- Fresh, K. Research Fish Biologist, NOAA Fisheries.
- Goetz, F. Fishery Biologist, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. Seattle District.

Houck, D. Water Quality Planner. King County, Washington.

Seiler, D. Fishery Biologist, Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife.

Schindler, D. E. Professor, Aquatic and Fishery Sciences. University of Washington.

Simenstad, C. Research Professor, Aquatic and Fishery Sciences. University of Washington.

Tabor, R. Fish Biologist, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Western Washington Division.

Toft, J. Research Ecologist, Aquatic and Fishery Sciences. University of Washington.

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps). Seattle District.

University of Iowa. Iowa City.

Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (WDFW). Olympia.

Warner, E. Fish Biologist, Muckleshoot Indian Tribe.